PHYCOLOGICAL REVIEWS

Evolution of the diatoms: insights from fossil, biological and molecular data

PATRICIA A. SIMS¹, DAVID G. MANN² AND LINDA K. MEDLIN^{3*}

¹Botany Department, Natural History Museum, Cromwell Road, London, SW7 5BD, UK ²Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh EH3 5LR, Scotland, UK ³Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Biology, Am Handelshafen 12, D. 27570 Bremerhaven, Germany

P.A. SIMS, D.G. MANN AND L.K. MEDLIN. 2006. Evolution of the diatoms: insights from fossil, biological and molecular data. *Phycologia* 45: 361–402. DOI: 10.2216/05-22.1

Molecular sequence analyses have yielded many important insights into diatom evolution, but there have been few attempts to relate these to the extensive fossil record of diatoms, probably because of unfamiliarity with the data available, which are scattered widely through the geological literature. We review the main features of molecular phylogenies and concentrate on the correspondence between these and the fossil record; we also review the evolution of major morphological, cytological and life cycle characteristics, and possible diatom origins. The first physical remains of diatoms are from the Jurassic, and well-preserved, diverse floras are available from the Lower Cretaceous. Though these are unequivocally identifiable as centric diatoms, none except a possible Stephanopyxis can be unequivocally linked to lineages of extant diatoms, although it is almost certain that members of the Coscinodiscophyceae (radial centrics) and Mediophyceae (polar centrics) were present; some display curious morphological features that hint at an unorthodox cell division mechanism and life cycle. It seems most likely that the earliest diatoms were marine, but recently discovered fossil deposits hint that episodes of terrestrial colonization may have occurred in the Mesozoic, though the main invasion of freshwaters appears to have been delayed until the Cenozoic. By the Upper Cretaceous, many lineages are present that can be convincingly related to extant diatom taxa. Pennate diatoms appear in the late Cretaceous and raphid diatoms in the Palaeocene, though molecular phylogenies imply that raphid diatoms did in fact evolve considerably earlier. Recent evidence shows that diatoms are substantially underclassified at the species level, with many semicryptic or cryptic species to be recognized; however, there is little prospect of being able to discriminate between such taxa in fossil material.

KEY WORDS: Bacillariophyta, Cretaceous, diatom, evolution, fossil record, frustule structure, Jurassic, silica wall, Tertiary

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	362
2.	The origins of diatoms	362
	2.1. The systematic and ecological context of diatom evolution	362
	2.2. Evolution of the silica wall	363
	2.3. Evolution of cell division, the life cycle and auxosporulation	364
3.	Evolution of the major groups of diatoms	366
	3.1. The impact of molecular data on diatom systematics	366
	3.2. Correlations between molecular phylogenies and nonmolecular characteristics	367
	3.3. The palaeoecological context of diatom origins	367
4.	Diatom evolution in the Mesozoic	371
	4.1. Jurassic and Cretaceous: overview and fossil localities	371
	4.2. Lower Cretaceous diatoms	372
	4.3. Upper Cretaceous centric diatoms	377
	4.4. The evolution of pennate and pennate-like diatoms	381
5.	Diatom evolution in the Cenozoic	386

* Corresponding author (lkmedlin@awi-bremerhaven.de).

	5.1. New habitats after the C	retaceo	us						 	386
	5.2. Development of the mar	ine cen	tric and	l araph	id peni	nate flo	ora		 	386
	5.3. Invasion of freshwaters								 	388
	5.4. The Thalassiosirales								 	390
	5.5. Evolution of the raphe								 	391
	5.6. Diversification of raphid	diatom	S						 	392
6.	Changes in sexual reproductio	n and c	ytology	/ durin	g diato	m dive	rsificat	ion	 	393
7.	Speciation and microevolution								 	395
8.	Conclusions								 	395
	Acknowledgements								 	395
	References								 	396

1. INTRODUCTION

The diatoms are one of the most easily recognizable groups of major eukaryotic algae, because of their unique silicified cell walls (frustules), which consist of two overlapping thecae, each in turn consisting of a valve and a number of hoop-like or segmental girdle bands. This structure is present in all living diatoms, except following secondary loss in endosymbiotic diatoms living in some dinoflagellates (e.g. Tamura *et al.* 2005) and some foraminifera (Lee & Correia 2005). Normal frustules are also found in the earliest known deposits of wellpreserved fossil diatoms, from the early Albian (Lower Cretaceous) of what is now the Weddell Sea, Antarctica (Gersonde & Harwood 1990).

Molecular sequence data show that diatoms belong to the heterokont algae (Medlin et al. 1997b), a relationship long established from morphology studied at the electron microscopy level (see mini-review in Medlin et al. 1997b). Heterokonts are chlorophyll a+c containing algae that typically have zoids with two heterodynamic flagella, one covered with tripartite mastigonemes and the other smooth (van den Hoek et al. 1995). In diatoms, the flagellar apparatus is reduced or absent; indeed, only the spermatozoids of the oogamous 'centric' diatoms are flagellated and these are uniflagellate (Manton & von Stosch 1965), lacking all trace of a smooth posterior flagellum or basal body. Nevertheless, the characteristic heterokont mastigonemes are present and diatoms also possess similar plastid ultrastructure (with four bounding membranes, lamellae of three thylakoids, and usually a peripheral ring nucleoid) and pigment composition to the brown algae (Christensen 1989).

Many workers have speculated upon diatom origins. Diatoms may have been derived from a spherical, uniformly scaled monad (Round 1981; Round & Crawford 1981, 1984) with an anterior flagellum (Cavalier-Smith 1986), or from a cyst-like form similar to the extant Parmales in the chrysophyte algae (Mann & Marchant 1989). A scaly ancestor likely existed at some point in their phylogeny because of the presence of scales on the reproductive cells of diatoms and on the reproductive stages of labyrinthulids, an earlier divergence in the heterokont lineage (Medlin *et al.* 1997b). Recent phylogenies constructed from nuclear-encoded small-subunit ribosomal RNAs (SSU rRNA) place the diatoms within the pigmented heterokont algal lineages (Fig. 1; Bhattacharya *et al.* 1992; Leipe *et al.* 1994; Medlin *et al.* 1997b). The closest relatives discovered so far are the Bolidophyceae, which are picoplanktonic algae with a simplified cellular organization (Guillou *et al.* 1999). Both diatoms and bolidomonads possess similar pigments and two transverse plates at the base of each flagellum. A molecular clock constructed from four genes has placed the average age of the diatoms *c.* 135 Ma ago, with their earliest possible age being 240 Ma ago (Kooistra & Medlin 1996; Medlin *et al.* 1997a).

Here we present an integrated review of diatom evolution. We focus on the fossil record and its correspondence to molecular phylogenies, but we also make limited reference to cytological and reproductive characteristics.

2. THE ORIGINS OF DIATOMS

2.1. The systematic and ecological context of diatom evolution

Today, the diatoms are found in almost all aquatic and most wet terrestrial habitats. Given the unusual morphologies found among early Cretaceous diatoms, which bear little resemblance to modern taxa, it is interesting to speculate upon what kind of habitats could support these strange forms. Four main ideas have been proposed recently on the likely origins of the diatoms and the environments in which they developed.

Round & Crawford (1981) came to the conclusion that diatoms are monophyletic in origin and proposed that they arose from a naked photosynthetic cell that acquired a coating of siliceous scales. In the next stage, the 'Ur-diatom', the siliceous scales differentiated to form valves and girdle bands a simple diatom. This, they suggested, happened sometime between the Proterozoic (Precambrian) and the late Jurassic (c. 650-140 Ma), perhaps in a 'swampy habitat of unknown salinity, which would have been devoid of substratum for attaching algae and too unstable for planktonic forms'. They considered that an open ocean would not have provided the environment or adequate silica necessary to promote the interactions necessary to produce complex eukaryotic forms requiring large amounts of silica. Katz et al. (2005) suggest that modern diatoms thrive best in regions where nutrients are supplied with high pulse frequencies and that the evolution of grasses provided an extra pulse of silica into the ocean when the diatoms were first rapidly expanding in the Cretaceous. They also suggest that diatom diversity responds to environmental factors, whereas calcareous nanoplankton and dinoflagellates respond to sea level changes. Round & Crawford (1981) concluded that the ancestral diatom developed in a shallow-water benthic environment, possibly associated with mucilaginous flocs: 'probably a region of fluctuating water levels over sediment/rock in which forms associated with mucilage masses predominate'. The habitat could have been slightly saline or even freshwater and adaptation to marine habitats could have occurred at a later date, although an origin in a freshwater habitat appears to conflict with molecular data (but see below). It is highly unlikely that the diatoms arose as early as in the Precambrian (see section 4.1).

Mann & Marchant (1989), addressing the problem of the diploid nature of the diatom, proposed that a silicified cyst stage of a scale-covered heterokont became the dominant phase in the life cycle. They suggested that the Parmales, which occur in large numbers in polar and subpolar seas, may be the closest extant relatives of the diatoms and an offshoot of prediatom stock, both groups having similar siliceous components to their cell walls. The prediatoms may have had a short or long growing season, but this was followed by long periods when only maintenance was possible. This might suggest a marginal planktonic habitat, possibly at high latitudes.

Nikolaev & Harwood (2000), on the other hand, suggested on the basis of apparently similar morphological features (e.g. the bipartite wall) that diatoms could be relatives of ancient Xanthophyceae. They found fossil algal fragments, together with diatoms, in Australian Lower Cretaceous (c. 120 Ma) deposits. They suggested that these ancient filamentous xanthophyte colonies were composed of cylindrical or discoidal cells that formed bivalve spores within the chain, which could be the precursors of the Ur-diatom. The habitat they suggested to be shallow ancient seas connected with water basins in which Xanthophyceae thrived and formed spores. Given the derived position of the Xanthophyceae in all phylogenetic analyses (see Medlin et al. 1997b), it is unlikely that the fossils resembling modern Xanthophyceae are closely related to them; they are more likely an extinct lineage. However, the Cretaceous fossils do suggest that the ability to make a cell wall of two overlapping parts appeared very early in the evolution of the pigmented heterokonts.

Most recently, Harwood et al. (2004) proposed that diatoms arose in terrestrial habitats, because a new early diatom deposit (175 Ma) seems to be nonmarine. This appears to conflict with molecular data, because the current sister group, the Bolidophyceae, are an exclusively marine group of picoplankton. However, a scenario could be proposed in which 'Urdiatoms', abundant as nonsilicifying unicells in coastal waters, became stranded in isolated pools as eustatic seas flooded the continents. When these saline pools began to dry up, the diatom ancestors, if they survived, must have had to adapt to a semiterrestrial habitat. The ability to metabolize silica and the production of thick silica walls could have evolved at this time as protection against desiccation and also to put the cells into a temporary resting state (see Medlin 2002 and section 2.2) until the areas were reflooded. With further sea-level changes, the early diatoms might decolonize coastal waters but their newly developed silica walls would make them too heavy for a planktonic existence, which relegated them to a benthic

nearshore community. In this respect, *Paralia sol*, as the first diatom lineage in the radial centric clade in the molecular trees, is a reminder of these early heavily silicified diatoms that are benthic, only rarely being suspended up into the plankton with increased turbulence. *Paralia sol* is now transferred to *Ellerbeckia* (Crawford & Sims, 2006), and now the first divergence in the radial centrics is of a marine representative of a terrestrial genus.

Thus, existing hypotheses of diatom origins tend to agree that the prediatom or 'Ur-diatom' developed, not in pelagic habitats, but in shallow marine environments, perhaps with the intercalation of a freshwater or terrestrial phase. Tappan (1980), when discussing the origin of the diatoms, noted that Palaeozoic cherts (659-c. 250 Ma) have been found to contain the remains of radiolarians and, locally, sponges, but there are no diatoms present. She concluded that, because radiolarians and sponge spicules are well-preserved throughout the Palaeozoic in limestones and concretions, a similar preservation of diatoms might be expected had they too been present. She therefore suggested that diatoms probably made their first appearance in the Mesozoic oceans (c. 230-70 Ma), where both diatoms and chrysomonads appeared and thereafter showed rapid evolutionary divergence. Both have modern freshwater representatives, although their Mesozoic ancestors were entirely marine.

2.2. Evolution of the silica wall

At first sight, the evolution of silicon metabolism and the capacity to deposit solid, patterned silica appear to have occurred since the divergence of the diatoms from the Bolidophyceae, because no traces of silica scales have been found in the Bolidophyceae. However, several other heterokont groups, including the Dictyochophyceae, Synurophyceae, Chrysophyceae, Parmophyceae, and Xanthophyceae (van den Hoek et al. 1995; Graham & Wilcox 2000) produce silica structures. These are spread across the phylogenetic tree of heterokonts (see Guillou et al. 1999; Medlin et al. 2000; Kawachi et al. 2002; unfortunately, no molecular data are yet available for the Parmophyceae) and so it is possible that the ability to metabolize silica is primitive among autotrophic heterokonts. However, even if this were so, it still would be necessary to examine why diatoms have retained the capacity to metabolize silica and acquired the ability to produce a silicified wall, when their closest relatives, the Bolidophyceae, have not. Production of a wall might be an evolutionary response to desiccation, as discussed above (see section 2.1), but most algal walls are organic, not siliceous.

Exactly why diatoms and other algae use silica has frequently been debated among phycologists (Volcani 1981). Defence has sometimes been invoked as the most likely reason for silica metabolism and wall evolution in diatoms, because of the compressive strength of wall silica and its possible immunity to enzymatic attack. Hamm *et al.* (2003) have given support for such a function. On the other hand, Medlin (2002) has reviewed the evidence from mammalian cell lines that suggest that silica is necessary for the prevention of cell ageing and that it allows normal formation of connective tissues, reduces the effects of toxic metals and inhibits fungal attack, as well as placing cells in a prolonged resting state. In her hypothesized scenario of why diatoms produce silica walls, initially a simple naked biflagellate cell evolved or retained silicon metabolism, which conferred advantages to the cell of preventing ageing and aiding survival in a prolonged resting state. Silica became involved in the metabolic processes of the cell, presumably by supplying bioactive surfaces for reactions to take place. Silica was an 'inorganic enzyme'. As silica accumulated in the cells, it was sequestered in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and eventually found its way into a vacuole whose internal pH was acidic. Once inside the vacuole, the silica began to polymerize automatically and the polymerized silica was extruded from the cell because, in a polymerized state, the silica was inaccessible to the chemical reactions needed to prevent cell ageing. Thus, the cell evolved a continuous need to replenish its internal silica pool and this could explain the absolute requirement diatoms have for silica before the cell can divide (Darley & Volcani 1969). In a proposed intervening terrestrial habitat (Harwood et al. 2004), a silica wall could help prevent desiccation and put the cells into a resting state.

Raven & Waite (2004) have recently suggested that the silica wall increased the sinking rate of ancestral diatoms, moving parasitized cells out of the population and thus ensuring survival of the species: 'regulation of sinking rate could have been the first function of externalization of internal silica if the earliest silicified diatoms were planktonic'. However, as already noted, the earliest diatoms may not have been planktonic.

These ideas suggest how silicon metabolism might have evolved or been retained by the ancestral diatom cell, leading to the production of a scaly covering. However, it does not account for the transformation of a scaly covering into a true cell wall. Part of the explanation may be that walls represent a once-only investment in shape maintenance and osmoregulation and can be particularly advantageous when energy capture is slow and also in freshwater, where the cytoplasm will always be hypertonic to the medium and thus tends to take up water (Raven 1982). Furthermore, Raven (1983) has calculated that, for a given wall volume, it costs less energy to make the wall of silica than of carbohydrate.

Following evolution of silica metabolism and the capacity to deposit silica selectively in special vesicles, diatom cells have evolved membrane-mediated systems and macromorphogenetic mechanisms (involving organelles and the cytoskeleton) to mould the wall features (see Kröger & Sumper 1998), thus creating a huge variety of cell wall morphologies and structures, which are often species-specific.

2.3. Evolution of cell division, the life cycle and auxosporulation

The special construction of the diatom cell wall in two overlapping pieces is correlated with special features of diatom cell division and their life cycle. In diatoms, cell division is semiconservative, in that each daughter cell inherits one of the parental thecae and forms only one new theca. This is true also of desmids and some dinoflagellates (van den Hoek *et al.* 1995), but in diatoms there is the extra complication that cytokinesis and the formation of the major wall elements – the valves – take place within the confines of the parental cell wall; the new daughter cells are not released until the shape and size of their new valves essentially are fixed. The inevi-

table consequence of the constrained, internalized development of the diatom cell wall is that the new wall elements are slightly smaller than the parts of the parental cell wall that surround them as they form. In turn, this usually means that the new thecae are smaller overall than the parental thecae, so that the mean size of cells in a diatom population decreases inexorably (and the variance increases) with time, as the cells divide. Size is restored through one of two special processes, in which cells jettison the old, much-diminished cell walls and expand. The best understood process is auxosporulation (Round et al. 1990; van den Hoek et al. 1995; Chepurnov & Mann 2004; Chepurnov et al. 2002, 2004), which is usually linked to sexual reproduction (oogamy in centrics, anisogamy or isogamy in pennates) and involves the formation of a special zygote, the 'auxospore', capable of expansion in a highly controlled way to regenerate the large size and normal morphology of the vegetative cells. The other, much less wellknown process is 'vegetative enlargement', in which there appears to be far less control over cell form and which results in a much smaller enlargement (Chepurnov et al. 2004). Both processes occur only in cells of a restricted range of size relative to the whole range exhibited during the life cycle. Thus, the largest vegetative cells, formed by division of the expanded auxospore, are often incapable of a further round of sexual reproduction and auxosporulation until they have reduced somewhat in size.

As far as is known, all diatoms are diplonts and the only haploid cells produced during the life cycle are the gametes. In culture, development of unfertilized, haploid auxospores (haploid parthenogenesis) has been observed in a few cases (e.g. Mann 1994; Chepurnov & Roshchin 1995; Chepurnov et al. 2002), but there is currently no evidence to suggest that this or other changes in ploidy level occur as a normal part of any diatom's life history. In contrast, few other autotrophic heterokont algae are diplonts, except for the siphonaceous Vaucheria de Candolle and its close relatives within the Xanthophyceae (which are not closely related to diatoms: Medlin et al. 2000, Kawachi et al. 2002) and at least some Raphidophyceae (Yamaguchi & Imai 1994; Cronberg 2005). Instead, autotrophic heterokonts and other 'chromophytes' are haplonts (e.g. in Chrysophyceae-Synurophyceae) or have an 'alternation of generations', as in most brown algae (van den Hoek et al. 1995; Graham & Wilcox 2000), coccolithophorids (Billard 1994) and likely cryptomonads (Hill & Wetherbee 1986; Hoef-Emden & Melkonian 2003). Mann & Marchant (1989) therefore suggested that the evolution of the cell wall and of the diplontic life cycle were coupled, the diploid, walled vegetative diatom cell having arisen originally as an intermittently dormant cyst stage in the life cycle of haplontic or haplo-diplontic scaly flagellates. If the modern diatom cell did arise from a dormant cyst stage, then the involvement of Si to prevent the cell from ageing may play an even greater role in the evolution of the modern diatom cell.

However, if the diatoms diverged as a monophyletic lineage sister to all other autotrophic heterokonts (Medlin *et al.* 2000), it is more important to look at the life histories of the basal heterotrophic heterokonts, such as the oomycetes and labyrinthulids, than at those of the autotrophic heterokonts, if we are to judge whether the diplontic diatom life cycle is plesiomorphic or apomorphic. Medlin *et al.* (1993, 1997b) suggested that the diplonty of diatoms is plesiomorphic, on the basis that basal heterotrophic heterokonts are also diplonts. The main basis for this idea was an outgroup comparison, in which Medlin et al. (2000) claimed that all oomycetes are diploid and implied that the labyrinthulids might be also. Certainly, many well-studied oomycete pathogens and saprophytes belonging to the Saprolegniaceae and Peronosporales are diplontic (Alexopoulos et al. 1996). However, the life cycles of the simplest organisms currently assigned to the Oomycota (e.g. Olpidiopsidaceae, Ectrogellaceae) are still unknown (Dick 1990), and in the labyrinthulids there is a round of haploid mitotic division after meiosis (Porter 1990), so that this life cycle is not truly diplontic but haplo-diplontic (this is true also of Fucus Linnaeus, contra Guillou et al. 1999). At the moment, therefore, it is unclear whether the ancestors of the diatoms were diplontic, haplo-diplontic or haplontic. A particular frustration is the lack of any information about the ploidy of what appears to be the diatoms' sister group, the Bolidophyceae, though one might expect these organisms to be haploid, because of their extremely small size.

The universality of the internalized cell division mechanism among living diatoms suggests strongly that the ancestor of all extant diatoms also divided in this way. However, there are certain characteristics of some of the Cretaceous diatoms that are difficult to reconcile with how extant diatoms grow and divide, and it is by no means clear that other features of the cell cycle and life cycle are as universal, and therefore ancestral, in diatoms as they generally are assumed to be. The most problematic fossils are Gladius Forti & Schulz (Figs 11, 12) and Gladiopsis Gersonde & Harwood (Forti & Schulz 1932; Gersonde & Harwood 1990; Sims 1994; Harwood & Nikolaev 1995; Figs 29-32), in which the valves are long cylinders (length up to $10 \times$ greater than their diameter in Gladius antiquus Forti & Schulz; Fig. 11), instead of the cakeor hat-box-like shapes or shallow dish morphologies of extant centric diatoms. Long cylindrical ('solenioid') diatoms exist today in the genera Rhizosolenia Brightwell and Proboscia Sundström and, as in these two modern genera, Gladius species apparently had girdles composed of many diamondshaped segmental bands (e.g. Gersonde & Harwood 1990, pl. 9, fig. 3, pl. 11, fig. 6; Sims 1994, figs 47, 48; compare Round et al. 1990, pp. 319, 321). However, in modern Rhizosolenia and Proboscia, the elongate cylinder of the cell is composed very largely of girdle, not valve. Two further peculiarities of G. antiquus are that the mantles (i.e. the sides of the deep cylinder of the valve) taper from the area of the valve face (i.e. the closed apex of the valve) toward the valve margin (Fig. 11) - indeed, the top of the valve is bulbous - and that the mantle pores are chambered (pseudoloculate) throughout. Modern diatoms grow by sliding apart of the two thecae, with simultaneous addition of new girdle elements to the inner, younger theca. Throughout this process, the thecae remain intimately linked, forming a single integrated cell wall. It is difficult to imagine how the same processes could have operated in G. antiquus because, during cell cycle elongation, a major inflation of the girdle diameter (almost a doubling) would have had to occur to provide space for the thecae of the following cell generation. Overall, the valve shape of Gladius species, especially G. antiquus, is so different from that of extant (or other fossil) diatoms that one has to question whether the mechanism of cell division and the life cycle of these diatoms can have resembled the 'typical' pattern seen

in most diatoms today. The Lower Cretaceous Kreagra Gersonde & Harwood, with its widely flaring, flanged spines (Fig. 33; Gersonde & Harwood 1990, plate 16), is also difficult to explain on the basis of current division patterns. Perhaps here, and in Gladius, valve formation was incomplete at cell separation and therefore not wholly internalized. That this is not impossible is shown by some modern genera, such as Chaetoceros Ehrenberg and Bacteriastrum Shadbolt, which have highly elongate projections, termed setae, that extend radially in two or more directions from the valvar plane, well beyond the limits of the girdle. These setae are formed as projections from the cell, which are initially naked and extend out through openings between the girdle bands (Pickett-Heaps 1998a, b). The flexibility of the morphogenetic machinery even in extant diatoms is also demonstrated in Corethron Castracane, in which elaborate spines are produced totally within the confines of the girdle bands and then rotate into place once the new valve is free of the girdle bands (Crawford & Hinz 1995); Attheya T. West setae form coiled up inside the parent theca and then unroll after being freed of the parental girdle bands (Crawford et al. 1994). Similar flexibility of morphogenesis could have operated in early Cretaceous diatoms.

Another pointer to a possibly nonstandard division mechanism in some early diatoms is the chambered mantle of Gladius (Figs 11, 12) and several other Lower Cretaceous diatoms, e.g. Gladiopsis (Figs 29, 30, 32), Rhynchopyxis Gersonde & Harwood (Figs 26, 27), Basilicostephanus Gersonde & Harwood (Fig. 13), Ancylopyrgus Gersonde & Harwood (Fig. 15) and Amblypyrgus Gersonde & Harwood (Gersonde & Harwood 1990). In these taxa, the mantles (and valve face) consist of an inner layer containing small pores, covered by an outer layer of large hexagonal chambers (pseudoloculate). The small pores of the inner layer are arranged in rows that, if traced across the mantle-face junction, can be seen to originate at an annular pattern centre (e.g. Gersonde & Harwood 1990, pl. 3, fig. 3; pl. 6, fig. 1), indicating, by analogy with extant diatoms (Pickett-Heaps et al. 1990), that this layer was formed first, spreading out just beneath the plasmalemma from the centre of the cleavage furrow. The hexagonal chambers of the outer layer bear no fixed spatial relationship to the inner rows of pores (see Sims 1994, figs 42, 47) and must have been superimposed substantially later during valve formation, just as in present-day Stephanopyxis (Ehrenberg) Ehrenberg (Pickett-Heaps et al. 1990, fig. 83). But how could this have been achieved if the whole process occurred within the girdle of these diatoms, unless the inner layer was formed at a distance from the parental girdle, allowing space for intercalation of the outer layer later in valve development? In modern diatoms with a chambered mantle, either the chambering is internal to the first-formed layer (e.g. Coscinodiscus Ehrenberg), in which case its formation is unproblematic, or it is external, but this is allowed for by a contraction of the protoplast during cleavage, so that the new valves develop beneath an area of naked plasmalemma that is unconstrained by the girdle except at its very margins, as in Stephanopyxis. However, the cylindrical shape of Gladius antiquus, G. trispinosus Gersonde & Harwood, Ancylopyrgus and other similar Lower Cretaceous diatoms makes the existence of a contraction unlikely. Altogether, there seems enough oddity in some of the Lower Cretaceous species to make it unsafe to assume that they divided in the same way that modern diatoms divide. Therefore it is

also unsafe to assume that they necessarily must have had a size reduction–restitution cycle like that occurring today.

In addition, the link between size reduction, sexual reproduction and auxospore formation may not be as universal in diatoms as was thought, and even where present, it may not be as strong as has usually been assumed. Lewis (1984) pointed out that the cell division mechanism *per se* is an inadequate explanation for the evolution of the size reduction-restitution cycle, because it has been known for many years (e.g. Geitler 1932; Wiedling 1948) that some pennate diatoms (now known to be an advanced group: see section 3) are able to avoid size reduction and can even expand (see Crawford 1981 for discussion). Size reduction can be avoided if the girdle widens as it elongates during the cell cycle. Some diatoms appear to be entirely asexual. After 20 years of observations of Caloneis amphisbaena (Bory) Cleve populations in Edinburgh lakes, one of us (D.G.M.) has seen no sexual stages and no evidence of size reduction. In cases like this and the Nitzschia Hassall species studied by Wiedling (1948), it is plain that the 'anomalous' life cycle has evolved secondarily (Chepurnov et al. 2004), because other members of the same genus and related genera have a 'normal' life cycle, with sexually produced auxospores. However, because there are exceptions that do not undergo size reduction-restitution, Lewis (1984) argued that size reduction cannot be a mere byproduct of the wall structure and cell division mechanism. Instead, it must have adaptive significance, which he suggested was as a chronometer for sex, allowing diatoms to spread the high costs of sexual reproduction over several or many years (see also Mann 1988).

If this is so, however, there can be no a priori expectation that internalized cell division coevolved with the size reduction-restitution cycle and it is possible that size reduction, together with the (unknown) size measurement mechanisms that would have to underlie its operation as a sex chronometer, evolved relatively late and perhaps even several times. Critical to answering such speculations is to identify exactly which are the most basal lineages of centric diatoms among those that survive and then to examine their life histories. Recently, it has been found that the link between cell size and auxosporulation is not as simple as had previously been thought. For example, in Coscinodiscus, Roshchin (1994, fig. 18) showed that auxospores can be formed over a very wide range of sizes and that size restitution can occur in two or more steps, small cells giving rise to medium-sized cells, and these in turn to large cells. Similar phenomena occur in Melosira C. Agardh and Thalassiosira Cleve (Chepurnov et al. 2004). Further studies are needed to see how widespread such phenomena are among centric diatoms.

Later in the Cretaceous and in the Tertiary (80 Ma \rightarrow), the morphologies of the fossil diatoms are wholly 'modern' and give no indication of any unusual cell division or life cycle feature, and at least one of the Lower Cretaceous taxa (*Bilingua rossii* Gersonde & Harwood: Figs 3, 5) exhibits size and shape variation consistent with that shown during size reduction by extant bipolar diatoms. It is reasonable to assume that these diatoms mostly exhibited size reduction and regenerated their size and shape via auxospores, even though the latter and their immediate offspring are very rarely preserved.

3. EVOLUTION OF THE MAJOR GROUPS OF DIATOMS

3.1. The impact of molecular data on diatom systematics

Most diatomists have long assumed that the diatoms contain two groups, the centrics and the pennates, which can be distinguished by their pattern centres or symmetry, mode of sexual reproduction, and plastid number and structure (Round *et al.* 1990). The oogamous centric diatoms, with radially symmetrical ornamentation on their valves and with numerous discoid plastids, are distinct from the isogamous pennate diatoms with bilaterally symmetrical pattern centres and generally fewer, plate-like plastids. These groups are known to most aquatic and cell biologists under these terms and each term conveys a distinct image of a particular type of diatom valve.

Historically, centric and pennate diatoms have been separated as two classes or orders. Round et al. (1990), however, recognized three classes - Coscinodiscophyceae (centric diatoms), Fragilariophyceae (araphid pennate diatoms) and Bacillariophyceae (raphid pennate diatoms) - giving equal ranking to the raphid pennate diatoms [those with a slit opening (raphe) in the cell wall for movement] and the araphid pennate diatoms (those without this slit). However, this classification was not conceived to be phylogenetic (Round et al. 1990, p. 123). Simonsen (1972) clearly recognized that the traditional centric-pennate separation might not reflect an early evolutionary dichotomy ('The Pennales ... must have developed from the Centrales. But from which genus or genera of the Centrales the way leads to which genus or genera of the Pennales, we cannot tell') and later illustrated a grade of clades from centrics into pennates (Simonsen 1979). However, his hypothesis was never translated into a formal classification. An alternative classification to that of Round et al. has been formally presented by Medlin & Kaczmarska (2004), based on molecular data. This separates the diatoms into two subdivisions, comprising 'radial centrics' (Coscinodiscophytina), and those diatoms - 'multipolar centrics' and pennates - that exhibit polarity in the shape of their valves (Bacillariophytina), except where this has been lost secondarily. We discuss this below and will use the terms 'centric', 'araphid' and 'raphid' to refer to structural types within the diatoms, even though two of the groups of diatoms referred to are not monophyletic. Even stronger support for the three classes has also been presented (Medlin et al. 2004).

The diatoms have an extensive fossil record and a wealth of morphological features upon which to base their systematics and so they are an ideal group in which to study the congruence of molecular, morphological and fossil data sets. Molecular data have confirmed some previous ideas. For example, the idea (e.g. Simonsen 1979) that the pennate diatoms evolved from the centric forms because they appear later in the geological record (which had been noted also by Fritsch 1935, p. 642), is supported unambiguously by molecular phylogenies (see below, this section). Likewise, Simonsen's view that centric diatoms are paraphyletic (though he did not use this terminology) is also clearly demonstrated by molecular data, which were presented first by Medlin et al. (1993). However, molecular analyses have also brought several surprises. The first molecular phylogenies (Medlin et al. 1993) showed the araphid pennate diatoms to be paraphyletic, undermining

the class-level distinction of Fragilariophyceae and Bacillariophyceae by Round *et al.* (1990). Furthermore, among the taxa studied by Medlin *et al.* (1993), the centric diatom, *Skeletonema* Greville was most closely related to the pennate diatoms, with high bootstrap support in phylogenetic analyses. Sörhannus *et al.* (1995) confirmed that centric and araphid taxa were paraphyletic, using an analysis of partial sequences from the 28S large-subunit (LSU) rRNA coding region from eight diatoms. These initial data suggested, therefore, that existing higher-level diatom classifications were not phylogenetic and all subsequent analyses from several other genes have supported this finding (Medlin *et al.* 1996a, b, 2000; Ehara *et al.* 2000; Fox & Sörhannus 2004).

Medlin and colleagues (literature summarized by Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004) have divided the diatoms into two groups on the basis of molecular sequence data: what initially was called 'Clade 1' contains those centric diatoms with essentially radial symmetry of valve shape and structure. 'Clade 2' consists of two groups, the first of which contains the bi- or multipolar centrics and the radial Thalassiosirales ('Clade 2a'), and the second, the pennates ('Clade 2b') (Figs 1, 2). Morphological and cytological support for these clades was reviewed in Medlin *et al.* (2000) and Medlin & Kaczmarska (2004). However, whether Clade 2a is truly monophyletic is unclear (e.g. Kooistra *et al.* 2003a).

Clades 1 and 2 are now recognized at the subdivision level (Figs 1, 2), as the Coscinodiscophytina and Bacillariophytina, respectively, and Clades 1, 2a and 2b are now recognized at the class level, as the Coscinodiscophyceae, Mediophyceae and Bacillariophyceae (Figs 1, 2; Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004).

3.2. Correlations between molecular phylogenies and nonmolecular characteristics

There are correlations between the principal molecular clades and certain cytological features. For example, on the whole, the Bacillariophytina have a perinuclear arrangement of the Golgi apparatus, whereas in the Coscinodiscophytina the Golgi stacks are usually in Golgi-endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondrion (G-ER-M) units (Schmid 1988; available data summarized in Medlin et al. 2000, fig. 1). However, the correlation is incomplete, since Odontella C. Agardh (molecular Clade 2a) has G-ER-M units, whereas Melosira and Aulacoseira Thwaites (Clade 1) have perinuclear arrangements. There may also be correlations with pyrenoid ultrastructure and spermatozoid ultrastructure (Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004), but support is weak and interpretation difficult because of the lack of data for most taxa. Schmid (2001) reviewed the structure of the pyrenoid in diatoms. In few cases were there unambiguous correlations with higher-level taxa. However, one important observation concerns the Thalassiosirales, a group that in molecular analyses falls within Clade 2, despite their radial symmetry and circular valves. Here, there are often no membranes traversing the pyrenoids, in contrast to true radial centrics (Clade 1), which have one or more sets of membranes crossing the pyrenoid, which are not continuous with the stroma thylakoids (Schmid 2001). Thus, one of the most surprising of results from rDNA and other sequence analyses - that the Thalassiosirales are not closely related to other diatoms with circular valves - receives some independent support. Again, however, the correlations are not complete. Fossil evidence summarized by Medlin & Kaczmarska (2004) suggests that the purported ancestors of Clade 1 had elaborate linking structures and no processes or tubes in the valve centre, whereas the purported ancestors of Clade 2 had reduced linking structures and a tube or process in the valve centre.

By far the best independent, nonmolecular support for three classes comes from auxospore structure (Kaczmarska *et al.* 2001; Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004). Isodiametric auxospores with scales are characteristic of Clade 1; anisodiametric auxospores with scales and hoops or bands (a properizonium) are found in Clade 2a; and anisodiametric auxospores that form a complex tubular perizonium, usually consisting of transverse hoops and longitudinal bands, are found in Clade 2b. Of course, these correlations would also be consistent with paraphyly of Clade 1 and Clade 2a.

3.3. The palaeoecological context of diatom origins

A molecular clock calculated from four different genes has placed the origin of the diatoms no earlier than 240 Ma (Kooistra & Medlin 1996). At this time, the Mesozoic (230– 70 Ma), the world's climate was generally warm with no polar ice-caps, a low pole-to-equator temperature gradient and high levels of CO_2 , giving a 'greenhouse climate' considerably warmer than today (Chambers 1996; Gale 2003). From the Permian to the Turonian stage of the Cretaceous (280–90 Ma), average global temperatures increased and worldwide (eustatic) sea levels rose (Douglas & Woodruff 1981; Vial & Hardenbol 1979).

The low pole-to-equator temperature gradient and high levels of CO₂ (8–10 times that at present) meant that high latitude sea water was neither sufficiently cold nor saline to sink to form bottom water (Gale 2003). In the Cretaceous, ocean bottom waters were probably saline and derived from low latitude areas of high evaporation. During the late Cretaceous (c. 95-65 Ma), eustatic sea levels were very high and the interiors of the major continents were covered with shallow seas (Gale 2003). The rise in sea levels probably reached a peak during the Turonian (c. 90 Ma), when vast shelf areas were flooded, causing difficulties for subsequent palaeo-shoreline reconstruction (Haq et al. 1987). The early Albian (Lower Cretaceous) also saw at least three flooding events. From the Turonian to the Santonian (90-85 Ma), there was a period of stability when average global temperatures and sea levels stabilized before starting to fall again at the beginning of the Campanian (84–74 Ma) (Frakes 1986; Hancock & Kauffman 1979). The late Maastrichtian (66 Ma) was marked by a significant cooling of the oceans and the Cretaceous-Tertiary (K-T) event was accompanied by a sudden drop in the eustatic sea level and global temperatures. Frakes (1986) estimated that the drop in temperature might have been as much as 5°C worldwide. The fall in the eustatic sea level led to the disappearance of many epicontinental seas and subsequently some ocean basins (e.g. the Arctic Basin) became isolated from the rest of the world ocean. During this period there also was considerable volcanic activity producing volcanic ash, which was a source of soluble silica and enabled the preservation of diatom frustules in many areas.



Fig. 1. Phylogenetic reconstruction of the Heterokonta showing the major clades of the diatoms and the newly described subdivisions and classes, using maximum parsimony and the ARB database (www.arb-home.de) of 9000 small subunit (SSU) ribosomal DNA (rDNA) sequences (redrawn from Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004). The numbers for the classes and subdivisions of diatoms represent the posterior probabilities and the bootstrap values from neighbour-joining and maximum parsimony analyses as reported in Medlin and Kaczmarska (2005).

Fig. 2. Details of the small subunit (SSU) ribosomal DNA (rDNA) diatom tree reconstructed using a Bayesian analysis with Mr BAYES. Major clades are collapsed into triangles for clarity and to emphasize the relationships among the diatoms at the genus or higher level. This tree has been composed from all diatom sequences in Genbank as of January 2005 and a number of unpublished sequences from collaborators. Numbers on the nodes are the posterior probabilities from the Bayesian analysis. For the Bayesian analysis, we ran 1,000,000 generations, saving every 1000th tree, discarding the first 500 trees and making a concensus tree from the last 500 trees. We present a branch length tree having the lowest log likelihood and place the posterior probabilities on each node of this tree. An uncollapsed version of this tree was presented in Medlin *et al.* (2004).





Fig. 2. Continued.

4. DIATOM EVOLUTION IN THE MESOZOIC

4.1. Jurassic and Cretaceous: overview and fossil localities

Modern diatoms are rather different morphologically from the earliest known diatoms. The earliest generally accepted record of diatoms is of two species of Pyxidicula Ehrenberg, P. liassica and P. bollensis described by Rothpletz (1896, 1900) from the Liassic Boll shales of Wurtenburg, the Toarcian stage of the Jurassic (c. 190 Ma). We are unable to accept reports of Proterozoic (Precambrian) diatom fossils (Siemińska 1981; Kwiecińska 2000; Siemińska & Kwiecińska 2002), because the forms reported, such as Nitzschia and a naviculoid diatom (named Horstia by Siemińska & Kwiecińska 2002) that is similar to extant Sellaphora Mereschkowsky and Mayamaea Lange-Bertalot, are more modern in appearance than (and have no counterparts in) early Tertiary raphid diatoms, and that acceptance of the Precambrian fossils as autochthonous would require that the evolutionary changes and 'progression' so evident in the Cretaceous-Tertiary sequence are essentially meaningless. Likewise, we are unconvinced by Palaeozoic records of diatoms listed by Siemińska (2000), either because the flora is modern (e.g. Zanon's data), or because there is no evidence that the fossils are diatoms (as with the Vologdin & Gapeev material). It also should be noted that the mean and maximum age of the diatoms calculated from molecular data, viz., 135-240 Ma (Kooistra & Medlin 1996; Medlin et al. 1997a), indicate a Mesozoic origin for the group.

The Jurassic *Pyxidicula* species recorded by Rothpletz (1896, 1900) occurred as isolated valves or less frequently as frustules among sponge spicules, the valves being 6 to 14 μ m in diameter, with the frustules having two dissimilar valves and no girdle bands. Simonsen (1979) considered the primitive characters of diatoms to be spore formation, lack of girdle bands and heterovalvy. These he associated with a neritic habitat, i.e. an inshore marine environment.

Of the habitats of the late Jurassic and Lower Cretaceous diatoms, we know little. Recently, a new diatom deposit in Korea (175 Ma) has been reported from nonmarine sediments (Harwood *et al.* 2004). A hypothesis has been presented above as to how the presence of nonmarine, likely terrestrial diatoms might be reconciled with molecular data that indicate that the closest relatives of diatoms and most of the extant basal lineages of diatoms (in Clade 1) are marine (e.g. Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004). The diatoms in the Korean deposit are somewhat similar to the *Pyxidicula* species in Rothpletz's Liassic deposit. However, few diatoms have been recovered so far from the Korean material and it is likely that they give a very incomplete picture of the flora.

The first well-preserved deposit of diatoms is from Aptian– Albian core material recovered from the Weddell Sea, Antarctica, which was studied extensively by Gersonde & Harwood (1990) and Harwood & Gersonde (1990); we illustrate some of these in Figs 3–34. Gersonde & Harwood (1990) identified 12 new genera and 22 new species, most of them cylindrical valves with similar chambered valve structure. However, among them was one, *Bilingua* Gersonde & Harwood, that has bipolar, nonchambered valves, showing that considerable diversification already had occurred in or by the Lower Cretaceous, possibly into Clades 1 and 2. Gersonde & Harwood (1990) proposed a neritic shallow water environment for the Weddell Sea flora and suggested that Lower Cretaceous diatoms may have been restricted to continental margins and inland seas.

Haig & Barnbaum (1978) retrieved lightly pyritized diatoms from the Aptian of the Wallumbilla Formation in Queensland and suggested they originated in a slightly hyposaline shallow sea with a high level of dissolved silica. The pyritized internal clasts are of benthic species; because a sieve was used, only those over 60 µm were recovered. Tappan (1962) has proposed that pyritized diatoms reflect rapid burial in turbid, inner, sublittoral environments, e.g. near a deltaic environment. Kemper et al. (1975) described an inshore environment affected by transgressions and regressions for the Albian diatoms described by Forti & Schulz (1932) from northwest Germany, and Foucault et al. (1986), in their paper on the lightly pyritized Albian-Cenomanian diatoms from the Italian Alps, suggested that 'the progressive rise in abundance of these algae in the Cretaceous is tentatively linked to the flooding of the platforms by the epicontinental seas in this period'.

From the Santonian through the Campanian and Maastrichtian (c. 88-65 Ma), there is more information on the diatom flora and its environment, although only 12 sites have been studied extensively, all of them interconnected through seaways and oceanic currents (Chambers 1996). The Santonian and Campanian marked the beginning of the formation of vast diatomaceous deposits: as much as 500 m thick in the Ural Mountains and in Western Siberia (Gleser 1966; Strel'nikova 1974, 1975), c. 1400 m on Seymour Island, eastern Antarctic Peninsula (Harwood 1988), 1094 m in the Canadian Arctic (Tapia 1996), and 124 m in Dosados Canyon, Moreno, California (Nikolaev et al. 2001). Cores have been taken and studied from the South Pacific, on the southeast margin of the Campbell Plateau (DSDP Site 275) (Hajós & Stradner 1975; Chambers 1996); from the Alpha Ridge, Arctic Ocean (Kitchell & Clark 1982; Kitchell et al. 1986; dell'Agnese & Clark 1994); from CESAR core 6, also in the Arctic Ocean (Barron 1985; Chambers 1996); ODP Site 758, in the equatorial Indian Ocean (Fourtanier 1991; Chambers 1996); and a dredge from the Tonga Trench (Quinterno et al. 1994; Chambers 1996). Sites also have been found in Japan (Takahashi et al. 1999) and in Israel (Moshkovitz et al. 1983), but these specimens are either pyritized or poorly preserved.

The flora of both of the Russian deposits and that of the Marca Shale, Moreno, California, included a considerable number of benthic species plus some neritic species, suggesting a shallow nearshore habitat. Harwood (1988) proposed a shallow water habitat in relatively quiet water conditions on the continental shelf for the Seymour Island diatom flora of benthic and neritic species together with a considerable number of resting spores. The Arctic Ocean sites on the Alpha Ridge, F1/437 and CESAR 6 and those of Tapia (1996) showed strong seasonality and those samples from the Alpha Ridge display alternating layers of vegetative cells and resting spores, which have been interpreted as the diatoms' response to Arctic summers and winters (no daylight!) respectively, at a time when no ice sheets were present in the Cretaceous oceans. These Cretaceous sites suggest that the diatoms had not yet moved into the open ocean but were restricted to shallow waters, with benthic, epiphytic and neritic species present.

No Cretaceous diatoms have been recovered from deep-water oceanic sites. All those studied and listed above would have been nearshore habitats in the Cretaceous seas.

4.2. Lower Cretaceous diatoms

Judging by valve shape, Medlin *et al.* (2000) and Medlin & Kaczmarska (2004) estimated that representatives of both Clade 1 and Clade 2 (Figs 1, 2) were present in the late Aptian to early Albian (115–110 Ma) floras described by Gersonde & Harwood (1990) from the Weddell Sea. However, four morphologies can be distinguished among these early diatoms (Gersonde & Harwood 1990). Of these, one does not contain any process in the valve centre (probably equivalent to molecular Clade 1), whereas another group does (probably equivalent to molecular Clade 2: Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004). We presume that the remaining two groups are extinct.

Gersonde & Harwood (1990) described 25 taxa placed in 13 genera. All are centrics but two of them are bipolar, Bilingua rossii (Figs 3-5) and Kerkis bispinosa (Fig. 9), both described as new by Gersonde & Harwood (1990) and both very rare. Some of the Weddell taxa are also present in the Albian material described by Forti & Schulz (1932) from northwest Germany and in Aptian material recovered from Queensland, Australia (Dun et al. 1901; Harper 1977; Haig & Barnbaum 1978; Nikolaev & Harwood, in press). Material described as Jurassic by Rüst (1885) also contained diatoms, described under the title coproliths, with four species described as tintinnids and two as diatoms and these have affinities with the taxa described by Gersonde & Harwood (1990). It has been suggested by Gersonde & Harwoord (1990) that this material is probably Albian and might even be from the same locality as that studied by Forti & Schulz (1932).

Gersonde & Harwood (1990) found several new valve structures in the Weddell Sea diatoms. The most primitive feature, they suggested, is a large, heavily silicified type of linking spine, which is often ridged, triangular in cross-section, and buttressed at its base; it slots into a deep socket (a scrobisculus) on the opposing valve. The scrobisculi (Figs 11-13, 15) are positioned at the margin of the valve face and on the marginal ridge when one is present. A similar structure can be found in modern genera belonging to Clade 1 (Stephanopyxis in Haga 1997). The taxa with this type of linking mechanism are dominant in their material and most of these heavily silicified species have cylindrical valves, elongated along their pervalvar axis (Figs 11-16). Lund (1966) suggested that a strong linking process in planktonic diatoms is an indication of turbulent waters. Gersonde & Harwood (1990) consider that this group of species reached their maximum at this period and largely became extinct somewhere between the Albian and Campanian.

Other new structures, not seen in diatoms from the late Cretaceous and Tertiary, are the 'punctate-haplo' process on the genus *Microorbis* Gersonde & Harwood (Figs 17, 18); the 'scissurate-haplo process', a process considered by Gersonde & Harwood (1990) to be the ancestral stage of a labiate process, on *Trochus elegantulus* Gersonde & Harwood (Figs 10, 19) and *Bilingua rossii* (Figs 3–5); the 'perforate process' on *Praethalassiosiropsis haslea* Gersonde & Harwood (Figs 20–22), which is possibly related to the annular or multistrutted process on *Thalassiosiropsis* Hasle in Hasle & Syvertsen; the

'sipho-shaped process' of *Gladiopsis*, subsequently interpreted as an annular or strutted process by Nikolaev & Harwood (1997) (Figs 11, 12, 29, 31); and the 'rhyncho-shaped process' present on *Rhynchopyxis siphonoides* Gersonde & Harwood (Figs 26–28), its internal structure differing little from that present in the sipho-shaped process of *Gladiopsis*. It may be that when those species of *Gladiopsis* described by Strel'nikova (1974) as '*Gladius speciosus* f. *poratus*' and 'f. *aculeolatus*' (with exterior tubular openings from the process) are examined, the internal openings of their processes may be found to be identical with that of *Rhynchopyxis*.

Medlin et al. (2000) interpreted the process of Rhynchopyxis (Figs 26, 27) to be a forerunner of the central microlabiate process of Clade 2 diatoms. Gersonde & Harwood (1990) speculated that the group of apical processes in Rhynchopyxis may also have linked frustules into chains, possibly by producing chitin threads, as in present members of the Thalassiosirales, and they considered them more advanced because an apical process or a process with chitan threads uses less silica and therefore less energy in their formation. Gersonde & Harwood (1990) suggested that Microorbis, Trochus Gersonde & Harwood and Bilingua (Figs 17-19, 3-5, respectively) may have lived in deeper waters, because they are less heavily silicified. If Lund's (1966) ideas about linking spines are correct, then those lacking well-developed spines, such as Praethalassiosiropsis Gersonde & Harwood, Gladiopsis and Rhynchopyxis, may have lived in less turbulent waters than the group with heavily silicified linking spines. All, however, appear to be shallow-water species - neritic rather than oceanic - because of the large number of resting spores present in the material (Harwood & Gersonde 1990). In Aptian material from Australia, Nikolaev & Harwood (1997) found a new process, 'the uvular process', in the genus 'Archaegladiopsis'. To date, this material remains unpublished (Nikolaev & Harwood, in press).

In most Aptian-Albian species, the valves have pseudoloculate areolae (Figs 11, 12, 15, 23-25) - a reticulate pattern of raised ridges, T-shaped in cross-section, with a basal layer perforated by radially aligned rows of pores that probably would have been occluded originally by external vela. Bilingua, Trochus and Microorbis have a simpler construction, consisting of a single layer perforated by radial rows of punctate striae. Many taxa have a marginal ridge and costae. Remarkably, girdle bands (rarely preserved in fossil material) are present in a few cases; they are perforated by vertical rows of fine pores (Fig. 28). Vela have been observed on the valve face of Basilicostephanus Gersonde & Harwood (Figs 13, 14). Other morphological features of note are the sulci of Bilingua rossii Gersonde & Harwood (1990, pl. 18, figs 7, 9); the girdle view of this diatom is reminiscent of Biddulphia Gray or Briggera R. Ross & P.A. Sims.

Of particular note also is a species of *Stephanopyxis* with rimoportulae (labiate processes) found by one of us (P.A.S.) on BRM slide Zu3/98 (E.F. B36/C36) (Figs 6–8) and also in original material kindly supplied by Gersonde & Harwood (Figs 23–25). If autochthonous, this would be the earliest record of an extant diatom genus. D.M. Harwood (personal communication) has cautioned us that this may be a contamination from upper layers. However, no other contaminants were found and the valve structure of *Stephanopyxis* species is pseudoloculate, just as in most other taxa recovered from the



Figs 3–10. Albian diatoms, Lower Cretaceous, Ocean Drilling Program Leg 113, Site 693, Weddell Sea. Light micrographs of original slides prepared by Gersonde & Harwood (1990) now housed in the Hustedt collection at Bremerhaven (BRM). Micrographs taken using a Zeiss Axioplan photomicroscope fitted with Nomarski interference contrast.

- Figs 3-5. Bilingua rossii (Gersonde & Harwood 1990).
 - Fig. 3. Fractured specimen 43 µm long. Note ring of scissurate-haplo processes and branched central costa. BRM Zu3/97.
 - Fig. 4. Detail central area with radial rows of fine pores and pole with lines of fine pores.
 - Fig. 5. Whole specimen showing valve undulations (sulci). Specimen 38 μ m long 16 μ m wide at centre. BRM Zu3/85.
- Figs 6-8. Stephanopyxis sp. Specimen 70 µm diameter.
- Fig. 6. Detail of rimoportula. BRM Zu3/98.
- Figs 7, 8. Same specimen at different focal levels with raised openings from rimoportulae.
- Fig. 9. Kerkis bispinosa (Gersonde & Harwood 1990). Fractured specimen c. 35 µm length of valve plus spines. BRM Zu3/98.

Fig. 10. *Trochus elegantulus* (Gersonde & Harwood 1990) with scissurate-haplo processes (arrowheads) and marginal ridge. Specimen 45 μm diameter. BRM Zu3/98.

Weddell Sea but uncommon in more recent taxa. None of the other Weddell Sea diatoms seem to have rimoportulae but a rimoportula is illustrated on a pyritized specimen of *Aulaco-discus sieminskae* Geroch (Geroch 1978, pl. 3 figs 1–6) from the Lower Cretaceous of the Polish Carpatians. Foucault *et al.* (1986) identified a *Lithodesmium* Ehrenberg species, *Thalas-*

siosiropsis wittiana (Pantocsek) Hasle and *Sheshukovia uralense* (Strel'nikova) Gleser from partly pyritized specimens from the Albian–Cenomanian of the Italian Alps, but the dating of this material is suspect. Strel'nikova & Martirosjan (1981) also featured a triangular pyritized specimen from the Albian of the Stavropol region of the former U.S.S.R.



Figs 11–16. Albian diatoms, Lower Cretaceous, Ocean Drilling Program Leg 113, Site 693, Weddell Sea.

Figs 11, 12. *Gladius antiquus* (Forti & Schulz 1932). **Fig. 11.** Girdle view of fractured valve. Bar = 10 μm.

Fig. 12. Only view of flatting view of

Figs 13, 14. Basilicostephanus ornatus (Gersonde & Harwood 1990).

Fig. 13. Note marginal ring of tri-buttressed spines with a scrobisculus beside each. Scale bar = 5 μ m.

Fig. 14. Detail of valve face with vela (? rotae). Scale bar = $2 \mu m$.

Fig. 15. Ancyclopyrgus reticulatus (Gersonde & Harwood 1990) with single tri-buttressed spine and scrobisculus. Note pseudoloculate valve structure. Bar = 5 μ m.

Fig. 16. Archepyrgus melosiroides (Gersonde & Harwood 1990). Two linked valves with interdigitating spines, a poroid valve structure and a 'ringleist' on inner valve margin. Bar = 5 μ m.

Thus, by the end of the Lower Cretaceous, cylindrical, circular, bipolar and possibly triangular forms were present, possessing linking spines and six types of processes including the rimoportula. Thus, the ancestors of both Clades 1 and 2 almost certainly were present. Sulci, costae, a marginal ridge, a pseudoloculate and perforate valve structure also have been identified, together with signs of vela. The most noticeable feature of the Lower Cretaceous diatoms is the heavy silicification – the genus *Kreagra* is especially massively silicified (Figs 33, 34). Another is the small size of the cells, when compared to late Cretaceous–Eocene diatoms.

The rate of evolution in Clade 1 diatoms has been calculated using two different means of calibrating molecular trees: (1) by fossil dates for the entire clade (Kooistra & Medlin 1996); and (2) by biomarker compounds for the clade containing *Rhizosolenia* (Sinninghe-Damsté *et al.* 2004). Both methods suggest that these diatoms are evolving very quickly (1% per 24 and 14 Ma for the rRNA gene, respectively) and



Figs 17-25. Albian diatoms, Lower Cretaceous, Ocean Drilling Program Leg 113, Site 693, Weddell Sea. Figs 17, 18. Microorbis convexus (Gersonde & Harwood 1990).

Fig. 17. Valve exterior with marginal ridge, central hyaline area with punctate-haplo processes, and radial rows of areolae that extend onto the vertical mantle. Scale bar = $10 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 18. Valve interior. Scale bar = $10 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 19. Trochus elegantulus. Valve interior. Scale bar = 5 μ m (see Fig. 10 for exterior).

Figs 20-22. Praethalassiosiropsis haslea (Gersonde & Harwood 1990).

- Fig. 20. Valve exterior with central perforated process, marginal ridge with sipho-marginalis. Scale bar = $20 \mu m$.
- **Fig. 21.** External view of central perforated process. Scale bar = 5 μ m. **Fig. 22.** Internal view of central perforated process. Scale bar = 5 μ m.

Figs 23–25. Stephanopyxis sp.

Figs 23, 24. Valve exterior with openings from rimoportulae. Scale bar = $10 \mu m$.

Fig. 25. Detail of opening from rimoportula. Scale bar = $2 \mu m$.



Figs 26–34. Albian diatoms, Lower Cretaceous, Ocean Drilling Program Leg 113, Site 693, Weddell Sea.

Figs 26–28. Rhynchopyxis siphonoides Gersonde & Harwood.

Fig. 26. External view with rhyncho-shaped process in central position on valve face. Scale bar = $10 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 27. Fractured specimen showing internal opening of valve and rhyncho-shaped process. Scale bar = $10 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 28. Detail of interior opening of rhyncho-shaped process. Scale bar = $1 \mu m$.

Figs 29-31. Gladiopsis modica (Gersonde & Harwood 1990).

Fig. 29. Valve exterior with opening from central 'sipho-shaped' (= multistrutted or annular) process within circular area of radiating rows of fine pores. Note small spines at margin of valve face. Scale bar = 5 μ m.

Fig. 30. Fractured specimen with attached girdle band. Scale bar = 5 μ m.

Fig. 31. Internal view of multistrutted process. Scale bar = 2 μ m.

Fig. 32. Gladiopsis lagenoides (Gersonde & Harwood 1990). Valve exterior with radial rows of poroids on valve face and central opening from multistrutted process. Scale bar = $10 \mu m$.

Figs 33, 34. Kreagra forfex (Gersonde & Harwood 1990).

Fig. 33. Large hyaline linking process with two broken spines and central linking notch. Scale bar = $10 \mu m$.

Fig. 34. Fractured body of valve with rows of poroids. Scale bar = $2 \mu m$.

this could help explain why the morphology of the diatoms changes so rapidly across the Cretaceous, between Lower and Upper Cretaceous floras.

4.3. Upper Cretaceous centric diatoms

By the end of the Upper Cretaceous, the diatoms closely resembled modern forms. Very few samples have been collected in the period between the end of the Albian and the late Santonian, some 20 Ma, and all of these, apart from one set of samples from Arctic Canada examined by Tapia (1996) and Tapia & Harwood (2002), are of pyritized diatoms. Figure 35 shows a modified diagram by P. M. Chambers & A. Holburn (personal communication) illustrating the types of palaeomorphs present. All are large specimens, most having been sieved, and they are probably benthic in habitat. Tapia (1996) showed that Bilingua, Basilicostephanus Gersonde & Harwood (Figs 13, 14), Gladiopsis and Stephanopyxis were present after the Albian and before the Campanian (late Cenomanian to Santonian?, c. 95-80 Ma), but the other genera described by Gersonde & Harwood (1990) did not survive the Albian. Basilicostephanus occurred until the early Campanian; Bilingua did not extend into the Campanian; Gladius survived until the end of the Upper Cretaceous; and Stephanopyxis is found living today. Tapia (1996) and Tapia & Harwood (2002) identified several new genera in the period between the Albian and the Campanian. These included Corinna Heiberg, Costopyxis Gleser (Fig. 37), Hemiaulus Heiberg, Hyalodiscus Ehrenberg, Micrampulla Hanna, Paralia Heiberg, Porpeia Bailey ex Ralfs in Pritchard, Pseudopyxilla Forti, Stellarima Hasle & P.A. Sims, Trochosira Kitton and Trochosiropsis Gleser. Ross & Sims (1987) recorded Briggera includens (Grun.) Ross & Sims from Upper Turonian (c. 90 Ma) material from Oceanographer Canyon provided by J. Fenner. We also can assume that some of the genera present as pyritized clasts came through this period, e.g. Aulacodiscus, but most are difficult to identify with certainty.

Chambers (1996) recorded 383 taxa from the Upper Cretaceous (c. 100–65 Ma) with 262 species present in the Campanian (c. 81–74 Ma); Strel'nikova (1990) gave a similar total of 397 species in 70 genera for the Upper Cretaceous. Some of these species are illustrated in Figs 36–53. By the Campanian, most of the major groups of modern centric diatoms were present, apart from the Thalassiosirales, Chaetocerotaceae, Asterolampraceae, Tricerataceae, Hemidiscaceae, Azpeitaceae, Trigoniumaceae and Stictodiscaceae (classification *sensu* Gleser *et al.* 1988) and almost all the major morphological features of centric diatoms were present, except for the fultoportula (strutted process).

The earliest recorded appearance of an ocellus – a welldelimited area of specialised pores probably involved in mucilage pad formation – is in the early Campanian, where Strel'nikova (1974) described a specimen with ocelli that she placed in *Glyphodiscus* Greville, as *G. intermedius* Strelnikova, which has now been removed to *Rattrayella* by Sims (2006). The ocellus today is restricted to Clade 2 bipolar diatoms. The ocellus appeared almost simultaneously also in Upper Cretaceous material from the South Pacific (Hajós & Stradner 1975) and the Antarctic (Harwood 1988), in the genera *Neohuttonia* Kuntze (*Huttonia*), *Rattrayella* De Toni and *Odontella* (identified as *Biddulphia cretacea* Hajós & Stradner). Many genera with ocelli have been identified from the Maastrichtian of the Moreno Shale, California, including *Auliscus* Ehrenberg, *Hendeya* J.A. Long, Fuge & J. Smith (see Nikolaev *et al.* 2001, pl. 125) and *Meretrosulus* Hanna (Fig. 36). A pseudocellus has been illustrated by Strel'nikova (1974) on *Sheshukovia kolbei* var. *uralense* (Jousé) Gleser (*Triceratium kolbei* Hustedt) and also on *Biddulphia tuomeyi* var. *cretacea* Jousé in late Cretaceous material from the Urals (Figs 42–44).

The first recorded appearance of interlocking linking spines is in *Briggera includens* in Ross and Sims (1987), from Upper Turonian (*c.* 90 Ma) material from Oceanographer Canyon (Ross & Sims 1987; material provided by Fenner). Very elaborate linking spines are seen in *Strelnikovia* R. Ross & P.A. Sims (Figs 52, 53), in Campanian material from Russia (Strel'nikova 1974) and described by Ross & Sims (1987).

Valve structure became more diverse in the Campanian, with loculate and pseudoloculate constructions both present and also simple, single-layered valves of various thicknesses, perforated by poroids. The areola occlusions (vela) became refined into cribra (Fig. 51), volae (Fig. 49) and rotae (e.g. in *Basilicostephanus*), depending on the size of the perforations, which are mostly larger in Upper Cretaceous species. The annular or multistrutted process (Figs 31, 32 and see Sims 1994) survived in a few taxa until the early Eocene (*Thalassiosiropsis*) and the rimoportula became the dominant process present on most centric and araphid diatoms from the Upper Cretaceous onwards.

The rimoportulae, which may have been restricted to submarginal locations in Albian Clade 1 diatoms, occupy many different positions on the valve face by the end of the Cretaceous – central or submarginal or marginal. They also can be single or multiple, and with the external openings either flush to the valve surface (as in *Stellarima* and *Coscinodiscus*) or raised into stout spines (as in *Aulacodiscus* Ehrenberg, *Paralia* and *Actinoptychus* Ehrenberg). Marginal rimoportulae dominate in Clade 1 diatoms, whereas a centrally located one is present in Clade 2 diatoms. Rimoportula characters define most modern centric diatoms at the family or generic level and by the end of the Cretaceous, most modern centric genera or their immediate ancestors can be found. Notable exceptions are the Thalassiosirales, the Hemidiscaceae, and the Chaetocerotaceae (Simonsen 1979).

In valve view, the outlines of Upper Cretaceous diatoms are linear, lanceolate, triangular, quadrangular, circular and subcircular to solenoid (Fig. 39), with triangular, circular and bipolar shapes dominant. Clade 2a of the diatoms contains the bipolar centrics, the pseudo-araphid pennates (see section 4.4) and the radial Thalassiosirales, all of which now have been grouped into the new class Mediophyceae. Other features of the bipolar Mediophyceae present in the Upper Cretaceous are the elevations and undulations of the valve surface in hemiauloids and biddulphioids (Figs 42-44). Internal costae are present, both in Arachnoidiscus Deane ex Shadbolt (Clade 1) (Figs 48, 49) and Eunotogramma Weisse (Clade 2a); in both, the costae are presumably strengthening devices. Heterovalvy also occurs in Arachnoidiscus (Figs 48, 49). The Upper Cretaceous diatoms mostly were larger in size than their Lower Cretaceous counterparts and the features discussed above suggest adaptations to new habitats and that a greater proportion



Fig. 35. Time ranges of pyritized diatoms with basic illustrations of selected morphotypes from their assemblages. Redrawn from P.M. Chambers and A. Holburn, unpublished data.



Figs 36-44. Upper Cretaceous diatoms.

Fig. 36. Meretosulus sp. Ust'Manya River, Severnaya Sos'va, eastern slope of Urals, Russia. Campanian. Valve exterior with girdle bands and an ocellus at each pole. Scale bar = $20 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 37. Costopyxis cf. schulzii Steinecke. River Synya, Til'tim, eastern slopes of Polar Urals. Campanian. Note long, hollow tubular processes from central rimoportulae, broad valve margin and raised ridges between groups of areolae. Scale bar = $20 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 38. Syndetocystis uralensis Strel'nikova. Core 82, Ust'Manya, Severnaya Sos'va, Campanian. Note resemblance to Lower Cretaceous diatoms in mantle structure (see Harwood & Gersonde 1990). Single hollow process does not appear to be a rimoportula from interior view (not shown). Scale bar = $20 \mu m$.

Figs 39–41. Rhizosolenia (= Proboscidea) pokrovskajae (Jousé) Strelnikova. Pre-polar Urals, eastern slopes. R118 colln. Strelnikova, Upper Cretaceous.

Fig. 39. Fractured body of valve. Scale bar = $20 \ \mu m$.

Figs 40, 41. Tip of valves with linking apparatus. Scale bar = $2 \mu m$.

Figs 42-44. Biddulphia tuomeyi var. cretacea Jousé. Core 82, Ust'Manya, Severnaya Sos'va, Campanian.

Fig. 42. Central area with rimoportulae. Scale bar = $10 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 43. Elevation at pole with pseudocellus. Scale bar = $10 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 44. Valve exterior with four sulci, marginal ridge, deep mantle and two elevations. Scale bar = $20 \mu m$.



Figs 45–53. Upper Cretaceous diatoms.

Figs 45-47. Aulacodiscus pugnalis Hanna. Moreno Gulch, Fresno County, California. Maastrichtian.

Fig. 45. Exterior of frustule, valve face with four submarginal rimportulae extending as large hollow spines and complete set of girdle bands. Scale bar = $20 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 46. Valve interior with horse-shoe–shaped opening from rimoportula. Scale bar = 2 μ m.

Fig. 47. Break through valve face showing loculate areolae with bullulate walls. Scale bar = 2 μ m.

Figs 48, 49. Arachnoidiscus sp.

Fig. 48. Core 82, Ust'Manya, Severnaya Sos'va, Campanian. Valve interior with central ring of rimoportulae, primary and secondary costae extending toward valve centre. Scale bar = $20 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 49. Akita, Japan. Miocene. Showing exterior openings of rimoportulae and areolae occluded by vela. Scale bar = $2 \mu m$.

Figs 50, 51. 'Coscinodiscus' solidus Strelnikova. Core 82, Ust'Manya, Severnaya Sos'va, Upper Cretaceous.

Fig. 50. Exterior of fractured specimen. Scale bar = $20 \ \mu m$.

Fig. 51. Loculate areolae with cribra to exterior and foramina to interior. Scale bar = $2 \mu m$.

Figs 52, 53. *Strelnikovia antiqua* (Strelnikova) R. Ross & P.A. Sims. Core 82, Ust'Manya, Severnaya Sos'va, Campanian. Fig. 52. Two linked valves. Scale bar = 20 μm.

Fig. 53. Two valves linked by interlocking linking spines. Note pseudocelli at poles. Scale bar = 5 μ m.

of the flora had adapted to live as individuals rather than in colonies.

4.4. The evolution of pennate and pennate-like diatoms

One of the major changes in the Upper Cretaceous is the appearance of pennate diatoms, which are found first in the Campanian (75 Ma) (Figs 54-73). Molecular clock calculations support this data (Kooistra & Medlin 1996). Mann (1984) identified three main types of pattern centres in diatoms: (1) the annulus of centrics; (2) the plain, rib-like sternum of araphid pennates; and (3) the complex, laterally asymmetrical raphe-sternum of raphid pennates. Molecular data show unambiguously that diatoms with raphes evolved from pennate diatoms with simple sterna, and that the first pennate diatoms evolved from a lineage of bipolar centric diatoms (Fig. 2; Kooistra et al. 2003a; Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004), so that the sternum of araphid pennates either was transformed from, or replaced, an annulus (Mayama and Idei 2004). However, there is no substantial fossil record of the key evolutionary transitions from centric to pennate, and from araphid pennate to raphid pennate. Morphogenesis may give a clue and Mayama & Kuriyama (2002) have documented what appears to be the fusion of many annulus-like elements during valve formation in an araphid pennate. However, none of the basal lineages of araphid pennates have been investigated with respect to valve ontogeny.

The advantage of the sternum appears to be physical, distributing mechanical stress along elongate valves more efficiently than an annulus and its radiating ribs. It permits the formation of highly elongate but relatively lightly silicified frustules. It may be no accident that centric diatoms with very elongate valves - the thick-walled, cylindrical Gladius and Gladiopsis - became extinct not long after pennate diatoms (Sceptroneis Ehrenberg, Incisoria Hajós) first appear in the fossil record in the Upper Cretaceous (e.g. Hajós & Stradner 1975). However, two other neritic centric diatoms appear to fill the same ecological niche in the plankton, namely Pyxilla Greville, an unrelated and successful genus with very elongate and heavily silicified valves, which made its first appearance in the early Eocene (Homann 1991; Fenner 1994), and the much less heavily silicified Proboscia, also with elongate valves and already present in the Upper Cretaceous (and still extant today).

Within the bi- and multipolar centric diatoms of the Class Mediophyceae, several have modified pattern centres that prompt speculation about how the sternum may have evolved. In Papiliocellulus Hasle, von Stosch & Syvertsen (Cymatosirales), for example, there is a circular annulus at the centre of the elongate valve; however, instead of radiating ribs as in most other centric diatoms, the valve has a set of parallel ribs, formed by the repeated branching of just two of the ribs borne by the annulus (Round et al. 1990, pp. 310, 311); it is tempting to see these two dominant ribs as possible precursors to the sternum. In Odontella sinensis (Greville) Grunow (Pickett-Heaps et al. 1990, fig. 40e) and Attheya species (Round et al. 1990), on the other hand, a sternum-like structure is formed by modification of the annulus itself, which is so highly elongate that its sides almost fuse. However, none of these living diatoms are in any sense ancestral to the pennates and their

morphology must be regarded as providing interesting analogies, rather than having any direct phylogenetic significance.

Within the pennate diatoms, the sternum varies in width (it is particularly narrow in some forms, such as *Fragilariforma* D.M. Williams & Round or *Asterionella* Hassall, but wide in *Delphineis* G.W. Andrews or *Staurosirella* D.M. Williams & Round) and thickness (unthickened in e.g. *Tabellaria* Ehrenberg *ex* Kützing, internally prominent in *Podocystis* Bailey). At one or both poles, the sternum is often closely associated with a rimoportula (= labiate process). However, no significant evolutionary trends can yet be distinguished among araphid pennate diatoms in the organization of the sternum, rimoportula and ribs.

The first pennate diatoms to appear in the fossil record, for example *Sceptroneis* (Figs 54–56, 61–65) and *Incisoria* (Hajós & Stradner 1975), have a simple central sternum, uniseriate striae containing large pores, and rimoportulae positioned at one or both poles. Some have an apical pore field, which was presumably involved in mucilage secretion. These early pennate diatoms mostly belong to the Rhaphoneidaceae (*sensu* Round *et al.* 1990). *Rhaphoneis* itself is said to be present in Upper Cretaceous material (e.g. Strel'nikova 1974) and this genus is also among the first clade of pennate diatoms to diverge among the araphid diatoms in the rRNA tree, making the araphids paraphyletic (Fig. 2).

Some araphid pennate taxa are planktonic and colonial, whereas others are benthic, and the ancestral state is unclear. Extant members of the Rhaphoneidales are benthic, but the related *Asterionellopsis* Round *in* Round, R.M. Crawford & D.G. Mann is planktonic. The evolution of araphid pennate diatoms, some with highly elongate valves, must have had profound consequences for the ecology of benthic habitats, because of the ability of these organisms to colonize surfaces and cover them with a dense 'palisade' of cells, each attached at one end by a pad.

Mann (1984) noted the existence of a few other types of pattern centre in diatoms besides the three main ones (annulus, sternum and raphe-sternum). These include the pattern centres of *Ardissonea* De Notaris and its allies, *Toxarium* Bailey, *Psammodiscus* Round & D.G. Mann, the eunotioid diatoms (a raphid group: see section 5.5), and a few others. *Psammodiscus*, though it has circular valves like many centrics, appears not to have an annulus and Round & Mann (1980) and Mann (1984) suggested that it is in fact a pennate diatom related to *Rhaphoneis*, but with a highly reduced, boss-like sternum. The main evidence for this, besides the absence of an identifiable annulus, is the areola structure and occurrence of other *Rhaphoneis* relatives with reduced sterna. However, *Psammodiscus* has not yet been subjected to a molecular phylogenetic analysis.

Determining exactly which genera should be included in the araphid pennate group is problematic. For example, Round *et al.* (1990) placed the Plagiogrammaceae in the centric diatoms because, despite the presence of a sternum-like structure along the midline of the valve, there also are well-defined areas of pores resembling the ocelli of some biddulphioid centrics; furthermore, the circular central boss of *Plagiogramma* Greville and *Glyphodesmis* Greville could be plausibly interpreted (in the absence of ontogenetic data) as reflecting the presence of an annulus. However, Kooistra *et al.* (2004) have



Figs 54-60. Araphid pennate diatoms from Upper Cretaceous and Palaeocene deposits.

- Figs 54–56. Sceptroneis sp. Upper Cretaceous Canadian Arctic. (Kitchell & Clark) F1-437-3C.
 - Fig. 54. Badly eroded specimen, valve interior. Scale bar = 5 μ m.
 - Fig. 55. Foot pole with rimoportula. Scale bar = 1 μ m.
 - Fig. 56. Head pole with area of fine pores and rimoportula. Scale bar = 1 μ m.
- Figs 57-60. Palaeocene specimens from Inza an Volga, Hustedt coll. E.8279.
- Figs 57–59. Unknown genera.
- Fig. 57. Note pore fields at both poles. Scale bar = 5 μ m.
- Fig. 58. Valve interior, fractured specimen with pore field and rimoportula at pole. Scale bar = 2 μ m.
- Fig. 59. Exterior of frustule with attached girdle bands. Scale bar = 3 μ m.
- Fig. 60. Grunowiella sp., with pore field at one pole. Scale bar = 5 μ m.

used 18S rDNA data to show that at least one genus of Plagiogrammaceae is in fact an araphid pennate diatom.

In contrast, Round *et al.* (1990) classified *Ardissonea, Climacosphenia* Ehrenberg and *Synedrosphenia* (H. Peragallo) Azpeitia Moros as araphid pennates. All of these are large, highly elongate diatoms, but there is no central sternum, despite their 'pennate'-like appearance. Instead, there appear to be two lateral sterna, subtending transapical ribs and striae on either side. In *Climacosphenia* and *Synedrosphenia*, the lateral sterna appear to be continuous with each other at least at one



Figs 61-67. Upper Cretaceous pennate and pennate-like diatoms.

- Figs 61-65. 'Sceptroneis dimorpha' Strelnikova, Upper Cretaceous, Canadian Arctic (Kitchell & Clark) F1-437-3C.
- Fig. 61. Valve exterior with pore field surrounded by raised hyaline area. Scale bar = 5 μ m.
- Fig. 62. Detail pore field at head pole. Occasional pores piercing valve face in rows. Scale bar = 1 μ m.
- Fig. 63. Valve interior with sternum and lines of pores. Scale bar = $2 \mu m$.
- Fig. 64. Foot pole with single rimoportula. Scale bar = 1 μ m.
- Fig. 65. Interior view of pore field at head pole. Scale bar = 1 μ m.
- Figs 66, 67. Toxarium sp., Moreno Gulch, California. Maastrichtian.
 - Fig. 66. Valve exterior of linked frustules with scattered pores over valve face. Scale bar = 5 μ m.

Fig. 67. Valve interior, note numerous girdle bands and no pore field or rimoportula at pole. Scale bar = 5 μ m.

pole, so that together they may form an elongate annulus. This, however, differs from the normal centric annulus in that it subtends ribs and striae inwardly as well as outwardly. Mann (1984) therefore referred to it as a 'bifacial annulus'. So far, no sequences are available from *Ardissonea, Climacosphenia* and *Synedrosphenia*, but 18S rDNA data have been obtained for *Toxarium*, which can be tentatively allocated to

the same group as *Ardissonea*, on the basis of a similar mechanism of motility and girdle structure, the absence of rimoportulae, and absence of an axial sternum (Kooistra *et al.* 2003b). The 18S rDNA data indicate that *Toxarium* is not a pennate diatom but belongs near *Lampriscus* in the bi/multipolar centrics (Fig. 2; Kooistra *et al.* 2003a, b). If this is correct, and if *Toxarium* is indeed closely related to *Ardissonea*,



Figs 68-73. Bipolar, pennate-like diatoms.

Figs 68–71. 'Anaulus' sp. superficially resembling a tabellarioid pennate diatom. Maastrichtian, Upper Cretaceous: Moreno Gulch, California. Fig. 68. Frustule with girdle bands. Scale bar = $10 \mu m$.

- Fig. 69. Central area with two internal costae and scattered pores. Scale bar = 5 μ m.
- Fig. 70. Pole without pseudocellus. Scale bar = 5 μ m.
- Fig. 71. Pole with pseudocellus. Scale bar = 5 μ m.
- Figs 72, 73. Drepanotheca sp., Oligocene: Vema Cruise 18, Core 112, South Atlantic.
- Fig. 72. Valve exterior with scattered pores and no pore field at poles. Scale bar = $30 \ \mu m$.
- Fig. 73. Central area with exterior opening from single rimoportula. Scale bar = 5 μ m.

then the two lateral sterna (bifacial annuli) of Ardissonea, Climacosphenia and Synedrosphenia must be nonhomologous with the sterna of true araphid diatoms, though they might fulfil the same mechanical function, allowing the formation of highly elongate valves (some species in all of these genera produce valves over 500 µm long, and Climacosphenia cells are some of the largest of all bipolar diatoms, being up to 1.3 mm long: Hustedt 1931, 1932). Kooistra et al. (2003b) proposed that the araphid diatoms should be characterized by the 'possession of a single sternum, subtending parallel ribs and intervening rows of pores; apical (rarely subcentral or axial) labiate processes, or both'. Most araphids also have distinct pore fields (pseudocellus) at one pole or both, but these are lacking in the Ardissonea-Toxarium group. Diatoms with bifacial annuli are present in the late Eocene at Oamaru (e.g. Schrader 1969, pl. 10, fig. 5), but their earlier fossil history is unclear. There is a chain-forming, elongate pennate-like diatom with scattered poroid areolae in the Maastrichtian (Upper Cretaceous) of the Moreno Shale (Figs 66, 67), which could possibly be a species of Toxarium.

Chambers (1966) lists 21 araphid pennate species as present in the Campanian/Maastrichtian (Upper Cretaceous), 11 of which were illustrated and placed in a genus but were given no description or specific name. Since then, an additional four species have been identified by Tapia (1996). These species have been placed in the genera Sceptroneis (12 sp.), Incisoria (5 sp.), Rhaphoneis (7 sp.) and Grunowiella Schmitz in Engler & Prantl (1 sp.). All have a central sternum, and a rimoportula and a pore field at one or both poles. All these genera are simple araphid genera whose low morphological diversity and shared features might suggest they had evolved recently, probably in the poorly documented time between the Albian and Santonian, specimens from which are unlikely to be recovered in sieved pyritized gatherings. Araphid pennates can be abundant in Upper Cretaceous deposits. Harwood (1988) gave percent abundances of Incisoria, possibly a benthic and epiphytic genus, of as much as 4% for I. inordinata Hajós, 3% for I. lanceolata Hajós & Stradner and 2% for Incisoria 'sp. A'.

Also present in the Upper Cretaceous gatherings are some bipolar diatoms whose affinities to centric and pennate line-



Fig. 74. Phylogenetic reconstruction of the Thalassiosirales, showing the major clades of the order: Bayesian analysis of the ARB database of 9000 small subunit (SSU) ribosomal RNA (rRNA) sequences. Redrawn from Kaczmarska *et al.* (2006).

ages are unclear. They have a bipolar, highly elongate shape but lack a single, discrete sternum, and we list them here to indicate the diversity of pennate-like diatoms already present by the end of the Mesozoic. They include the following species: Tubularia (= Tubulariella) antarctica Hajós, Longinata acuta Hajós, Helminthopsis (= Helminthopsidella) wornardti Hajós, Eunotogramma producta var. recta Long, Fuge & Smith (Long et al. 1946; Harwood 1988) and Drepanotheca bivittata (Grunow & Pantocsek in Pantocsek) Schrader (= Eunotogramma bivittata Grunow & Pantocsek in Pantocsek and E. margino-punctatum Long, Fuge & Smith). Included in our illustrations (Figs 68-71) is an undescribed Tabellaria-like diatom (lacking a sternum) from the Maastrichtian of the Moreno Shale, which has also been figured by Chambers (1996) from the Maastrichtian of DSDP site 216-30-04-27/29. Chambers placed it in the centric genus Anaulus Ehrenberg and both this diatom and Drepanotheca (Figs 68-73) are indeed probably centric diatoms related to Anaulus or Eunotogramma. However, the generic limits and affinities of these genera require examination and probable revision.

5. DIATOM EVOLUTION IN THE CENOZOIC

5.1. New habitats after the Cretaceous

The Cenozoic (c. 66–16 Ma) has been a time of major change in the global climate, the distribution of the continents, land surface area and oceanic basins. Throughout the Cenozoic, plate tectonic processes have both destroyed pathways of oceanic circulation and created new ones, and changes in temperature have caused major flooding events and recessions (Pickering 2003). Commencing at 37 Ma (late Eocene), there was a transition from the generally warm climate of the Cretaceous, Palaeocene and early Eocene, with ice-free oceans, to an Oligocene climate with continental ice-sheets and/or glaciers reaching sea level (Barron & Baldauf 1989; Miller et al. 1991). By the late Miocene to Pliocene (c. 23-5 Ma), permanent Antarctic ice-sheets had been established, accompanied by strong cooling (Barron & Baldauf 1995). These global changes are correlated with a decline in many old genera and families of diatoms and the appearance of many new ones, adapting to the new environments, both on land and in the seas.

No major extinction events occurred during the Cenozoic, except at the beginning, at the Cretaceous-Tertiary (K-T) boundary (c. 65 Ma), when a distinct drop in global temperature (by as much as 5°C according to Frakes 1986) was associated with a sudden drop in eustatic sea levels and the loss of many epicontinental seas created during the Turonian-Campanian. Extinction of diatom taxa occurred at the K-T boundary, but this was not as savage as in many other groups of marine biota. Perhaps the ability to form dormant resting stages is more widespread in diatoms than is currently thought (available data were reviewed by McQuoid & Hobson 1996), enabling taxa to withstand long periods of unfavourable conditions. Harwood (1988) estimated that 84% of the species survived in a section from the Sobral Formation (Campbell Plateau, N. Seymour Island, Antarctica), but Chambers (1996), using a wider selection of material, estimated it to be far less, at 37%. The majority of K-T survivors were indeed

neritic species, capable of forming resting spores. Benthic species suffered a severe decline in numbers that lasted through the early Palaeocene (c. 65-60 Ma), during which very few new diatom species evolved (Strel'nikova 1990). Hollis et al. (1995, 2003), however, found that siliceous phytoplankton thrived in the earliest Palaeocene of Marlborough, New Zealand, where there was no radiolarian mass extinction but instead an abrupt increase in the number of diatoms relative to radiolarians, causing persistent plankton blooms over the first million years of the Palaeocene. They attributed this to enhanced upwelling or a more efficient recycling of nutrients. MacLeod & Huber (1996) suggested that the cooler climate, beginning in the mid- to late Maastrichtian, led to a reorganization of deep water circulation, whereas Haq et al. (1987) believed that the rapid sea-level fall at the end of the Upper Cretaceous was followed by similarly rapid transgressions, creating an expanded zone of relatively shallow waters and hence a more efficient recycling of nutrients. Sea temperatures rose from the mid-Palaeocene (MacLeod et al. 2003) and there is evidence that, at the end of the Palaeocene into the early Eocene (c. 55-50 Ma), temperatures rose further still, causing a steady rise in eustatic sea levels, which, in turn, led to the creation of many inland seas. It was in and just after this period that a large number of new taxa evolved, especially benthic species, in the shallow waters of the inland seas.

Several major events and innovations seem to have occurred during Cenozoic diatom evolution: the invasion of freshwaters, the evolution of the Thalassiosirales, and the appearance of rapidly motile diatoms, following evolution of the raphe system. We will deal with each of these in turn, after reviewing changes in the marine flora of centric diatoms and araphid pennates.

5.2. Development of the marine centric and araphid pennate flora

In the Cenozoic, the fossil record suggests that diatoms moved from shallow shelf waters into deeper oceanic waters. However, there can be a problem in interpretation throughout the marine record, because of the loss of oceanic crust through subduction. Possibly, the increased representation of pelagic species in Cenozoic material is only an artefact of tectonic processes. Fenner (1991) described Palaeocene (c. 65-55 Ma) assemblages from four sites, three in the Antarctic and one in the Indian Ocean, in which resting spores are rare and chainforming species of the genera Hemiaulus, Sheshukovia Gleser, Medlinia Sims (then listed as Triceratium Ehrenberg), Stephanopyxis, Sceptroneis, Grunowiella and Trochosira are dominant. Fenner also recorded Chaetoceros spp., possibly the first recorded appearance of this genus, which she regarded as an indicator of oceanic environments. Her sites were probably in upwelling areas. In the early Eocene (c. 55-50Ma), Homann (1991) and Fenner (1994) recorded the genera Stictodiscus Greville, Craspedodiscus Ehrenberg, Rutilaria Greville, Cymatosira Grunow, Pseudotriceratium Grunow, Pseudostictodiscus Grunow ex A. Schmidt and Pyxilla from the Fur Formation, Denmark; some forms were free-living and others chain-forming, and most probably lived in the meroplankton. Of interest is Fenner's record of Aulacoseira granulata (Ehrenberg) Simonsen and a possible Meridion C. Agardh, both earlier records than their first appearance in the fossil freshwater flora.

Late in the early Eocene, the centric family Asterolampraceae appeared (Gombos 1980), apparently evolving from a member of the Coscinodiscaceae; like the Coscinodiscaceae, Asterolampraceae are marine phytoplankton. The function of their conspicuous tubular rays is unknown; possibly they have a role in flotation, or they may be chambers for symbiotic organisms. By the middle Eocene (c. 50–45 Ma), the number of diatom species had reached a peak; it appeared to be a time of experimental development and the middle to late Eocene saw an explosive diversification, during which many bizarre genera evolved (Gombos 1980), many of them monospecific, e.g. *Tubaeformis* Gombos.

The Palaeocene and Eocene (c. 65-40 Ma) marine floras were dominated by relatively robust centric genera, e.g. Hemiaulus, Trinacria Heiberg, Sheshukovia, Triceratium, Stephanopyxis and Pyxilla. By the end of the Eocene and the early Oligocene, however, many features of the Upper Cretaceous and early Palaeocene (c. 60-35 Ma) floras had disappeared (e.g. Trinacria at the end of the Eocene and Pyxilla by the end of the Oligcene, Jousé 1978), and in the colder waters of the early Oligocene, these genera were gradually replaced by smaller and more delicate genera of centrics and araphid pennates, e.g. Coscinodiscus, Cestodiscus Greville, Azpeitia Peragallo in Tempère & H. Peragallo, Thalassiosira, Cavitatus D.M. Williams (formerly in Synedra Ehrenberg), and Thalassionema (H. Peragallo & Peragallo) Peragallo. The more rounded outlines of early Cenozoic diatoms were replaced by more elongate forms (Barron & Baldauf 1995), both in the ocean and in neritic environments.

In the middle–late Eocene, new genera of bipolar centrics evolved. Most species were short-lived and some are used as stratigraphic marker species. The new genera included *Bogorovia* Jousé, *Cladogramma* Ehrenberg, *Clavularia* Greville, *Clavicula* Pantocsek, *Cussia* Schrader, *Helminthopsidella* Silva, *Lamella* Brun, *Leptoscaphos* Schrader, *Leudugeria* Tempère *ex* Van Heurck and *Rossiella* Desikachary & Maheshwari, and new species of other genera also appeared, e.g. of *Tubulariella* Silva (first recorded in the Maastrichtian, see Schrader 1969). The pennate-like genera *Ardissonea* De Notaris and *Toxarium* Bailey, both placed under *Synedra*, also made their first appearance (see section 4.4).

After the Cretaceous-Tertiary extinction, the number of true araphid taxa and their significance in the neritic flora (meroplankton) increased significantly. Chambers (1996) recorded a further 17 species in the Danian (Palaeocene-early Eocene) and Strel'nikova (1990) estimated that araphids formed as much as 4% of the total species numbers in the Palaeocene. Sceptroneis and Grunowiella were the most common araphid diatoms in the meroplankton and possibly in oceanic plankton. Fenner (1991) noted the presence of Grunowiella palaeoceanica Jousé and related species in considerable numbers in faecal pellets in the Palaeocene, indicating very fertile, possibly upwelling conditions in the South Atlantic and Indian Oceans. The plankton at this time was dominated by chain-forming species. Grunowiella, in particular, flourished in the Palaeocene, increasing from one species in the Cretaceous to five species (8 taxa) in the Danian. A single species could form 2% or more of the total diatom population.

Gombos (1976) recorded Cavitatus (Synedra) jouseana

(Sheshukova) D.M. Williams 'var. B' as common and confined to the late Palaeocene, and Homann (1991) identified the benthic genera Opephora Petit and Rhaphoneis, (probably misidentified because it is not included in Fenner's 1994 survey of the same formation) as present in the early Eocene of the Fur Formation. Thus there were only four or five araphid genera recorded from the Upper Cretaceous to early Eocene (c. 70-55 Ma) and it was not until the late Eocene that additional araphid genera appeared. However, by the Oligocene (c. 38-22 Ma), Strel'nikova (1990) estimates that the araphid genera formed 33% of the total population. It has to be remembered, however, that very few depositional sites have been found in the early and middle Palaeocene, most of these being deep-sea cores, which could distort figures, particularly of benthic species. It was a period of relative stability and low evolutionary rates (Strel'nikova 1990), which changed when temperatures rose in the middle Palaeocene, leading to a rise in the eustatic sea levels and major flooding events in the late Palaeocene-early Eocene, when vast inland areas were inundated. This event lasted some six million years and in the middle Eocene (c. 50-45 Ma) a distinct change in the species composition took place. At least five new araphid genera appeared in the late Eocene (c. 45-40 Ma) (see Desikachary & Sreelatha 1989; Edwards 1991): Entopyla Ehrenberg, Grammatophora Ehrenberg, Plagiogramma, Rhabdonema Kützing and Fragilaria Lyngbye. All, except possibly some Fragilaria, are and probably were benthic, epiphytic genera. All of the genera (except Fragilaria) have septa or other bar- or partition-like thickenings of valve or girdle (apparently for strengthening the frustules) and fall into a monophyletic clade (Fig. 2). Some of the earlier araphid genera were meroplanktonic (neritic), and possibly oceanic, but some - Rhaphoneis, Opephora (1 species) and Sceptroneis - were benthic. All the new araphid genera have an elaborate girdle band structure, so that the girdle axis became considerably broader than that of the valvar axis, and often form flat ribbon-like or zig-zag chains that lift the cells well above the substratum. We speculate that this enabled taxa with narrow bipolar valve faces to present a greater area for photosynthesis in benthic niches. These diatoms filled a niche previously unoccupied by araphids and all appear to evolve very slowly, with many of the species looking remarkably like some living today. Similar diatoms (e.g. Tetracyclus Ralfs, Tabellaria), again with septa, evolved later, independently, in freshwater environments.

In the plankton, changes took place as cooler conditions arrived in the later Cenozoic. Incisoria and Grunowiella appear to have become extinct in the early Eocene, but loose generic definitions, difficulties in identifying genera with so few characters, erosion of specimens and changes in nomenclature may mean that these genera persisted longer. For example, Schrader & Fenner (1976) reported on the Cenozoic diatoms of the Norwegian Sea, describing and illustrating many araphids (53 species in 9 genera) that possessed very few diagnostic characters and were placed in genera that would now be disputed by some; in contrast, Dzinoridze et al. (1976) illustrated only nine araphid species from the same cores. Similar discrepancies can be seen between Homann's (1991) account of the araphids in the Fur Formation and Fenner's account of the same deposits (Fenner 1994). In contrast to Incisoria and Grunowiella, another older genus, Sceptroneis, flourished, increasing to at least 18 species in the late

Eocene–Oligocene before decreasing from the Miocene onwards, until possibly only one species survives today.

Cavitatus jouseana became frequent to dominant in the plankton of the Oligocene and Miocene (Akiba *et al.* 1993), whereas the important needle-like planktonic genera of modern seas, *Thalassiothrix* Cleve & Grunow and *Thalassionema* (which constitute a monophyletic clade in molecular analyses: Fig. 2), first appeared in the early Oligocene and early Miocene, respectively, and then formed a major constituent of the marine phytoplankton. There was a concomitant increase in species numbers of the centric genera *Rhizosolenia, Chaetoceros* and members of the Hemidiscaceae (Fenner 1985).

There is a good Cenozoic record of the Rhaphoneidaceae and this was analysed in a series of papers by Andrews (1970, 1975, 1977, 1986, 1990; Andrews & Stoelzel 1982; Andrews & Rivera 1987). The Rhaphoneidaceae is one of the earliest araphid pennate families, recorded first in the Upper Cretaceous, and it is also one of the most basal araphid pennate lineages according to rDNA data (Fig. 2). In a revision of the genus Rhaphoneis, Andrews (1975) considered that the genus was present from the late Eocene (c. 45-40 Ma) onwards and flourished in the late early Miocene until the late Miocene, with 20 species identified within this period. However, as noted earlier, Strel'nikova (1994) lists Rhaphoneis as being present already in the Cretaceous, but the specimens illustrated (pl. 53, figs 5-7) are oval to ovoid in outline with no central sternum but with a large central area, radial rows of areolae and no restricted areas of pore fields. Andrews (1975) removed two species from Rhaphoneis and a single species from Dimeregramma Ralfs in Pritchard, and, together with several new species, erected the genus Delphineis (Andrews 1977, 1986), the earliest record of which is in the early Miocene (c. 20-15 Ma). In 1990 Andrews removed further fossil species from Rhaphoneis, creating the genus Lancineis, each species of which has a restricted stratigraphic range, from the early Miocene to the Pliocene. Dickensoniaforma (Scherer 1997), another genus placed in the Rhaphoneidaceae (sensu Round et al. 1990) is restricted to the Oligocene, possibly only in the Norwegian Sea.

Perissonoë (Andrews & Stoelzel 1982) is found from the middle Miocene onwards (*c.* 15 Ma \rightarrow) and has radial symmetry, a triangular or quadrangular valve face, and three or four sterna; otherwise it has morphological features similar to *Rhaphoneis* and *Delphineis*. Living genera described as belonging to the Rhaphoneidaceae are *Adoneis* Andrews & Rivera (1987), *Diplomenora* Blazé (1984), *Neodelphineis* Takano (1982) and *Psammodiscus* (Round & Mann 1980). All these genera have narrow mantles, areolae with rotae and rimoportulae. All occur in shallow marine waters, either free or attached to the substratum. *Delphineis* species, however, have adapted to brackish waters, shallow shelf waters and possibly ranged into deeper waters.

The evolution of marine Fragilariophyceae (*sensu* Round *et al.* 1990) remained almost static throughout the late Eocene to the end of the Miocene and, in molecular analyses, are distinct from their freshwater counterparts (Fig. 2). Long-term stasis in ecological assemblages is increasingly being inferred from fossil records (DiMichele *et al.* 2004). In the Oligocene, *Pseudodimerogramma* Schrader (in Schrader & Fenner 1976) and *Ikebea* S. Komura (in Barron and Mahood 1993) made their first appearance and in the Miocene, *Dimeregramma*

Ralfs (in Schrader & Fenner 1976; Reháková 1980) and *Podocystis* J.W. Bailey (Reinhold 1937). In more recent times, a fossil species *Licmophora* C. Agardh has been identified by D.M. Williams (personal communication). Both *Licmophora* and *Podocystis* are epiphytic or epilithic and are attached by means of a substantial mucilage stalk (which sometimes is branched), an adaptation that enables taxa to use space and light away from the substratum (host) to which they are attached.

5.3. Invasion of freshwaters

Following the Cretaceous flooding events, sea levels rose again in the Palaeogene (in the early Palaeocene, early Eocene, and early Oligocene) flooding inland areas, freshwaters, and numerous inland seas. It appears that species of several recently evolved lineages of araphid and raphid pennate diatoms, and later also members of the Hemidiscaceae (Actinocyclus Ehrenberg), adapted to lower salinity in inland waters. It is noticeable that the older centric diatom lineages failed to adapt (e.g. Strel'nikova & Lastivka 1999), apart from Anaulus (P.A. Sims, unpublished observations) and 'Archepyrgus', if the freshwater Aulacoseira evolved from the Lower Cretaceous marine genus Archepyrgus, as suggested by Harwood & Nikolaev (1995). The distribution of genera of extant diatoms between marine, brackish and freshwaters has been analysed by Mann (1999a) and shows clear evidence of systematic bias in the ability of lineages to transgress the marinefreshwater boundary.

Most diatomists believe the freshwater diatom flora evolved from marine taxa invading freshwaters, largely because the records of fossil marine diatoms extend some 65 Ma before those of the freshwater (VanLandingham 1967; Skabichevskij 1981; Krebs 1994; Bradbury & Krebs 1995; Mann 1999a; Strel'nikova & Lastivka 1999). VanLandingham (1967) suggested that there are only a few genera that are known to have evolved wholly in nonmarine waters, e.g. *Neidium* Pfitzer. Bradbury & Krebs (1995) considered that 'the evolution of marine diatoms may have played a crucial role in lacustrine diatom evolution by supplying new taxa with the potential of colonising continental environments'. Examples given were those of *Actinocyclus* and *Thalassiosira*, both originating in the marine environment and experiencing a burst of species radiation before moving into freshwaters.

There were six major flooding events in the period between the Upper Cretaceous and the Pliocene. Sea levels were particularly high from the Turonian until the Campanian (91-75 Ma), very high in the Danian (c. 66–22 Ma) for c. 4 my, and in the early Eocene (c. 55-50 Ma) for c. 6 my. In the early Oligocene (c. 40–35 Ma) the period of flooding lasted for c. 5 my, the middle Miocene (c. 18-13 Ma) for c. 3 my and in the Pliocene (c. 5.3-1.8 Ma) for c. 1.5 my (Haq et al. 1987). Smith et al. (1994) supply maps that show the areas inundated. All of these events must have had a considerable effect on diatom evolution, creating and then destroying large numbers of freshwater bodies. Strel'nikova (1990) estimated that in every million years, 1.6 genera were created in the period from the Upper Cretaceous to the end of the Oligocene. Theriot (1992) showed that new diatom species can evolve in as little as 4000 years and so it is reasonable to assume that there would be plenty of time for adaptation and speciation during flooding episodes, when presumably salinity levels varied from marine to brackish to freshwater, with creation also of hypersaline environments in arid zones.

Freshwaters provide a chemically diverse habitat for diatoms, with greater variation in nutrient concentrations, major and minor elements, salinity, temperature and pH than in the sea; a less turbulent environment for planktonic diatoms (e.g. Thalassiosirales in lakes, pools, etc) but great variation in flow rate in lotic habitats; and many new niches for raphid and araphid diatoms to colonize (Round & Sims 1981; Bradbury & Krebs 1995; Mann 1999a). Diatom species numbers expanded rapidly in the new habitats and the first lineages to invade freshwater might have been augmented by others during subsequent flooding events. However, many freshwater habitats are unlikely to leave a fossil record, because conditions are unsuitable for preservation. Such habitats include many favoured by raphid taxa, such as the muddy shorelines of lakes and rivers, springs, temporary pools, exposed wet rocks, amongst bryophytes, and in terrestrial soils; in fact, freshwater diatoms are found in virtually all environments that combine moisture and sunlight (Patrick 1948), but almost all nonmarine deposits of fossil diatoms are lacustrine.

In a review of continental localities, Bradbury & Krebs (1995) state that the earliest nonmarine deposits are Eocene in age and, until recently, the earliest known freshwater diatoms were those recorded from the mid-Eocene (c. 50-45 Ma) Dewey Beds of Idaho (Leonard & Marvin 1982). However, Chacón-Baca et al. (2002) have reported finding fossils in carbonaceous cherts in Mexico, dated to c. 70 Ma, which suggests that freshwater, or at least brackish pennate diatoms, were already present in the Upper Cretaceous. The micrographs of Chacón-Baca et al. do not allow confident identification, because no detail is visible in the frustules. The forms present include chain-forming organisms that resemble centric and araphid pennate diatoms. Two micrographs (Chacón-Baca et al. 2002, fig. 3A, B) show solitary lanceolate cells that, out of context and hence without a priori bias, many phycologists would happily identify as raphid diatoms allied to Navicula Bory or Sellaphora, although no other raphid diatom fossils are known before the Palaeocene (see section 5.5). The araphid-like organisms in the sample resemble Tetracyclus. The modern diatoms that these fossil diatoms resemble evolved relatively late in the molecular tree (Fig. 2). Thus, if this deposit is dated correctly, there would be a major conflict between molecular phylogeny and the fossil record. However, the lack of frustule detail makes it impossible to identify the organisms precisely and they could represent extinct lineages, any resemblance to modern taxa reflecting parallel evolution. Furthermore, one of us (P.A.S.) doubts that the age of the fossil freshwater material is correct or that contamination from modern flora has not occurred, because there is so little change in the morphological features of the genera illustrated - if one accepts the identifications given by Chacón-Baca et al. whereas, during the last 70 million years, the features of fossil marine centric diatoms have changed considerably (cf. our previous comments on Proterozoic diatom records).

In a nonmarine, late Eocene (c. 45–40 Ma) deposit in Wyoming, Lohman & Andrews (1968) identified seven species of centric diatoms, including six *Aulacoseira* species and seven araphid pennates (5 *Fragilaria* species and 2 of a new genus, *Ambistria* Lohman & G.W. Andrews). In addition,

there are 20 species of raphid diatoms, including 13 Pinnularia Ehrenberg, 3 Stauroneis Ehrenberg, 2 Nitzschia, 2 Navicula and 1 Anomoeoneis Pfitzer species. The two 'Navicula' species will need to be reallocated to other genera, because they do not correspond to Navicula sensu stricto (Round et al. 1990), and one of the Nitzschia species belongs to the 'Tryblionella' group, recognized as a separate genus by Round et al. (1990). On the whole, the Wyoming assemblage has a very 'modern' appearance, suggesting a period of prior evolution of raphid diatoms in freshwaters. Among the centric diatoms in the Wyoming deposit are a species of Anaulus (this genus is present in the Cretaceous, but then it is marine) and six species of Melosira (= Aulacoseira), consistent with the suggestion of Gersonde & Harwood (1990) that Aulacoseira could have evolved from the Lower Cretaceous Archepyrgus Gersonde & Harwood. Further evidence for this line is provided by Ambwani et al. (2003) and Wolfe & Edlund (2005) who have recorded members of the Aulacoseiraceae from the nonmarine sediments of the uppermost Upper Cretaceous of India and the Middle Eocene of Canada, respectively. One might speculate that Anaulus and Archepyrgus could have migrated into freshwater some time between the Turonian and the Campanian when the eustatic sea levels were very high and inland seas had formed. This was also a period of explosive radiation and evolutionary change (Tapia 1996).

Krebs (1994) and Bradbury & Krebs (1995) defined four distinct communities in the fossil freshwater plankton of temperate lakes in North America, beginning with an Aulacoseira-pennate (e.g. Fragilaria) dominance in the Eocene-Oligocene, followed by Actinocyclus-Thalassiosira-Aulacoseira dominance in the early to middle Miocene. After that was a flora dominated by Mesodictyon-Cyclotella-Aulacoseira in the late Miocene and lastly Stephanodiscus-Cyclotella-Cyclostephanos-Aulacoseira dominance in the Pliocene-Holocene (c. 5-0.1 Ma). VanLandingham (1967) found a species of Stephanodiscus Ehrenberg earlier, in a Miocene flora. Several species of Actinocyclus persisted in nonmarine floras until the late Miocene (c. 10 Ma), possibly later, and Actinocyclus normanii f. subsalsa (Juhlin-Dannfeldt) Hustedt is present in today's fresh- to brackish waters (Hasle 1977). Records show, however, that species of Actinocyclus first appeared in the marine flora of the late Eocene of Oamaru (c. 45-40 Ma) (Desikachary & Sreelatha 1989; Edwards 1991), where there are also two marine Cyclotella (Kützing) Brébisson species and one species of Cyclostephanos Round in Theriot, Håkansson, Kociolek, Round & Stoermer recorded in their own material by Desikachary & Sreelatha (1989). Thus, marine Actinocyclus, Thalassiosira, Cyclotella and Cyclostephanos probably appeared in the fossil record before their freshwater counterparts, assuming that the identifications and sources of material are correct.

Very little attention has been paid to the araphid pennate diatoms of freshwater (nonmarine) fossil localities, perhaps because difficulties in identification have made them of little use to stratigraphers or ecologists. Purely taxonomic studies are few. As mentioned previously, Lohman & Andrews (1968) identified five species of *Fragilaria* and two species of a new araphid genus *Ambistria* from the late Eocene nonmarine diatoms from the Beaver Divide, Wyoming, and a new species of *Anaulus* that they compared to and distinguished from *Tetracyclus*. One new species of *Tetracyclus*, two of *Tabellaria*,

one of *Fragilaria* (and another new species of *Anaulus*) were described by Lupkina & Dolmatova (1975) from Kamchatka in the late Eocene to Oligocene of the Cape Astronomicheskiy Formation. They also list the araphid genera *Meridion, Diatoma* Bory, *Hannaea* R.M. Patrick *in* R.M. Patrick & Reimer (as *Ceratoneis*), and *Synedra* (?). Of the 82 species listed, members of the Fragilariophyceae dominate.

Skabichevskij (1981) believed that representatives of the Fragilariophyceae crossed the border between the sea and continental waters repeatedly, but Mann's (1999a) analysis suggests, on the contrary, that this is a most difficult 'rubicon' for the araphids to cross, relative to the raphid diatoms (see also Krebs 1994). However, Patrick & Reimer (1966) noted that estimates of the number of endemic araphid species ranging from 10 to 30% and, in some large lakes up to 60%. Mann speculated that the reason why it was easier for the raphids to move into freshwater might be because proper functioning of the raphe may require well-developed homoeostatic mechanisms for maintaining turgor at a particular level. However, the fragilarioids were apparently the most successful group in nonmarine middle Eocene-Oligocene environments. Molecular analysis of the araphids shows that the clades within the groups primarily are defined by habitat (freshwater vs marine) coupled with morphological features (Jung & Medlin, unpublished observations; Kooistra et al 2004; Medlin and Kaczmarska 2004; see also Fig. 2). Recent taxonomic studies of freshwater araphid genera include those on Diatoma and Meridion (Williams 1985), on Synedra (Williams 1986; Williams & Round 1986), on Fragilaria (Williams & Round 1987; Morales 2001; Morales et al. 2001) and on Asterionella (Körner 1970; Pappas & Stoermer 2001).

Among other published records, VanLandingham (1985) found *Opephora* in the Early Late Miocene, whereas Reháková (1980) illustrated *Fragilariaforma costatum* (Reháková) Williams (recorded as *Diatoma costatum* Z. Reháková) and *Staurosirella* Williams and Round (recorded as *Fragilaria*) from the Miocene of Czechoslovakia. Hajós (1968) illustrated species of *Staurosira* Petit & Pelletan and *Ctenophora* (Grun.) Williams and Round (recorded as *Fragilaria* and *Synedra*, respectively) from brackish sites from the Miocene of Hungary and Schrader & Gersonde (1978) identified *Asterionella japonica* Cleve [= *Asterionellopsis glacialis* Castracane (Round)] from late Miocene (Messinian, 6.5–5.3 Ma) brackish water sites in the Mediterranean at Deep Sea Drilling Project sites 124 and 374, where it formed 61.5% of the total population at site 374.

Many of the taxa identified from nonmarine sites are found living today and the majority of the araphid genera are already present by the late Miocene, with the genus *Tetracyclus* having a particularly good fossil record. The taxonomy and biogeography of *Tetracyclus* have been studied extensively (for earlier publications, see Williams 1996; also Williams *et al.* 2002; Williams 2003), with many fossil species showing interesting, restricted patterns of distribution, e.g. around the Pacific rim (Williams 1996). According to D. W. Williams (personal communication), fossil species of *Tetracyclus* have been found mostly in freshwater sites but occasionally in brackish.

5.4. The Thalassiosirales

Clade 2a, the class Mediophyceae, contains the important planktonic order Thalassiosirales, whose key morphological synapomorphy is the fultoportula (strutted process). This order has been placed in molecular Clade 2a consistently by all molecular analyses (Ehara *et al.* 2000; Medlin *et al.* 2004; Sörhannus *et al.* 1995; Fox & Sörhannus 2004). Despite this, the Thalassiosirales possesses only a few of the morphological features that unify the new class to which it belongs. It does contain perinuclear Golgi bodies and species often possess structures in the valve centre, like many other Clade 2a centrics. However, it possesses the relatively simple, scaly auxospores and isodiametric auxospore development that are more characteristic of Clade 1 (Kaczmarska *et al.* 2001) and it possesses a pyrenoid structure that sets it apart from other Clade 2a diatoms, but also from Clade 1 taxa (Schmid 2001).

In other members of the Mediophyceae (Clade 2a), any structure present centrally, within the annulus, is a rimoportula (= labiate process) but any central structures in the Thalassiosirales are fultoportulae (strutted processes); if a labiate process is located centrally, it usually is subcentral. Fultoportulae are also present in a ring around the valve mantle and sometimes also elsewhere. In molecular analysis, the sister group of the Thalassiosirales has consistently been the Lithodesmiales, when members of this order have been included (Sörhannus et al. 1995; Ehara et al. 2000; Fox & Sörhannus 2004; Medlin et al. 2004). Removal of the Thalassiosirales to the radial centrics leads to a less robust tree (Medlin et al. 1996a). The Lithodesmiales possess a central rimoportula, although this has a characteristic bilabiate internal morphology, which one easily can envisage having been formed by the closure of a single open tube. This fact led Medlin et al. (1993) and Medlin & Kaczmarska (2004) to suggest that the central strutted process could be homologous with the bilabiate process of the Lithodesmiales. Kaczmarska et al. (2006) have suggested further that the external tubes of the marginal strutted processes could be formed by a fragmentation, then encircling and fusing of the marginal fringe in the Lithodesmiales to form hollow tubes above the pore structure of the fultoportula. Two different types of strutted processes are known in the Thalassiosirales (Kaczmarska et al. 2006), but they could all be derived in this fashion. Thus, from this scenario, perhaps the central strutted process is evolutionarily distinct from the marginal ones. One of us (D.G.M.), however, doubts that fultoportulae and rimoportulae show such high levels of homoplasy.

Another possibility is that the central fultoportula and the central rimoportula of bipolar centrics are both derived from the central structure consisting of a simple tube as seen in Archepyrgus of Gersonde & Harwood's group 4 of the fossil diatoms. The fact that cytoplasmic threads anchor the nucleus to either the central rimoportula (= labiate processes) in the bipolar centrics (Schmid 1994) or to the central strutted process of the thalassiosiroid lineages (Schmid 1984) may indicate that these structures have functional features in common, despite their different morphology, and may indicate that they have evolved from the same ancestral structure, or perhaps only the position in the cell is necessary, or the orientation, and the type of structure is irrelevant (see discussion in Medlin and Kaczmarska 2004). A new genus of living diatoms, Mediopyxis, has been discovered that has a variable central process: either a tube with a simple tube process, a microlabiate or a bilabiate process (Kuhn et al. 2006). Not all types of processes are found on a single valve and this may provide support for the theory that the microlabiate evolved from a central tube.

It was in the late Eocene or Oligocene (c. 40 Ma) that the fultoportula (strutted process) evolved (Gombos & Ciesielski 1983; Monjanel 1987; Desikachary & Sreelatha 1989), and hence this is the minimum age for the Thalassiosirales. Strel'nikova (1990) gave the age of the Thalassiosirales as late Oligocene, when this order achieved 1.5% of the total population in marine floras. However, a molecular clock calculation placed the origin of the entire Thalassiosirales lineage much earlier, at approximately 125 Ma (Medlin *et al.* 1996b). This estimated date is the divergence of the Thalassiosirales from the Lithodesmiales. This date greatly predates the first appearance of the fultoportula in the fossil record at 40 Ma, suggesting that this feature did not evolve in the earliest members of the Thalassiosiralean lineage; rather, it may be a feature that defines the major diversification of the order.

In a molecular analysis of all extant genera of Thalassiosirales (Kaczmarska et al. 2006; Fig. 74), Porosira E. Jørgensen and Lauderia Cleve root the lineage. Significantly, of these genera, Lauderia has occluded processes, which structurally would be the most likely candidate as the immediate predecessor of the fultoportula itself (Syvertsen & Hasle 1982). The genus Thalassiosira occurs in three separate molecular clades. Some species of Thalassiosira may be closer relatives of Stephanodiscus, whereas others are more closely related to some species presently assigned to the genus Cyclotella than they are to other species of Thalassiosira. Cyclotella and Stephanodiscus are in separate clades, which would imply that the Thalassiosirales invaded freshwater at least twice. The branching order of the molecular tree agrees quite well with first appearances in the fossil record. Stephanodiscus first appears in the Pliocene (5 Ma), whereas Cyclotella first appears (in freshwater) earlier in the Miocene (24 Ma) (Bradbury & Krebs 1995). Both of these radiations into freshwater postdate the radiation of the pennates into freshwater (see section 4).

Fultoportulae enable cells to link by means of chitin threads, allowing the formation of chains of cells that can occupy open-water habitats, though some Thalassiosirales occupy loose communities associated with surfaces ('periphyton'). The first Thalassiosirales were probably marine, as indicated by the fossil record; later, in the early to middle Miocene (*c*. 22–15 Ma), freshwater habitats were colonized, in lakes and rivers, when *Thalassiosira* itself was largely replaced by other genera, e.g. *Cyclotella, Cyclostephanos, Mesodictyon* Theriot & Bradbury and *Stephanodiscus*.

5.5. Evolution of the raphe

Another key event in Cenozoic evolution was the appearance of diatoms with a raphe system, the first certainly known being found at Palaeocene sites in Russia. Witt (1886) described and illustrated two raphid diatoms he referred to *Navicula praetexta* Ehrenberg and *Navicula hennedyi* W. Smith, from Archangelsk in Simbirsk, and Pantocsek (1889) described *Navicula simbirskiana* from Ananino, Ulyanovsk Province (the dating of these sites is discussed by Ross & Sims 1985). The two species recorded by Witt are now classified in *Lyrella* Karayeva, which is not a basal lineage within the raphid diatoms, either in 18S rDNA or *rbcL* analyses (Behnke *et al.* 2004; Jones *et al.* 2005). Therefore, if the molecular data are correct, the fossil record must significantly underestimate the age of the raphid group, making a Cretaceous origin not impossible and pushing back the origin of the whole pennate group.

The evolution of the raphe system allowed diatoms to establish themselves in a wide range of new benthic habitats, particularly mobile sediments. It would not be too extravagant to equate this in importance with the evolution of flight in birds. Some nonraphid diatoms are motile, such as the centrics *Actinocyclus* and *Odontella*, the pseudopennates *Ardissonea* and *Toxarium* (for references, see Kooistra *et al.* 2003b), and the true araphid pennate *Licmophora* (Sato & Medlin 2006), but none of these can match the raphid diatoms for speed, manoeuvrability, or economy of movement (for data, see Edgar & Pickett-Heaps 1984).

There are two basic types of raphe system, distinguished by the relationship between the raphe slits and the sternum (Mann 1984). In the typical raphid diatom, the raphe slits are integrated within the pattern-centre, so that the raphe system appears to bear transapical ribs and striae on either side, just like the sternum of araphid pennate diatoms. As might be expected, therefore, during valve formation, the raphe system is formed first, followed by the transapical elements. However, there is an ontogenetic peculiarity that seems to have phylogenetic significance: one side of the raphe slits (the primary side) is formed first, as a single longitudinal rib. Then the other (secondary) side is formed by the outgrowth of secondary ribs from the centre and poles simultaneously, the last part of the pattern centre to be completed being two points, each approximately halfway from centre to pole (Chiappino & Volcani 1977; Mann 1984); a particularly good ontogenetic sequence is illustrated by Mayama & Kobayasi (1989). The only traces of the asymmetrical development of the valve visible in the completed valve are slight irregularities in the stria pattern (the Voigt discontinuities: Mann 1981) marking the points of fusion between the secondary ribs; however, these are often correlated with other asymmetries, such as the direction of curvature of the central and polar raphe endings. The composite pattern centre in this first type of raphe system is referred to as a 'raphe-sternum'.

The other type of raphe system is restricted to a few genera, of which the largest and best known is Eunotia. Here, there is an identifiable sternum like that in araphid pennate diatoms, clearly separate from the raphe slits and bearing ribs on either side. The raphe slits are short and placed to one side of the sternum, being in contact with it only near the poles; they interrupt the striae and ribs subtended by the sternum and often subtend striae and ribs of their own, which sometimes have a different spacing to those subtended by the sternum (e.g. Round et al. 1990). Micrographs published by Mayama & Kuriyama (2002) show clearly that the lateral position of the raphe, relative to the sternum, reflects its ontogeny: the sternum is complete in Eunotia, with striae on both sides, before the raphe is formed. This type of raphe system, unlike the other, more fully integrated 'raphe-sternum' type of raphe system, is usually accompanied by rimoportulae.

The lesser integration of the sternum and raphe in *Eunotia* has been taken by some (e.g. Mann 1984) to signal that the eunotioid raphe system is primitive. Others (e.g. Kociolek 2000) have questioned this and regard the eunotioid raphe as

possibly reduced and modified. Two key questions are: (1) whether Eunotia and its allies are basal within the raphid group; and if they are not, (2) how is it possible that the Eunotiales, alone among known extant or fossil diatoms, possess rimoportulae, which otherwise are restricted to centric and araphid pennate diatoms. Most analyses (of 18S rDNA) do show Eunotia as basal within the raphid diatoms (Fig. 2, Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004) or show no strong support for any other group as basal. Species of Eunotia are first recorded in the late Eocene, occurring in marine sediments at Oamaru, New Zealand (Grove & Sturt 1886; Schrader 1969; Desikachary & Sreelatha 1989) and on the Falkland Plateau (Gombos 1976). As yet there are no confirmed reports of extant marine species either of Eunotia or of any marine Eunotiales; but no fossil Eunotia occur in freshwaters until after the Eocene. Furthermore, the araphid Tubulariella tabellarioides (Schrader) Silva, also from Oamaru, bears a striking resemblance to members of the entirely freshwater genus Tabellaria. It has sometimes been suggested, therefore, that some of the Oamaru diatoms have been washed in from freshwater habitats, or that the Oamaru 'Eunotia' do not belong to the genus, any resemblance reflecting convergent evolution. However, Novitski & Kociolek (2005) make a convincing case that two species in the Eocene Oamaru deposits, Eunotia grovei Desikachary & Sreelatha and E. marina Schrader, are indeed Eunotia species, very similar to many extant species, with one rimoportula per valve. They also conclude that these diatoms were most likely autochthonous and hence truly marine.

However, this does not necessarily mean that *Eunotia* and its allies evolved in the sea, nor that the late Eocene *Eunotia* were early members of the Eunotiales, nor that freshwater *Eunotia* also may not have existed in the Eocene. As already noted, the presence of *Lyrella* in Palaeocene deposits implies either that much of the early history of the raphid group has been lost, or that we have not yet searched in the right places to find well-preserved material, and the remarkably 'modern' appearance of the late Eocene freshwater diatom flora described by Lohman & Andrews (1968) (see section 5.3) also lends credence to the idea that the fossil record may often be deceptive for raphid diatoms.

The placement of the eunotioid diatoms in the molecular trees seems to be rather unstable. In Medlin *et al.* (2000), with only one species in the tree, *Eunotia* was the basal divergence of the raphid diatoms. In Medlin and Kaczmarska (2004), with two species, they fell at the base of the naviculoid lineage, together being sister to the nitzschoid lineage. In our present tree with 28 eunotioid species, they are again the basal divergence. Following the evolution of the eunotioid diatoms, there appears to be a divergence of the pennate diatoms into two clades. One contains primarily nitzschioid diatoms and the other, the naviculoid *sensu stricto* diatoms as sister to other naviculoid diatoms (Fig. 2). The separation of the nitzschoid and naviculoid taxa is a basal divergence in nearly all the trees regardless of the placement of the eunotioid diatoms.

The origin of the raphe system has been discussed by Hasle (1974) and in more detail by Mann (1984) and Round *et al.* (1990, p. 41). All equate the raphe slits with modified rimoportulae, and this link is made easy to believe by images of the eunotioid diatom *Peronia* (Round *et al.* 1990, p. 459, fig. n), in which a reduced raphe slit occurs alongside a rimoportula, both looking very much alike. Raphe slits and rimoportula, both looking very much alike.

tulae are both unoccluded, narrow slits through the valve, with a lipped aperture internally (in the rimoportula, the lips surround the whole structure; in the raphe slit they are present at one or both ends of the slit). There also are similarities between the structures during development: the 'labiate process apparatus', underlying the rimoportula during ontogeny, resembles the raphe fibre present beneath the raphe at equivalent stages of valve formation (Pickett-Heaps et al. 1990). If the raphe slits are modified rimoportules, then the lateral asymmetry of the completed raphe system in eunotioid diatoms and the developmental asymmetry of the raphe-sternum in other raphid diatoms suggests that the ancestral raphid diatoms were dorsiventral, with both proto-raphes on the same side of the sternum, as in modern eunotioids. This is not implausible. As an analogy, molecular data (Fig. 2) show that the dorsiventral genus Amphora Ehrenberg ex Kützing is basal to bilaterally symmetrical diatoms such as Entomoneis Ehrenberg, Surirella and Stenopterobia Brébisson ex Van Heurck (Fig. 2).

Another requirement of the hypothesis that the rimoportule is the precursor of the raphe is that there must have been a differentiation of the rimoportules within the cell into two 'populations', one of which remained unaltered in morphology while the other was transformed into raphe slits. This is required because the Eunotiales possess both raphe slits *and* rimoportules. That such differentiation is possible is illustrated by the (quite independent) differentiation of the rimoportules that has occurred in some *Coscinodiscus* species, between macrorimoportulae and microrimoportulae (e.g. Round *et al.* 1990, p. 176).

In our current molecular phylogeny, the closest relative to the raphid diatoms found is *Rhabdonema*. In Kooistra *et al.* (2003a), *Striatella* lies at the base of the raphid diatoms. Unfortunately, this takes us no closer to understanding how raphid diatoms evolved. Both genera, as well as several other araphid pennates (e.g. *Grammatophora*), have a pore field (through which a mucilage stalk is secreted) and either a single, large central rimoportula at each pole (*Striatella*) or multiple rimoportulae along the sides of the sternum (*Rhabdonema*). No features of the sternum, rimoportules, striae or areolae suggest any link to either eunotioid or 'normal' raphid diatoms.

5.6. Diversification of raphid diatoms

By the late Eocene, e.g. in the Oamaru deposit, the number of raphid genera present is considerable (Schrader 1969; Desikachary & Sreelatha 1989; Edwards 1991) and most of the major lineages of raphid diatoms present today are represented. There has been considerable diversification in raphe morphology and structure (e.g. Round et al. 1990). One of the principal innovations has been to link the two sides of the raphe sternum by a series of silica bridges ('fibulae'), thus removing a structural weakness introduced by the raphe, which usually is compensated for in nonfibulate diatoms by extra thickening of the valve at the centre (the so-called 'central nodule') between the two slits. Almost by definition, the possession of fibulae must be an 'advanced' characteristic, postdating the evolution of the raphe itself. However, in molecular trees (Fig. 2), one of the principal groups of fibulate diatoms, the Bacillariaceae, often appears as one of the first lineages to diverge and Nitzschia species are already present in the late Eocene Oamaru deposits. In fact, fibulae have evolved at least twice, judging by molecular phylogenies, once in the ancestors of the Bacillariaceae/Bacillariales (*Bacillaria* J.F. Gmelin, *Pseudo-nitzschia* H. Peragallo *in* H. Peragallo & Peragallo, *Nitzschia, Cylindrotheca* Rabenhorst and related genera) near the base of the raphid diatom tree, and once in the ancestors of *Entomoneis* and the Surirellaceae/ Surirellales, one of the last divergences in the rRNA tree (Fig. 2).

The presence of fibulae in turn has allowed two further developments: (1) in many of the Bacillariaceae, including Bacillaria itself, the two raphe slits have merged into one (see Mann 1984), presumably allowing maximal displacement of the cell per unit of trail material used (for the current model of diatom locomotion, see Edgar & Pickett-Heaps 1984); and (2) in the Surirellaceae, the raphe has been extended around the whole circumference of the valve (Pickett-Heaps et al. 1990; Round et al. 1990; Mann 2000), so that whatever the orientation of the cell, at least one raphe slit will be in contact with the substratum. The Surirellaceae are noteworthy by their absence from the Eocene Oamaru sediments, despite the fact that many genera and life forms are present that today would be found growing alongside Surirella and Campylodiscus in shallow marine sediments. Surirellaceae do not appear until the middle Miocene (Reinhold 1937; Hajós 1968, 1986) and this lineage is one of the last major groups to diverge in the rRNA tree (Fig. 2). Today they generally occupy an epipelic niche (Round et al. 1990) and occur in waters of all salinities.

The evolutionary significance of other aspects of raphe morphology generally is unclear. Among the raphid diatoms as a whole, there is considerable variation in the course of the raphe slits and especially in the course of the raphe endings at the centre and poles, both internally and externally. On the other hand, among members of a single species, apparently minor details of raphe morphology are usually highly constant, suggesting that they are under strong selection (e.g. Mann et al. 2004). Hence, variation in raphe morphology must 'mean something'. Presumably, because motility is mediated by trail material secreted through and moved along the raphe slits, there must be a relationship between, on the one hand, the shape of the raphe and its endings and, on the other, the orientation and re-orientation of movement that can occur. However, this aspect of diatom motility has thus far been given little attention, and studies on planar substrata, such as glass slides (e.g. Edgar & Pickett-Heaps 1984, figs 6-9; Round et al. 1990, fig. 70), may give a poor picture of how diatoms manoeuvre in nature in sedimentary environments (illustrated well by Paterson 1986). New insights into diatom motility and the structure of the mucilage layer are being gained by atomic force microscopy (Chiovitti et al. 2003; Higgins et al. 2003) and may throw light on how details of frustule morphology affect diatom movement.

Raphid diatoms have colonized some habitats in which their motility is of reduced importance. The most striking examples are the planktonic members of the Bacillariaceae, many of which have adopted a colonial growth-form and are either nonmotile (*Fragilariopsis* Hustedt) or only transiently motile (*Pseudo-nitzschia*) in their natural habitat. These planktonic Bacillariaceae have simpler raphes than their benthic counterparts, notably in the absence of terminal fissures, which suggests that terminal fissures may be essential for directional movement. Adaptation of Bacillariaceae to a pelagic existence occurred by the Miocene (c. 22–5 Ma), with the evolution of *Denticulopsis* Simonsen and *Crucidenticula* Akiba & Yanagisawa, which link in chains by means of their valve faces and raphe: Akiba (1985) and Akiba & Yanagisawa (1986) give further information on these genera, which prefigure (and may be closely related to) *Fragilariopsis* and *Pseudo-nitz-schia*.

There also are many raphid diatoms that, although they can move actively if detached, spend most of their lives attached to solid substrata, in the epiphyton, epilithon or epipsammon, or in chain-like colonies. Reduction of the terminal fissures occurs in some of these also, e.g. in Cocconeis Ehrenberg, Achnanthidium Kützing and Diadesmis Kützing, and these three genera also exhibit facultative or obligate loss of the raphe in one or both valves (Round et al. 1990). A further correlate of an attached existence is modification of cell symmetry, either to a heteropolar 'gomphonemoid' form, or to a laterally asymmetrical 'cymbelloid' or 'amphoroid' form. As Medlin (1991) noted, heteropolarity brings the two valves and their mucilage-secreting pore fields close together at one end of the cell and so it allows clones of cells to build up closely packed rosette-like colonies, attached to the substratum by a common pad or branching stalk. This is also true of the cymbelloid shape. It already was clear from studies of valve ultrastructure that the gomphonemoid and cymbelloid morphologies have evolved many times in raphid diatoms, and also in araphid pennate diatoms (e.g. Round et al. 1990; Medlin 1991), and this has been confirmed by molecular data (e.g. Jones et al. 2005). Similarly, the extreme dorsiventrality of Amphora is paralleled in the unrelated Seminavis D.G. Mann in Round, R.M. Crawford & D.G. Mann, and heterovalvy like that in Cocconeis and Achnanthidium also has evolved a second time in the unrelated marine Achnanthes (Medlin & Kaczmarska 2004).

6. CHANGES IN SEXUAL REPRODUCTION AND CYTOLOGY DURING DIATOM DIVERSIFICATION

Accompanying the evolution of the sternum and raphe, there have been changes in sexual reproduction and chloroplast morphology. The oogamous reproduction of centric diatoms, involving fertilization of large immobile egg cells by small anteriorly uniflagellate sperm, has been replaced in pennates by (1) gametangiogamy (copulation between gametangia) and (2) isogamy or anisogamy involving (3) large nonflagellate gametes (Chepurnov et al. 2004). The evolution of an effective motility mechanism in raphid diatoms might be expected to have consequences for sexual reproduction, because mating could now be facilitated through movement of the vegetative cells (potential gametangia), as well as by the gametes themselves. A change from oogamy in centric diatoms to gametangiogamy in raphid pennates is therefore understandable. What is odd is that this change predated the evolution of the raphe, taking place instead in the araphid pennate diatoms, which (now that Ardissonea and Toxarium have been linked to the centric diatoms), as far as we know, are largely immobile (an exception, recently discovered, is Licmophora [Chepurnov & Mann 2004; Sato & Medlin, 2006]). It seems likely, therefore, that evolution of gametangiogamy must have

taken place in crowded benthic habitats, where the chances of encounter between compatible, sexualized vegetative cells were high and dispersal of gametes was not necessary to ensure outbreeding. It is noteworthy that, in most cases investigated so far, araphid pennate diatoms have well-developed mechanisms to avoid inbreeding, through bipolar heterothallism (Chepurnov & Mann 2004).

There are differences among centric diatoms in the number of egg cells produced per oogonium (e.g. one in Bellerochea Van Heurck, Biddulphia and Chaetoceros; two in Lithodesmium, and Odontella: see von Stosch 1982) and in the method of formation of the sperm (merogenous or hologenous: see Round et al. 1990). There are also differences in whether the egg cells are released before fertilization, as in Bellerochea and Helicotheca Ricard in Sournia (von Stosch 1977, 1982); retained in the oogonium during fertilization but then released, as in Biddulphia, Lithodesmium and Odontella aurita (von Stosch 1982); retained for fertilization and developing (as an auxospore) in situ, as in Stephanopyxis and Amphitetras Ehrenberg (Liebisch 1928; von Stosch & Drebes 1964); or retained during fertilization but then developing laterally, as in Chaetoceros (von Stosch et al. 1973; von Stosch 1982). Undoubtedly, some phylogenetic patterns will become detectable in the distribution of such characteristics and others, such as details of spermatogonial development or the timing of plasmogamy in relation to meiosis (in Chaetoceros, for example, the sperm may enter while the oogonium is in meiotic prophase: von Stosch et al. 1973, whereas elsewhere the egg cell is fully mature at fertilization: see Drebes 1977), However, until many more species and genera are studied, the full significance of variation will remain unclear.

The position is a little better with respect to raphid pennate diatoms, thanks to intensive studies over many years by Geitler (lists of references in Geitler 1973, 1984), who also summarized earlier work (Geitler 1932), and more recently by Mann and others (e.g. see Edlund & Stoermer 1997). The frequency of auxospore formation in pennates may be lower than that in centrics and could help explain the calculated lower rate of evolution in pennates (Kooistra & Medlin 1996). Patterns of gametogenesis and auxospore development have prompted taxonomic revision (e.g. the resurrection of Sellaphora by Mann 1989), and particular types of auxospore formation distinguished by Geitler (1973) can now be seen to characterize major clades, such as 'type IA1a' auxosporulation (physiologically anisogamous, each gametangium producing one active and one passive gamete; the gametes becoming rearranged and rounded off within the gametangia; auxospores expanding parallel to the gametangia; no copulation tubes between the gametangia), which is found in allogamous members of the Cymbellaceae and Gomphonemataceae. These families group together in molecular phylogenies (Fig. 2).

The ways in which auxospores reconstruct shape after the loss of the old gametangial frustules during sexual reproduction are proving to have major phylogenetic significance, as indicated in an earlier section. The coverings of auxospores vary from apparently homogeneous organic walls, through organic walls with embedded scales (two- or three-dimensional), to elaborate systems of silica bands that constrain auxospore expansion, allowing the formation of many kinds of bipolar or multipolar shapes (Mann 1982; von Stosch 1982; Round *et*

al. 1990). The broad picture of evolution is clear. Radial centrics (Clade I) have organic or scale-containing auxospore walls and the auxospores are spherical or ellipsoidal. Members of Clade 2, in contrast, generally produce auxospores containing strips or bands of silica, together called properizonia or perizonia, which allow the formation of elongate or multipolar cells. The exception is the Clade 2 order Thalassiosirales (although these do contain some interesting bi- or tripolar forms in *Cyclotella*, which need ontogenetic study), where the auxospore walls are scaly.

However, beyond these important generalities, the pattern of variation in auxospore coverings is poorly documented and hence can rarely be interpreted in a phylogenetic context. One small exception is the discovery of silicified caps over the ends of the linear auxospores in *Neidium* and *Biremis* D.G. Mann & E.J. Cox *in* Round, R.M. Crawford & D.G. Mann (Mann 1993). This seems to be a synapomorphy and aspects of cell structure (central internal raphe endings, chambered walls, chloroplast morphology) and *rbc*L data (G.E. Simpson & D.G. Mann, unpublished observations) also suggest that these genera closely are related. The function of the caps seems to be to exert tight control on auxospore width during expansion, creating strictly linear auxospores (and hence linear initial cells).

Aspects of protoplast structure also correlate with phylogeny. For example, the Cymbellaceae and Gomphonemataceae, besides sharing a similar pattern of auxosporulation, are also alike in that the nucleus always divides on the same side of the cell (Mann & Stickle 1988). In the Naviculaceae *sensu stricto*, on the other hand, the nucleus oscillates from one side of the cell to the other at successive divisions, except in the bilaterally asymmetrical, amphoroid genus *Seminavis*, where oscillation has probably been lost secondarily. The Naviculaceae is a well-supported monophyletic group (Fig. 2; Jones *et al.* 2005).

Particular plastid and pyrenoid morphologies often characterize genera or larger groupings and have been used to support taxonomic revision (e.g. Cox 1987; Mann 1989, 1996; Schmid 2001). Overall, however, we have disappointingly little idea of the adaptive significance of protoplast characters. Centric and araphid pennate diatoms generally have many chloroplasts per cell (unless the cells are small), whereas raphid pennate diatoms are oligoplastidic, usually with one, two or four chloroplasts (Mann 1996). This probably reflects the fact that many centric and araphid pennate species cannot orientate themselves in relation to changes in incident light and often occupy habitats where the cells are reorientated passively by water movements; hence, the optimal distribution of the chloroplasts probably is to have them spaced evenly around the cell periphery (or around the nucleus). Raphid diatoms, on the other hand, are motile and can move and swivel in response to a perceived light gradient. Here, cells can compensate for any heterogeneity in the distribution of the chloroplasts (such as may be necessary to allow optimal functioning of the raphe system, for example) by adopting a preferred orientation in relation to the prevailing light climate. However, there are many exceptions to the general 'rules' concerning plastid number and size (e.g. many and small in centrics), and many instances within particular well-defined taxa where one or a few species have an aberrant cytology. For example, in Nitzschia longissima (Brébisson ex Kützing) Grunow, there has apparently been secondary evolution of polyplastidy (almost all other *Nitzschia* species have just two chloroplasts per cell), perhaps in response to its planktonic habitat. However, the amazing diversity of chloroplast morphologies among raphid diatoms (Round *et al.* 1990; Cox 1996; Mann 1996) cannot as yet be interpreted. The silica valves and girdle bands must refract and diffract light incident upon the cell, focusing it in certain areas and shading others, but as far as we know, no analysis has been made of the optical properties of particular wall structures and so there is no basis for assessing whether chloroplast morphology is correlated in any way with internal light distribution.

7. SPECIATION AND MICROEVOLUTION

The clear message from recent molecular, morphometric and reproductive compatibility studies is that diatoms are greatly underclassified at the species level (reviewed by Mann 1999b). There can be no a priori expectation that speciation in diatoms (in the sense of essentially permanent cessation of gene exchange between two lineages) will always have been accompanied by significant morphological change, because diatoms do not use visual or geometric clues for mating. And recent data obligingly confirm that, indeed, speciation is not always accompanied by significant morphological change: good examples of semicryptic and cryptic speciation are now available (e.g. Mann 1999b; Lundholm et al. 2003; Montresor et al. 2003; Behnke et al. 2004; Sarno et al. 2005). Data from 'model systems', such as Sellaphora pupula (Kützing) Mereschkowsky (Mann 1999b; Mann et al. 1999; Behnke et al. 2004), the Diploneis smithii-fusca complex (Droop 1994; Droop et al. 2000), Pseudo-nitzschia (e.g. Lundholm et al. 2003; Montresor et al. 2003), and Skeletonema (Gallagher 1982; Medlin et al. 1991; Sarno et al. 2005) show that apparently minor morphological differences may be significant, marking the boundaries between species. Surprising levels of genetic diversity have been demonstrated in a number of planktonic diatoms, both marine and freshwater (Lewis et al. 1997; Mann 1999b; Rynearson & Armbrust 2000, 2004; Evans et al. 2005). In addition, the ease with which hitherto unknown species can be discovered (e.g. Lange-Bertalot et al. 2003) shows how inadequate the conventional taxonomy is, even for Europe, which has been studied intensively for more than 150 years.

Species-level classification in diatoms is therefore a poor and uneven foundation for studies in ecology or biogeography, or even phylogeny, and all such research should as far as possible be validated by voucher samples until such time as diatom taxonomy finally stabilizes. The semicryptic and cryptic species that are beginning to emerge cannot be assumed to have similar ecologies, even when they occur sympatrically - indeed conventional niche theory, backed by classic studies such as MacArthur's warblers (MacArthur 1958), demands that coexisting species must be incomplete competitors and show niche separation. Hence, although it may be difficult to identify them, the semicryptic and cryptic species cannot be ignored if we are to have a meaningful science of diatom ecology. Round (1972) took the trouble to separate two very similar demes of Sellaphora pupula in a study of two small freshwater ponds and showed that they had quite different seasonal patterns of appearance in the epipelon. Furthermore, it is unwise to make sweeping statements about the ubiquity of diatom species (Finlay *et al.* 2002) until we are more confident about true species boundaries. Nevertheless molecular and breeding data are providing vast insights into our knowledge of diatom biology and evolution, and this knowledge is expanding at a rapid rate.

8. CONCLUSIONS

Although we do not have living representatives of many of the fossil genera, the general pattern of molecular evolution of the extant genera agrees reasonably with the fossil record, with very few exceptions. Some sister group relationships are surprising, e.g. the Lithodesmiales and the Thalassiosirales. However, such discoveries prompt new and more detailed structural and cytological investigations to reveal whether the differences are more apparent than real and to understand their basis (Kaczmarska et al. 2006). We still are lacking much detail about the life cycle and protoplast structure in many diatom genera, so that some of the sister relationships recovered in the molecular analyses remain 'bald' cladistic hypotheses, with little biological meaning. Auxospore formation has been the single feature most supportive of the deep branches in the molecular tree and therefore it is not unlikely that more 'minor' details of the reproductive cycle may be phylogenetically informative, but at lower taxonomic levels. Sequence data from common, cosmopolitan 'species' suggest that cryptic and semicryptic species are widespread in the diatoms, supporting earlier indications from mating studies (Mann 1999b). However, it will be extremely difficult or impossible to detect such species among fossil diatoms, because crossing experiments and molecular analyses cannot be performed.

There are still huge gaps in our knowledge of fossil diatoms. Some important fossil localities have been lost (e.g. the Hanover material studied by Forti & Schulz 1932) and new localities containing Jurassic or Lower Cretaceous diatoms are reported sporadically: there are few resources to support an intensive, directed search. Even when information on diatom evolution is available, from fossils or molecular sequence analyses, much of it cannot be fully interpreted because we still lack much basic information on the morphology, cytology and reproduction of living species. An integrated approach is therefore desirable but it is rarely achieved. One of the few examples where a rigorous attempt has been made to combine fossil and morphological data is the study of evolution in some Thalassiosira species by Julius & Tanimura (2001), but in this case no molecular sequence data were available. On the whole, however, it is fossil data that are most often omitted from discussions of diatom evolution, partly because the relevant literature is widely scattered. We hope that one outcome of our review will be to make this literature more accessible and better used.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

P.A.S. would like to thank David Williams and Eileen Cox for helpful discussion and David Williams for the use of his scanning electron micrographs of *Sceptroneis*. L.K.M. would like to thank Prof. Dr K. Sabbe, Dr Bank Beszteri, Ms Katrin Hamann, Ms Ines Jung, and Mr Marco Berzano for access to unpublished sequences. Figs 11–73 are scanning electron micrographs taken of specimens present in the collections at the Natural History Museum, London. Samples have been donated by R. Gersonde and D. Harwood, J. Kitchell, N. Strelnikova, A.L. Brigger and from the Hustedt collection, Bremerhaven. Specimens were selected and prepared by the methods detailed in Hendey & Sims (1984) and examined using a Hitachi S800 field emission microscope. Apart from Figs 58–62, which kindly were provided by D.M. Williams, all micrographs were taken by P.A. Sims.

REFERENCES

- ABBOTT W.H. 1978. Cretaceous diatoms from the Pedee Formation of South Carolina. *Geologic Notes*, Division of Geology, State Development Board, Columbia 22: 105–108.
- AKIBA F. 1985. Middle Miocene to Quaternary diatom biostratigraphy in the Nankai Trough and Japan Trench, and modified Lower Miocene through Quaternary diatom zones for middle-to-high latitudes of the North Pacific. *Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project* 87: 393–481.
- AKIBA F. & YANAGISAWA Y. 1986. Taxonomy, morphology and phylogeny of the Neogene diatom zonal marker species in the middleto-high latitudes of the North Pacific. *Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project* 87: 483–554.
- AKIBA E, HIRAMATSU C. & YANAGISAWA Y. 1993. The Cenozoic diatom genus *Cavitatus* Williams: an emended description and two new biostratigraphically useful species, *C. lanceolatus* and *C. rectus* from Japan. *Bulletin of the National Science Museum, Tokyo. Series C (Geology & Paleontology)* 19: 11–39.
- ALEXOPOULOS C.J., MIMS C.W. & BLACKWELL M. 1996. Introductory mycology, 4th ed, J Wiley, New York. 868 pp.
- AMBWANI K., SAHNI A., KAR R.K. & DUTTA D. 2003. Oldest known nonmarine diatoms (*Aulacoseira*) from the uppermost Cretaceous Deccan Intertrappean Beds and Lameta formation of India. *Revue de Micropaléontolgie* 46: 67–71.
- ANDREWS G.W. 1970. Late Miocene nonmarine diatoms from the Kilgore area, Cherry County, Nebraska. U.S. Geological Survey, Contributions to Paleontology, Professional Paper 683-A: 1–24.
- ANDREWS G.W. 1975. Taxonomy and stratigraphic occurrence of the marine diatom genus *Rhaphoneis*. Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft 53: 193– 227.
- ANDREWS G.W. 1977. Morphology and stratigraphic significance of Delphineis, a new marine diatom genus. Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft 54: 249–260.
- ANDREWS G.W. 1986. Evolutionary trends in the marine diatom genus Delphineis G.W. Andrews. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Diatom Symposium (Ed. by FE. Round), pp. 197–206. Biopress, Bristol and Koeltz Scientific Books, Koenigstein.
- ANDREWS G.W. 1990. Morphology and stratigraphic significance of the marine araphid diatom *Lancineis*, gen. nov. In: *Proceedings of the 10th International Diatom Symposium* (Ed. by H. Simola), pp. 127–137. Koeltz, Koenigstein.
- ANDREWS G.W. & RIVERA P. 1987. Morphology and evolutionary significance of *Adoneis pacifica* gen. and sp. nov. (Fragilariaceae, Bacillariopyta), a marine araphid diatom from Chile. *Diatom Research* 2: 1–14.
- ANDREWS G.W. & STOELZEL V.A. 1982. Morphology and evolutionary significance of *Perissonoë*, a new marine diatom genus. In: *Proceedings of the 7th International Diatom Symposium, Philadelphia* (Ed. by D.G. Mann), pp. 225–240. Koeltz, Koenigstein.
- BARRON J.A. 1985. Diatom biostratigraphy of the CESAR 6 core, Alpha Ridge. Initial Geological Report on CESAR – the Canadian Expedition to study the Alpha Ridge. *Geological Survey of Canada*, *Paper* 84–22: 137–143.

- BARRON J. & BALDAUF J.G. 1989. Tertiary cooling steps and paleoproductivity as reflected by diatoms and biosiliceous sediments. In: *Productivity of the oceans: present and past* (Ed. by W.H. Berger *et al.*), pp. 341–354. Dahlem Workshop Reports. John Wiley, New York.
- BARRON J. & BALDAUF J.G. 1995. Cenozoic marine diatom biostratigraphy and application to paleoclimatology and paleoceanography. In: *Siliceous microfossils (Short Courses in Paleontology*, no. 8) (Ed. by L.E. Babcock & W.I. Ausich), pp. 107–118. The Paleontological Society, Knoxville, Tennessee.
- BARRON J. & MAHOOD A. 1993. Exceptionally well-preserved early Oligocene diatoms from glacial sediments of Prydz Bay, East Antarctica. *Micropaleontology* 39: 29–45.
- BEHNKE A., FRIEDL T., CHEPURNOV V.A. & MANN D.G. 2004. Reproductive compatibility and rDNA sequence analyses in the Sellaphora pupula species complex (Bacillariophyta). Journal of Phycology 40: 193–208.
- BENDA L. 1982. Die Diatomeen des späten Apt in Nordwestdeutschland. *Geologisches Jahrbuch* A 65: 405–411.
- BERGSTRESSER T.J. & KREBS W.N. 1983. Late Cretaceous (Campanian-Maastrichtian) diatoms from the Pierre Shale, Wyoming, Colorado and Kansas. *Journal of Paleontology* 57: 883–891.
- BHATTACHARYA D., MEDLIN L., WAINWRIGHT P.O., ARIZTIA E.V., BI-BEAU C., STICKEL S.K. & SOGIN M.L. 1992. Algae containing chlorophylls a+c are paraphyletic: molecular evolutionary analysis of the Chromophyta. *Evolution* 46: 1808–1817; Errata. *Evolution* 47: 98.
- BILLARD C. 1994. Life cycles. In: *The Haptophyte Algae* (Ed. by J.C. Green & B.S.C. Leadbeater), pp. 167–186. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- BLAZÉ K. 1984. Morphology and taxonomy of *Diplomenora* gen. nov. (Bacillariophyta). *British Phycological Journal* 19: 217–225.
- BRADBURY J.P. & KREBS W.N. 1995. Fossil continental diatoms: paleolimnology, evolution and biochronology. In: *Siliceous microfossils (Short Courses in Paleontology*, no. 8) (Ed. by L.E. Babcock & W.I. Ausich), pp. 119–138. The Paleontological Society, Knoxville, Tennessee.
- CAVALIER-SMITH T. 1986. The kingdom Chromista: origin and systematics. *Progress in Phycological Research* 4: 319–358.
- CHACÓN-BACA E., BERALDI-CAMPESI H., CEVALLOS-FERRIZ S.R.S., KNOLL A.H. & GOLUBIC S. 2002. 70 Ma nonmarine diatoms from northern Mexico. *Geology* 30: 279–281.
- CHAMBERS P.M. 1996. Late Cretaceous and Palaeocene marine diatom floras. PhD thesis. University College London. 498 pp.
- CHEPURNOV V.A. & MANN D.G. 2004. Auxosporulation of *Licmophora communis* (Bacillariophyta) and a review of mating systems and sexual reproduction in araphid pennate diatoms. *Phycological Research* 52: 1–12.
- CHEPURNOV V.A. & ROSHCHIN A.M. 1995. Inbreeding influence on sexual reproduction of *Achnanthes longipes* Ag (Bacillariophyta). *Diatom Research* 10: 21–29.
- CHEPURNOV V.A., MANN D.G., VYVERMAN W., SABBE K. & DANIELIDIS D.B. 2002. Sexual reproduction, mating system and protoplast dynamics of *Seminavis* (Bacillariophyceae). *Journal of Phycology* 38: 1004–1019.
- CHEPURNOV V.A., MANN D.G., SABBE K. & VYVERMAN W. 2004. Experimental studies on sexual reproduction in diatoms. *International Review of Cytology* 237: 91–154.
- CHIAPPINO M.L. & VOLCANI B.E. 1977. Studies on the biochemistry and fine structure of silica shell formation in diatoms. VII. Sequential cell wall development in the pennate *Navicula pelliculosa*. *Protoplasma* 93: 205–221.
- CHIOVITTI A, HIGGINS M.J., HARPER R.E., WETHERBEE R. & BACIC A. 2003. The complex polysaccharides of the raphid diatom *Pinnularia* viridis (Bacillariophyceae). Journal of Phycology 39: 543–560.
- CHRISTENSEN T. 1989. The Chromophyta, past and present. In: *The chromophyte algae: problems and perspectives* (Ed. by J.C. Green, B.S.C. Leadbeater & W.L. Diver), pp. 1–12. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Cox E.J. 1987. Placoneis Mereschkowsky: the re-evaluation of a di-

atom genus originally characterized by its chloroplast type. *Diatom Research* 2: 145–157.

- Cox E.J. 1996. *Identification of freshwater diatoms from live material*. Chapman & Hall, London. 158 pp.
- CRAWFORD R.M. 1981. Some considerations of size reduction in diatom cell walls. In: Proceedings of the 6th Symposium on Recent and Fossil Diatoms (Ed. by R. Ross), pp. 253–265. O. Koeltz, Koenigstein.
- CRAWFORD R.M. & HINZ F. 1995. The spines of the centric diatom Corethron criophilum: light microscopy of vegetative cell division. European Journal of Phycology 30: 95–105.
- CRAWFORD R.M & SIMS P.A. 2006. The diatoms *Radialiplicata sol* (Ehrenb.) Gleser and *R. clavigera* (Grun.) Gleser and their transfer to *Ellerbeckia*, thus a genus with freshwater and marine representatives. *Nova Hedwigia*: in press.
- CRAWFORD R.M., GARDNER C. & MEDLIN L.K. 1994. The genus Attheya I. A description of four new taxa, and the transfer of Gonioceros septentrionalis and G. armatus. Diatom Research 9: 27–51.
- CRONBERG G. 2005. The life cycle of *Gonyostomum semen* (Raphidophyceae). *Phycologia* 44: 285–293.
- DARLEY W.M. & VOLCANI B.E. 1969. Role of silicon in diatom metabolism. A silicon requirement of deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis in the diatom *Cylindrotheca fusiformis* Reim and Lew. *Experimental Cell Research* 58: 334–342.
- DEFLANDRE G. 1941. Sur la présence de Diatomées dans certains silex creux Turoniens et sur un nouveau mode de fossilisation de ces organismes. *Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences de Paris* 213: 878–880.
- DELL'AGNESE D.J. & CLARK D.L. 1994. Siliceous microfossils from the warm Late Cretaceous and Early Cenozoic Arctic Ocean. *Journal of Paleontology* 68: 31–47.
- DESIKACHARY T.V. & SREELATHA P.M. 1989. Oamaru diatoms. *Biblio-theca Diatomologica* 19: 1–330.
- DICK M.W. 1990. Phylum Oomycota. In: *Handbook of Protoctista* (Ed. by L. Margulis, J.O. Corliss, M. Melkonian & D.J. Chapman), pp. 661–685. Jones and Bartlett, Boston.
- DIMICHELE W.A., BEHRENSMEYER A.K., OLSEZEWSHI T.D., LABANDEIRA C.C., PANDOLFI J.M., WING S.L. & BOBE R. 2004. Long-term statis in ecological assemblages: evidence from the fossil record. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 35: 285–322.
- DOUGLAS R.G. & WOODRUFF F. 1981. Deep sea benthic foraminifera. In: *The Sea* (Ed. by C. Emiliane), pp. 1233–1827. John Wiley, New York.
- DREBES G. 1977. Sexuality. In: *The Biology of Diatoms* (Ed. by D. Werner), pp. 250–283. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.
- DROOP S.J.M. 1994. Morphological variation in *Diploneis smithii* and *D fusca* (Bacillariophyceae). *Archiv für Protistenkunde* 144: 249– 270.
- DROOP S.J.M., MANN D.G. & LOKHORST G.M. 2000. Spatial and temporal stability of demes in *Diploneis smithii/D fusca* (Bacillariophyta) supports a narrow species concept. *Phycologia* 39: 527–546.
- DUN W.S., RANDS W.H. & DAVID B.A. 1901. Note on the occurrence of diatoms, radiolaria and infusoria in the Rolling Downs Formation (Lower Cretaceous), Queensland. *Proceedings of the Linnean Society of New South Wales* 26: 299–309.
- DZINORIDZE R.N., JOUSÉ A.P., KOROLEVA-GOLIKOVA G.S., KOZLOVA G.E., NAGAEYA G.S., PETRUSHEVOKAYA M.G. & STREL'NIKOVA N.I. 1976. Diatom and radiolarian Cenozoic stratigraphy, Norwegian Basin: DSDP Leg 38. *Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project* 38: 289–427.
- EDGAR L.A. & PICKETT-HEAPS J.D. 1984. Diatom locomotion. Progress in Phycological Research 3: 47–88.
- EDLUND M.B. & STOERMER E.F. 1997. Ecological, evolutionary and systematic significance of diatom life histories. *Journal of Phycology* 33: 897–918.
- EDWARDS A.R. 1991. The Oamaru diatomite. New Zealand Geological Survey Paleontological Bulletin 64: 1–260.
- EHARA M., INAGAKI Y., WATANABE K.I. & OHAMA T. 2000. Phylogenetic analysis of diatom *cox*I genes and implications of a fluctuating

GC content on mitochondrial genetic code evolution. *Current Genetics* 37: 29–33.

- EVANS K.M., KUHN S.F. & HAYES P.K. 2005. High levels of genetic diversity and low levels of genetic differentiation in North Sea *Pseudo-nitzschia pungens* (Bacillariophyceae) populations. *Journal* of *Phycology* 41: 506–514.
- FENNER J.M. 1985. Late Cretaceous to Oligocene planktic diatoms. In: *Plankton stratigraphy* (Ed. by H.M. Bolli, J.B. Saunders & K. Perch-Nielsen), pp. 713–762. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- FENNER J.M. 1991. Taxonomy, stratigraphy and paleoceanographic implications of Paleocene diatoms. *Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results* 114: 123–154.
- FENNER J.M. 1994. Diatoms of the Fur Formation, their taxonomy and biostratigraphic interpretation – results from the Harre borehole, Denmark. *Aarhus Geoscience* 1: 99–163.
- FINLAY B.J., MONAGHAN E.B. & MABERLY S.C. 2002. Hypothesis: the rate and scale of dispersal of freshwater diatom species is a function of their global abundance. *Protist* 153: 261–273.
- FORTI A. & SCHULZ P. 1932. Erste Mitteilung über Diatomeen aus dem Hannoverschen Gault. *Beihefte zum Botanisches Centralblatt* 50: 241–246.
- FOUCAULT A., SERVANT-VILDARY S., FANG N. & POWICHROWSKI L. 1986. Un des plus anciens gisements de diatomées découvert dans l'Albien-Cénomanien inférieur des Alpes ligures (Italie): remarque sur l'appariation de ces algues. *Comptes Rendus de l'Acadèmie des Sciences de Paris*, Ser. 2: 303(5): 397–402.
- FOURTANIER E. 1991. Paleocene and Eocene diatom biostratigraphy and taxonomy of eastern Indian Ocean site 752. *Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results* 121: 171–187.
- FOX M. & SÖRHANNUS U. 2004. The usefulness of the Rpo mitochondrial gene in assessing diatom evolution. *Journal of Eukarytoic Mi*crobiology 50: 471–475.
- FRAKES L.A. 1986. Mesozoic-Cenozoic climatic history and causes of the glaciation. In: *Mesozoic and Cenozoic Oceans* (Ed. by K.J. Hsu), pp. 33–48. AGU/GSA, Boulder, Colorado.
- FRITSCH F.E. 1935. *Structure and reproduction of the algae*, vol. 1. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- GALE A. 2003. The Cretaceous world. In: *Biotic response to global change: the last 145 million years* (Ed. by S.J. Culver & P.F. Rawson) pp. 4–19. The Natural History Museum, London, and Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- GALLAGHER J.C. 1982. Physiological variation and electrophoretic banding-patterns of genetically different seasonal populations of *Skeletonema costatum* (Bacillariophyceae). *Journal of Phycology* 18: 148–162.
- GEITLER L. 1932. Der Formwechsel der pennaten Diatomeen. Archiv für Protistenkunde 78: 1–226.
- GEITLER L. 1973. Auxosporenbildung und Systematik bei pennaten Diatomeen und die Cytologie von *Cocconeis*-Sippen. *Österreichische Botanische Zeitschrift* 122: 299–321.
- GEITLER L. 1984. Ergänzungen zu älteren Listen der Typen Auxosporenbildung pennaten Diatomeen. *Archiv für Hydrobiologie* 101: 101–104.
- GEORGI K.H. 1976. Mikrofaunistische lithologische Untersuchungen der Hilssandstein Region (Aptian/Albian) in Raum Sabzgitter-Goslar. *Mitteilungen aus dem Geologischen Institut der Technischen Universität, Hannover* 13: 5–112.
- GEROCH S.1978. Lower Cretaceous diatoms in the Polish Carpathians. Rocznik Polskiego Towarzystwa Geologicznego 48: 283–295.
- GERSONDE R. & HARWOOD D.M. 1990. Lower Cretaceous diatoms from ODP Leg 113 site 693 (Weddell Sea) Part 1: vegetative cells. *Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results* 113: 365–402.
- GLESER S.I. 1966. Silicoflagellatophyceae in Flora Plantarum USSR. *Akademiia Nauk SSSR, Institum Botanicum* 7: 1–363.
- GLESER S.I., MAKAROVA I.V., MOISSEEVA A.I. & NIKOLAEV V.A. 1988. Diatomovye vodorosli SSSR, iskopaemye i sovremennye, vol. 2, part 1. Pyxidiculaceae, Thalassiosiropsidaceae, Triceratiaceae, Thalassiosiraceae. "NAUKA", Leningrad. 120 pp.

- GOMBOS A.M. 1976. Paleogene and Neogene diatoms from the Falkland Plateau and Malvinas outer basin: Leg 36, *Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project* 36: 575–687.
- GOMBOS A.M. 1980. The early history of the diatom family Asterolampraceae. *Bacillaria* 3: 227–272.
- GOMBOS A.M. & CIESIELSKI P.F. 1983. Late Eocene to Early Miocene diatoms from the Southwest Atlantic. *Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project* 71: 583–634.
- GRAHAM L.E. & WILCOX L.W. 2000. Algae. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey. 640 pp.
- GROVE E. & STURT G. 1886. On a fossil marine diatomaceous deposit from Oamaru Otago, New Zealand. *Journal of the Quekett Micro*scopical Club ser. 2, 2: 321–330; 3: 7–12, 63–78.
- GUILLOU L., CHRÉTIENNOT-DINET M.-J., MEDLIN L.K., CLAUSTRE H., LOISEAUX-DE GOËR S. & VAULOT D. 1999. Bolidomonas: a new genus with two species belonging to a new algal class, the Bolidophyceae (Heterokonta). Journal of Phycology 35: 368–381.
- HAGA M. 1997. Morphology of vegetative and resting spore valves of *Stephanopyxis nipponica*. *Diatom Research* 12: 217–228.
- HAIG D.W. & BARNBAUM D. 1978. Early Cretaceous microfossils from the type Wallumbilla Formation, Surat Basin, Queensland. Alcheringa 2: 159–178.
- HAJÓS M. 1968. Die Diatomeen der Miozänen Ablagerungen des Matravorlandes. Geologica Hungarica, Series. *Palaeontologica* 37: 1– 40.
- HAJós M. 1986. Stratigraphy of Hungary's Miocene diatomaceous earth deposits. Geologica Hungarica, Series. *Palaeontologica* 49: 1–339.
- HAJÓS M. & STRADNER H. 1975. Late Cretaceous Archaeomonadaceae, Diatomaceae and Silicoflagellatae from the South Pacific Ocean. Deep Sea Drilling Project Leg 29, site 275. *Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project* 29: 913–1109.
- HAMM C.E., MERKEL R., SPRINGER O., JURKOJC P., MAIER C., PRECHTEL K. & SMETACEK V. 2003. Architecture and material properties of diatom shells provide effective mechanical protection. *Nature* 421: 841–843.
- HANCOCK J.M. & KAUFFMAN E.G. 1979. The great transgressions of the Late Cretaceous. *Journal of the Geological Society of London* 136: 175–186.
- HAQ B.U., HARDENBOL J. & VAIL P.R. 1987. Chronology and fluctuating sea levels since the Triassic. *Science* 235: 1156–1166.
- HARPER M.E. 1977. A Lower Cretaceous (Aptian) diatom flora from Australia. *Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft* 54: 411.
- HARWOOD D.M. 1988. Upper Cretaceous and lower Paleocene diatom and silicoflagellate biostratigraphy of Seymour Island, eastern Antarctic Peninsula. *Geological Society of America, Memoir* 169: 55– 129.
- HARWOOD D.M. & GERSONDE R. 1990. Lower Cretaceous diatoms from ODP Leg 113 Site 693 (Weddell Sea). Part 2: resting spores, chrysophycean cysts, an endoskeletal dinoflagellate and notes on the origin of diatoms. *Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results* 113: 403–425.
- HARWOOD D.M. & NIKOLAEV V.A. 1995. Cretaceous diatoms: morphology, taxonomy, biostratigraphy. In: *Siliceous microfossils* (*Short Courses in Paleontology*, no. 8) (Ed. by L.E. Babcock & W.I. Ausich), pp. 81–106. The Paleontological Society, Knoxville, Tennessee.
- HARWOOD D.M., CHANG K.H. & NIKOLAEV V.A. 2004. Late Jurassic to earliest Cretaceous diatoms from Jasong Synthem, Southern Korea: Evidence for a terrestrial origin. *Abstracts, 18th International Diatom Symposium, Miedzyzdroje, Poland* (Ed. by A. Witkowski, T. Radziejewska, B. Wawrzyniak-Wydrowska, G. Daniszewska-Kowalczyk & M. Bąk), p. 81.
- HASLE G.R. 1974. The 'mucilage pore' of pennate diatoms. Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft 45: 167–194.
- HASLE G.R. 1977. Morphology and taxonomy of Actinocyclus normanii f. subsalsa (Bacillariophyceae). Phycologia 16: 321–328.
- HENDEY, N.I. & SIMS, P.A. 1984. Some new or unusual Eocene biddulphioid diatoms, 1. Bacillaria 7: 59–77.
- HIGGINS M.J., SADER J.E., MULVANEY P. & WETHERBEE R. 2003. Prob-

ing the surface of living diatoms with atomic force microscopy: the nanostructure and nanomechanical properties of the mucilage layer. *Journal of Phycology* 39: 722–753.

- HILL D.R.A. & WETHERBEE R. 1986. Proteomonas sulcata gen. et sp. nov. (Cryptophyceae), a cryptomonad with two morphologically distinct and alternating forms. *Phycologia* 25: 521–543.
- HOEF-EMDEN K. & MELKONIAN M. 2003. Revision of the genus Cryptomonas: a combination of molecular phylogeny and morphology provides insights into a long-hidden dimorphism. Protist 154: 359– 397.
- HOLLIS C.J., RODGERS K.A. & PARKER R.J. 1995. Siliceous plankton bloom in the earliest Tertiary of Marlborough, New Zealand. *Geology* 23: 835–838.
- HOLLIS C.J., STRONG C.P ROGERS K.A. & ROGERS K.M. 2003. Paleoenvironmental changes across the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary at Flaxbourne River and Woodside Creek, Eastern Marlborough, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Geology and Geophysics* 46: 177–197.
- HOMANN M. 1991. Die Diatomeen der Fur-Formation (Alttertiär, Limfjord/Dänemark). *Geologisches Jahrbuch*, ser. A, 123: 1–285.
- HUSTEDT F. 1931. Die Kieselalgen Deutschlands, Österreichs und der Schweiz. In: Dr L Rabenhorsts Kryptogamenflora von Deutschland, Österreich und der Schweiz, vol. 7(2:1), pp. 1–176. Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, Leipzig.
- HUSTEDT F. 1932. Die Kieselalgen Deutschlands, Österreichs und der Schweiz. In: Dr L Rabenhorsts Kryptogamenflora von Deutschland, Österreich und der Schweiz, vol. 7(2:2), pp. 177–320. Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft, Leipzig.
- JONES H.M., SIMPSON G.E., STICKLE A.J. & MANN D.G. 2005. Life history and systematics of *Petroneis* (Bacillariophyta), with special reference to British waters. *European Journal of Phycology* 40: 43– 71.
- JOUSÉ A.P. 1978. Diatom biostratigraphy on the generic level. *Micro*paleontology 24: 316–326.
- JULIUS M.L. & TANIMURA Y. 2001. Cladistic analysis of plicated *Thalassiosira* (Bacillariophyceae). *Phycologia* 40: 111–122.
- KACZMARSKA I., EHRMAN J.M. & BATES S.S. 2001. A review of auxospore structure, ontogeny and diatom phylogeny. In: *Proceedings* of the 16th International Diatom Symposium (Ed. by A. Economou-Amilli), pp. 153–168. University of Athens, Greece.
- KACZMARSKA I., BEATON M., BENOIT A.C. & MEDLIN L.K. 2006. Molecular phylogeny of selected members of the order Thalassiosirales (Bacillariophyta) and evolution of the fultoportula. *Journal of Phycology* 42: 121–138.
- KATZ M.E., FINKEL Z.V., GRZEBYK D., KNOLL A.H. & FALKOWSKI P.G. 2005. Evolutionary trajectories and biogeochemical impacts of marine eukaryotic phytoplankton. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 35: 523–556.
- KAWACHI M., INOUYE I., HONDA D., O'KELLY C.J., BAILEY J.C., BI-DIGARE R.R. & ANDERSEN R.A. 2002. The Pinguiophyceae classis nova, a new class of photosynthetic stramenopiles whose members produce large amounts of omega-3 fatty acids. *Phycological Re*search 50: 31–47.
- KEMPER E., BERTRAM H. & DEITERS H. 1975. Zur Biostratigraphie und Palökologie der Schichtenfolge Ober-Apt/Unter-Alb. im Beckenzentrum nördlich und östlich von Hannover. Bericht über das Naturhistorische Gesellschaft zu Hannover 119: 49–85.
- KITCHELL J.A. & CLARK D.L. 1982. Late Cretaceous and Paleogene paleogeography and paleo-circulation. Evidence of North Polar upwelling. *Paleogeography, Paleoclimatology, Paleoecology* 40: 135– 165.
- KITCHELL J.A., CLARK D.L. & GOMBOS A.M. 1986. Biological selectivity of extinction: a link between background and mass extinction. *Palaios* 1: 504–511.
- KOCIOLEK J.P. 2000. Valve ultrastructure of some Eunotiaceae (Bacillariophyceae), with comments on the evolution of the raphe system. *Proceedings of the California Academy of Sciences* 52: 11–21.
- KOOISTRA W.H.C.F. & MEDLIN L.K. 1996. Evolution of the diatoms (Bacillariophyta). IV. A reconstruction of their age from small sub-

unit rRNA coding regions and fossil record. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 6: 391–407.

- KOOISTRA W.H.C.F., DE STEFANO M., MANN D.G. & MEDLIN L.K. 2003a. The phylogeny of the diatoms. *Progress in Molecular and Subcellular Biology* 33: 59–97.
- KOOISTRA W.H.C.F., DE STEFANO M., MANN D.G., SALMA N. & MED-LIN L.K. 2003b. The phylogenetic position of *Toxarium*, a pennatelike lineage within centric diatoms (Bacillariophyceae). *Journal of Phycology* 39: 185–197.
- KOOISTRA W.H.C.F., MANN D.G. & MEDLIN L.K. 2003c. The phylogeny of the diatoms: a review. In: *Silica in biological systems* (Ed. by W. Müller), pp. 59–97. Elsevier Press, London, UK.
- KOOISTRA W.H.C.F., FORLANI G., STERRENBURG F.A.S. & DE STEFANO M. 2004. Molecular phylogeny and morphology of the marine diatom *Talaroneis posidoniae* gen. et sp nov (Bacillariophyta) advocate the return of the Plagiogrammaceae to the pennate diatoms. *Phycologia* 43: 58–67.
- KÖRNER H. 1970. Morphologie und Taxonomie der Diatomgattung Asterionella. Nova Hedwigia 20: 557–724.
- KOUTSOUKOS E.A.M. & HART M.B. 1990. Diatoms and radiolaria from the mid-Cretaceous successions of the Serpipe Basin, northeastern Brazil: palaeoceanographic assessment. *Journal of Micropaleontol*ogy 9: 45–64.
- KREBS W.N. 1994. The biochronology of freshwater planktonic diatom communities in western North America. *Memoirs of the California Academy of Sciences* 17: 485–499.
- KRÖGER N. & SUMPER M. 1998. Diatom cell wall proteins and the cell biology of silica biomineralisation. *Protist* 149: 213–219.
- KÜHN S.F., KLEIN G., HALLIGER H., HARGRAVES P.E. & MEDLIN L.K. 2006. A new diatom, *Mediopyxis helysia* gen. nov. and sp. nov. (Mediophyceae) from the North Sea and the Gulf of Maine as determined from morphological and phylogenetic characteristics. *Nova Hedwigia*, Beiheft: in press.
- KWIECIMSKA B. 2000. How the diatoms were found in the Proterozoic marbles at Przeworno. In: *The origin and early evolution of diatoms: fossil, molecular and biogeographical approaches* (Ed. by A. Witkowski & J. Sieminska), pp. 281–289. W. Szafer Institute of Botany, Polish Academy of Sciences, Cracow, Poland.
- LANGE-BERTALOT H., CAVACINI P., TAGLIAVENTI N. & ALFINITO S. 2003. Diatoms of Sardinia. Rare and 76 new species in rock pools and other ephemeral waters. In: *Iconographia Diatomologica*, vol. 12. *Biogeography-Ecology-Taxonomy* (Ed. by H. Lange-Bertalot), pp. 3–438. Gantner, Ruggell, Liechtenstein.
- LEE J.J. & CORREIA M. 2005. Endosymbiotic diatoms from previously unsampled habitats. *Symbiosis* 38: 251–260.
- LEIPE D.D., WAINWRIGHT P.O., GUNDERSON J.H., PORTER D., PATERSON D., VALOIS F., HIMMERICH S. & SOGIN M.L. 1994. The stramenopiles from a molecular perspective: 16S-like rRNA sequences from *Labyrinthuloides minuta* and *Cafeteria roenbergensis*. *Phycologia* 33: 369–37.
- LEONARD B.F. & MARVIN R.F. 1982. Temporal evolution of the Thunder Mountain Caldera and related features, central Idaho. In: *Cenozoic Geology of Idaho* (Ed. by W. Bonnichsen & R.M. Breckenridge), pp. 23–42. Geological Bulletin 26, Idaho Bureau of Mines, Idaho.
- LEWIS W.M. 1984. The diatom sex clock and its evolutionary significance. *American Naturalist* 123: 73–80.
- LEWIS R.J., JENSEN S.I., DENICOLA D.M., MILLER V.I., HOAGLAND K.D. & ERNST S.G. 1997. Genetic variation in the diatom *Fragilaria capucina* (Fragilariaceae) along a latitudinal gradient across North America. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 204: 99–108.
- LIEBISCH W. 1928. *Amphitetras antediluvianum* Ehrb, sowie einige Beiträge zum Bau und zur Entwicklung der Diatomeenzelle. *Zeitschift für Botanik* 20: 225–271.
- LOHMAN K.E. & ANDREWS G.W. 1968. Late Eocene nonmarine diatoms from the Beaver Divide area, Fremont County, Wyoming. Contributions to Paleontology. US Geological Survey Professional Paper 593-E: 1–26.
- LONG J.A., FUGE D.P. & SMITH J. 1946. Diatoms of the Moreno Shale. Journal of Paleontology 20: 89–118.

- LUND J.W.G. 1966. The importance of turbulence in the periodicity of certain freshwater species of the genus *Melosira*. *Botanicheskii Zhurnal* 51: 176–187.
- LUNDHOLM N., MOESTRUP Ø., HASLE G.R. & HOEF-EMDEN K. 2003. A study of the *Pseudo-nitzschia pseudodelicatissima/cuspidata* complex (Bacillariophyceae): what is *P. pseudodelicatissima? Journal* of *Phycology* 39: 797–813.
- LUPKINA Y.G. & DOLMATOVA L.M. 1975. The Paleogene lagoonal diatom flora of Kamchatka. *Paleontologicheskii Zhurnal* 1: 120–128.
- MACARTHUR R.H. 1958. Population ecology of some warblers of northeastern coniferous forests. *Ecology* 39: 599–619.
- MACLEOD K.G. & HUBER B.T. 1996. Reorganization of deep ocean circulation accompanying a Late Cretaceous extinction event. *Nature* 380: 422–425.
- MACLEOD N., ORTIZ N., FEFFERMAN N., CLYDE N., SCHULTER C. & MACLEAN J. 2003. Phenotypic response of foraminifera to episodes of global environmental change. In: *Biotic response to global change* (Ed. by S.J. Culver & P.F. Rawso), pp. 51–78. Cambridge NHM: Cambridge University Press.
- MANN D.G. 1981. A note on valve formation and homology in the diatom genus *Cymbella*. Annals of Botany 47: 267–269.
- MANN D.G. 1982. Structure, life history and systematics of *Rhoicos-phenia* (Bacillariophyta) II. Auxospore formation and perizonium structure of *Rh. curvata. Journal of Phycology* 18: 264–274.
- MANN D.G. 1984. An ontogenetic approach to diatom systematics. In: *Proceedings of the 7th International Diatom Symposium* (Ed. by D.G. Mann), pp. 113–144. O. Koeltz, Koenigstein.
- MANN D.G. 1988. Why didn't Lund see sex in *Asterionella*? A discussion of the diatom life cycle in nature. In: *Algae and the Aquatic Environment* (Ed. by FE. Round), pp. 383–412. Biopress, Bristol.
- MANN D.G. 1989. The diatom genus *Sellaphora*: separation from *Navicula*. *British Phycological Journal* 24: 1–20.
- MANN D.G. 1993. Patterns of sexual reproduction in diatoms. *Hydrobiologia* 269/270: 11–20.
- MANN D.G. 1994. Auxospore formation, reproductive plasticity and cell structure in *Navicula ulvacea* and the resurrection of the genus *Dickieia* (Bacillariophyta). *European Journal of Phycology* 29: 141–157.
- MANN D.G. 1996. Chloroplast morphology, movements and inheritance in diatoms. In: *Cytology, genetics and molecular biology of algae* (Ed. by B.R. Chaudhary & S.B. Agrawal), pp. 249–274. SPB Academic Publishing, Amsterdam.
- MANN D.G. 1999a. Crossing the Rubicon: the effectiveness of the marine/freshwater interface as a barrier to the migration of diatom germplasm. In: *Proceedings of 14th International Diatom Symposium* (Ed. by S. Mayama, M. Idei & I. Koizumi), pp. 1–21. Koeltz Scientific Books, Koenigstein.
- MANN D.G. 1999b. The species concept in diatoms (Phycological Reviews 18). *Phycologia* 38: 437–495.
- MANN D.G. 2000. Auxospore formation and neoteny in *Surirella angusta* (Bacillariophyta) and a modified terminology for cells of Surirellaceae. *Nova Hedwigia* 71: 165–183.
- MANN D.G. & MARCHANT H.J. 1989. The origins of the diatom and its life cycle In: *The Chromophyte algae: problems and perspectives* (Ed. by J.C. Green, B.S.C. Leadbeater & W.L. Diver), pp. 307–323. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- MANN D.G. & STICKLE A.J. 1988. Nuclear movements and frustule symmetry in raphid pennate diatoms. In: *Proceedings of the 9th International Diatom Symposium* (Ed. by FE. Round), pp. 281–289. Biopress, Bristol and Koeltz Scientific Books, Koenigstein.
- MANN D.G., CHEPURNOV V.A. & DROOP S.J.M. 1999. Sexuality, incompatibility, size variation and preferential polyandry in natural populations and clones of *Sellaphora pupula* (Bacillariophyceae). *Journal of Phycology* 35: 152–170.
- MANN D.G., MCDONALD S.M., BAYER M.M., DROOP S.J.M., CHEPUR-NOV V.A., LOKE R.E., CIOBANU A. & DU BUF J.M.H. 2004. Morphometric analysis, ultrastructure and mating data provide evidence for five new species of *Sellaphora* (Bacillariophyceae). *Phycologia* 43: 459–482.
- MANTON I. & STOSCH H.A. VON 1965. Observations on the fine struc-

ture of the male gamete of the marine centric diatom *Lithodesmium* undulatum. Journal of the Royal Microscopical Society 8: 119–134.

- MAYAMA S. & IDEI I. 2004. Valve ontogeny in several naviculoid diatoms and their phylogeny. *Abstracts, 18th International Diatom Symposium, Miedzyzdroje, Poland* (Ed. by A. Witkowski, T. Radziejewska, B. Wawrzyniak-Wydrowska, G. Daniszewska-Kowalczyk & M. Bak), p. 38.
- MAYAMA S. & KOBAYASI H. 1989. Sequential valve development in the monoraphid diatom *Achnanthes minutissima* var *saprophila*. *Di atom Research* 4: 111–117.
- MAYAMA S. & KURIYAMA A. 2002. Diversity of mineral cell coverings and their formation processes: a review focused on the siliceous cell coverings. *Journal of Plant Research* 115: 289–295.
- McQuoid M.R. & Hobson L.A. 1996. Diatom resting stages. *Journal* of *Phycology* 32: 889–902.
- MEDLIN L.K. 1991. Evidence for parallel evolution of frustule shape in two lines of pennate diatoms from the epiphyton. *Diatom Research* 6: 109–124.
- MEDLIN L.K. 2002. Why silica or better yet why not silica? Speculations as to why the diatoms utilize silica. *Diatom Research* 17: 453–459.
- MEDLIN L.K. & KACZMARSKA I. 2004. Evolution of the diatoms: V. Morphological and cytological support for the major clades and a taxonomic revision. *Phycologia* 43: 245–270.
- MEDLIN L.K., KOOISTRA W.H.C.F. & SCHMID A.M.-M. 2000. A review of the evolution of the diatoms – a total approach using molecules, morphology and geology. In: *The origin and early evolution of the diatoms: fossil, molecular and biogeographical approaches* (Ed. by A. Witkowski & J. Siemińska), pp. 13–35. Szafer Institute of Botany, Polish Academy of Science, Cracow, Poland.
- MEDLIN L.K., WILLIAMS D.M. & SIMS P.A. 1993. The evolution of the diatoms (Bacillariophyta) I. Origin of the group and assessment of the monophyly of its major divisions. *European Journal of Phycology* 28: 261–275.
- MEDLIN L.K., ELWOOD H.J., STICKEL S. & SOGIN M.L. 1991. Morphological and genetic variation within the diatom *Skeletonema costatum* (Bacillariophyta) – evidence for a new species, *Skeletonema pseudocostatum. Journal of Phycology* 27: 514–524.
- MEDLIN L.K., GERSONDE R., KOOISTRA W.H.C.F. & WELLBROCK U. 1996a. Evolution of the diatoms (Bacillariophyta) II. Nuclear-encoded small-subunit rRNA sequence comparisons confirm a paraphyletic origin for the centric diatoms. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 13: 67–75.
- MEDLIN L.K., KOOISTRA W.H.C.F., GERSONDE R. & WELLBROCK U. 1996b. Evolution of the diatoms (Bacillariophyta) III. Molecular evidence for the origin of the Thalassiosirales. *Nova Hedwigia* 11: 221–234.
- MEDLIN L.K., KOOISTRA W.H.C.F., GERSONDE R., SIMS P.A. & WELL-BROCK U. 1997a. Is the origin of the diatoms related to the end-Permian mass extinction? *Nova Hedwigia* 65: 1–11.
- MEDLIN L.K., KOOISTRA W.H.C.F., POTTER D., SAUNDERS G.W. & AN-DERSON R.A. 1997b. Phylogenetic relationships of the 'golden algae' (hepatophytes, heterokont chrysophytes) and their plastids. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*, Supplement 11: 187–210.
- MEDLIN L.K., KOOISTRA W.H.C.F., MANN D.G., MUYZER G., CHEPUR-NOV V. & SABBE K. 2004. Evolution of the diatoms: VII. Insight into the Pennates. *Abstracts, 18th International Diatom Symposium, Miedzyzdroje, Poland,* September 2004: 101.
- MILLER K.G., WRIGHT J.D. & FAIRBANKS R.G. 1991. Unlocking the ice house: Oligocene-Miocene oxygen isotopes, eustasy, and margin erosion. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 96: 6829–6848.
- MONJANEL A.-L. 1987. Les diatomées Oligocenès à Holocenès de l'Atlantique nord et de la Mediterranée occidentale. Biostratigraphie et paléocéanographie. Thèse de doctorat, Universite de Bretagne occidentale, Brest.
- MONTRESOR M., ORSINI L., PROCACCINI G., SARNO D. & KOOISTRA W. 2003. Morphology, life cycles and molecular systematics provide new insights in species identity: an example with the diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia delicatissima*. In: *Programme and Book of Abstracts*,

Third European Phycological Congress, Queen's University Belfast, 21–26 July 2003, p. 47.

- MORALES E.A. 2001. Morphological studies in selected fragilarioid diatoms (Bacillariophyceae) from Connecticut waters, USA. *Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia* 151: 39–54.
- MORALES E.A., SIVER P.A. & TRAINOR F.R. 2001. Identification of diatoms during ecological assessments: comparison between light and scanning electron microscopy. *Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia* 151: 29–37.
- MOSHKOVITZ S., EHRLICH A. & SOUDRY D. 1983. Siliceous microfossils of the Upper Cretaceous Mishash Formation, Central Negev, Israel. *Cretaceous Research* 4: 173–194.
- Müller O. 1912. Diatomeenrest aus den Turonschichten der Kreide. Berichte der Deutschen Botanischen Gesellchaft 29: 661–668.
- NIKOLAEV V.A. & HARWOOD D.M. 1997. New process, genus and family of Lower Cretaceous diatoms from Australia. *Diatom Research* 12: 43–53.
- NIKOLAEV V.A. & HARWOOD D.M. 2000. Diversity and system of classification in centric diatoms. In: *The origin and early evolution of the diatoms: fossil, molecular and biogeographical approaches* (Ed. by A. Witkowski & J. Siemimska), pp. 37–53. W. Szafer Institute of Botany, Polish Academy of Sciences, Cracow.
- NIKOLAEV V.A. & HARWOOD D.M. In press. Lower Cretaceous diatoms of Eromanga Basin, Queensland, Australia. *Alcheringa*.
- NIKOLAEV V.A., KOCIOLEK J.P., FOURTANIER E., BARRON J.A. & HAR-WOOD D.M. 2001. Late Cretaceous diatoms (Bacillariophyceae) from the Marca shale member of the Moreno formation, California. *Occasional Papers of the California Academy of Sciences* 152: 1– 119.
- NOVITSKI L. & KOCIOLEK J.P. 2005. Preliminary light and scanning electron microscope observations of marine fossil *Eunotia* species with comments on the evolution of the genus *Eunotia*. *Diatom Research* 20: 137–143.
- PANTOCSEK J. 1889. Beiträge zur Kenntniss der fossilen Bacillarien Ungarns. II Brackwasser Bacillarien. Julíus Platzko, Nagy-Tapolcsány, Hungary.
- PAPPAS J.L. & STOERMER E.F. 2001. Asterionella Hassall (Heterokontophyta, Bacillariophyceae). Taxonomic history and quantitative methods as an aid to valve shape differentiation. *Diatom* 17: 47– 58.
- PATERSON D.M. 1986. The migratory behaviour of diatom assemblages in a laboratory tidal microecosystem examined by low temperature scanning electron microscopy. *Diatom Research* 1: 227–239.
- PATRICK R. 1948. Factors affecting the distribution of diatoms. *Botanical Review* 14: 473–524.
- PATRICK R. & REIMER C.W. 1966. The diatoms of the United States. Vol 1. *Monographs, Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia* 13: 1–688.
- PICKERING K.T. 2003. The Cenozoic world. In: *Biotic responses to global change* (Ed. by S.J. Culver & P.F. Rawson), pp. 20–34. The Natural History Museum, London and Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- PICKETT-HEAPS J.D. 1998a. Cell division and morphogenesis of the centric diatom *Chaetoceros decipiens* (Bacillariophyceae) I. Living cells. *Journal of Phycology* 34: 989–994.
- PICKETT-HEAPS J.D. 1998b. Cell division and morphogenesis of the centric diatom *Chaetoceros decipiens* (Bacillariophyceae) II. Electron microscopy and a new paradigm for tip growth. *Journal of Phycology* 34: 995–1004.
- PICKETT-HEAPS J.D., SCHMID A.-M.M. & EDGAR L.A. 1990. The cell biology of diatom valve formation. *Progress in Phycological Re*search 7: 1–168.
- PORTER D. 1990. Phylum Labyrinthulomycota. In: *Handbook of Protoctista* (Ed. by L. Margulis, J.O. Corliss, M. Melkonian & D.J. Chapman), pp. 389–398. Jones and Bartlett, Boston.
- QUINTERNO P.J., BARRON J.A., BUKRY D.L. & BLOME C.D. 1994. Late Cretaceous microfossils in a single dredge haul from the Tonga Trench: evidence of Late Cretaceous environment at the Louisville Hotspot. In: *Geology and submarine resources of the Tonga-Lau*-

Fiji Region (Ed. by A.J. Stevenson, R.H. Herzer & P.F Balance), pp. 285–291. SOPAC Technical Bulletin 8, Suva, Fiji.

- RAVEN J.A. 1982. The energetics of freshwater algae: energy requirements for biosynthesis and volume regulation. *New Phytologist* 92: 1–20.
- RAVEN J.A. 1983. The transport and function of silicon in plants. Biological Review 58: 179–207.
- RAVEN J.A. & WAITE A.M. 2004. The evolution of silicification in diatoms: inescapable sinking and sinking as escape? *New Phytologist* 162: 45–61.
- REHÁKOVÁ Z. 1980. Süsswasserdiatomeenflora des oberen Miozäns in der Tschechlowakei. Sbornik Geologickyck ved Praha (Journal of Geological Sciences) paleontologie 23: 83–184.
- REINHOLD T. 1937. Fossil diatoms of the Neogene of Java and their zonal distribution. Overgedrukt uit de Verhandelingen van het Geologisch-Mijnbouwkundig Genootschap voor Nederland en Kolonien. Geologische Serie 12: 43–132.
- RIEGRAF W. 1995. Radiolaria, diatoms, cephalopods and stratigraphy of the pelagic Upper Cretaceous Campanian deposits of Westphalia N.W. Germany. *Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Palaontologie, Stuttgart. Abhandlungen* 197: 129–200.
- ROSHCHIN A.M. 1994. Zhiznennye tsikly diatomovykh vodoroslej. Naukova dumka, Kiev.
- Ross R. & SIMS P.A. 1985. Some genera of the Biddulphiaceae (diatoms) with interlocking linking spines. *Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History), Botany series* 13: 277–381.
- Ross R. & SIMS P.A. 1987. Further genera of the Biddulphiaceae (diatoms) with interlocking linking spines. *Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History), Botany series* 16: 269–311.
- ROTHPLETZ A. 1896. Über die Flysch-Fucoiden und einige andere fossile Algen, sowie über liasische diatomeen führende Hornschwämme. Zeitschrift der Deutschen Geologischen Gesellschaft 48: 854– 915.
- ROTHPLETZ A. 1900. Über einen neuen jurassichen Hornschwämme und die darin eingeschlossenen Diatomeen. Zeitschrift der Deutschen Geologischen Gesellschaft 52: 154–160.
- ROUND F.E. 1972. Patterns of seasonal succession of freshwater epipelic algae. *British Phycological Journal* 7: 213–220.
- ROUND F.E. 1981. Some aspects of the origin of diatoms and their subsequent evolution. *Biosystematics* 14: 486–486.
- ROUND F.E. & CRAWFORD R.M. 1981. The lines of evolution of the Bacillariophyta I. Origin. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London* B 211: 237–260.
- ROUND F.E. & CRAWFORD R.M. 1984. The lines of evolution of the Bacillariophyta II. The centric series. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London* B 221: 169–188.
- ROUND F.E. & MANN D.G. 1980. *Psammodiscus* nov. gen. based on *Coscinodiscus nitidus. Annals of Botany* 46: 367–373.
- ROUND F.E. & SIMS P.A. 1981. The distibution of genera in marine and freshwater environments and some evolutionary considerations. In: *Proceedings of the 6th Symposium on Recent and Fossil Diatoms* (Ed. by R. Ross), pp. 301–320. O. Koeltz, Koenigstein.
- ROUND F.E., CRAWFORD R.M. & MANN D.G. 1990. The diatoms. Biology and morphology of the genera. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 747 pp.
- RÜST G. 1885. Beiträge zur Kenntniss der fossilen Radiolarien aus Gesteinen des Jura. *Palaeontographica* 31: 271–321.
- RYNEARSON T.A. & ARMBRUST E.V. 2000. DNA fingerprinting reveals extensive genetic diversity in a field population of the centric diatom *Ditylum brightwellii*. *Limnology and Oceanography* 45: 1329– 1340.
- RYNEARSON T.A. & ARMBRUST E.V. 2004. Genetic differentiation among populations of the planktonic diatom *Ditylum brightwellii* (Bacillariophyceae). *Journal of Phycology* 40: 34–43.
- SARNO D., KOOISTRA W.H.C.F., MEDLIN L.K., PERCOPO I. & ZINGONE A. 2005. Diversity in the genus *Skeletonema* (Bacillariophyceae): II. An assessment of the taxonomy of *S. costatum*–like species, with the description of four new species. *Journal of Phycology* 41: 151– 176

- SATO S. & MEDLIN L.K. 2006. Movement in the araphid diatom *Lic*mophora. *Diatom Research*: in press.
- SCHERER R.P. 1997. Dickensoniaforma: a new diatom genus in the family Rhaphoneidaceae, with two new fossil species from the Norwegian-Greenland Sea. Diatom Research 12: 83–94.
- SCHMID A.-M.M. 1984. Wall morphogenesis in *Thalassiosira eccentrica*: comparison of auxospore formation and the effects of MT-inhibitors. In: *Proceedings of the 7th International Diatom Symposium, Philadelphia 1982* (Ed. by D.G. Mann), pp. 42–70. O. Koeltz, Koenigstein, Germany.
- SCHMID A.-M.M. 1988. The special Golgi-ER-mitochondrium unit in the diatom genus Coscinodiscus. Plant Systematics and Evolution 158: 211–233.
- SCHMID A.-M.M. 1994. Aspects of morphogenesis and function of diatom cell walls with implications for taxonomy. *Protoplasma* 181: 43–60.
- SCHMID A.-M.M. 2001. Value of pyrenoids in the systematics of the diatoms: their morphology and ultrastructure. In: *Proceedings of the* 16th International Diatom Symposium (Ed. by A. Economou-Amilli), pp. 1–31. Amvrosiou Press, Athens.
- SCHRADER H.-J. 1969. Die pennaten Diatomeen aus dem Obereozän von Oamaru, Neuseeland. *Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft* 28:1–124.
- SCHRADER H.-J. & FENNER J. 1976. Norwegian Sea Cenozoic diatom biostratigraphy and taxonomy. Part 1. *Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project* 38: 921–1099.
- SCHRADER H.-J. & GERSONDE R. 1978. The Late Messian Mediterranean brackish to freshwater environment, diatom floral evidence. *Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project* 42: 761–775.
- SIEMIŃSKA J. 1981. Structural details of diatom remnants found in the Przeworno marbles. In: *Proceedings of the 6th Symposium on Recent and Fossil Diatoms* (Ed. by R. Ross), pp. 253–265. O. Koeltz, Koenigstein.
- SIEMIŃSKA J. 2000. The discoveries of diatoms older than the Cretaceous. In: *The origin and early evolution of diatoms: fossil, moleular and biogeographical approaches* (Ed. by Witkowski, A. & J. Sieminska), pp. 55–74W. Szafer Institute of Botany, Polish Academy of Sciences, Cracow, Poland.
- SIEMIŃSKA J. & KWIECIŃSKA B. 2002. *Horstia renatae* gen. et sp. nov., a new diatom from the Przeworno Proterozoic marbles. *Acta Palaeobotanica* 42: 3–6.
- SIMONSEN R. 1972. Ideas for a more natural system of the centric diatoms. Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft 39: 37–54.
- SIMONSEN R. 1979. The diatom system: ideas on phylogeny. *Bacillaria* 2: 9–71.
- SIMS P.A. 1994. *Benetorus, Gladiopsis* and related genera from the Cretaceous. *Diatom Research* 9: 165–187.
- SIMS P.A. 2006. A revision of the genus *Rattrayella* De Toni including a discussion of related genera. *Diatom Research* 21: 125–158.
- SINNINGHE-DAMSTÉ J.S., MUYZER G., ABBAS B., RAMPEN S.W., MASSE G., ALLARD W.G., BELT S.T., ROBERT J.-M., ROWLAND S.J., MOL-DOWAN J.M., BARBANTI S.M., FAGO F.J., DENISEVICH P, DAHL J., TRINDADE L.A.F. & SCHOUTEN S. 2004. The rise of the rhizosolenoid diatoms. *Science* 304: 584–587.
- SKABICHEVSKIJ A.P. 1981. Vselenie diatomovykh vodoroslei v presnye vody. Bjulletin' Moskovskogo obshestva ispytatelei prirodyi, otdel biologii 86: 115–125.
- SMITH A.G., SMITH D.G. & FUNNELL B.M. 1994. Atlas of Mesozoic and Cenozoic coastlines. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 99 pp.
- SÖRHANNUS U., GASSE F., PERASSO R. & BAROIN TOURANCHEAU A. 1995. A preliminary phylogeny of diatoms based on 28s ribosomal RNA sequence data. *Phycologia* 34: 65–73.
- STOSCH H.A. VON 1977. Observations on *Bellerochea* and *Streptotheca*, including descriptions of three new planctonic diatom species. *Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft* 54: 113–166.
- STOSCH H.A. VON 1982. On auxospore envelopes in diatoms. *Bacillaria* 5: 127–156.
- STOSCH H.A. VON & DREBES G. 1964. Entwicklungsgeschichtliche Untersuchungen an zentrischen Diatomeen IV Die Planktondiatomee Stephanopyxis turris – ihre Behandlung und Entwicklungsgeschi-

chte. Helgoländer wissenschaftliche Meeresuntersuchungen 11: 1–48.

- STOSCH H.A. VON, THEIL G. & KOWALLIK K.V. 1973. Entwicklungsgeschichtliche Untersuchungen an zentrischen Diatomeen V. Bau und Lebenszyklus von *Chaetoceros didymum*, mit Beobachtungen über einige andere Arten der Gattung. *Helgoländer wissenschaftliche Meeresuntersuchungen* 25: 384–445.
- STREL'NIKOVA N.I. 1974. Diatomei pozdnego mela (zapadnaya Sibir'). [Diatoms of the late Cretaceous (western Siberia)]. Izdatel'stvo Nauka, Moscow. 202 pp.
- STREL'NIKOVA N.I. 1975. Diatoms of the Cretaceous Period. Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft 53: 311–321.
- STREL'NIKOVA N.I. 1990. Evolution of diatoms during the Cretaceous and Paleogene periods. In: *Proceedings of the 10th International Diatom Symposium* (Ed. by H. Simola), pp. 195–204. Koeltz Scientific Books, Koenigstein.
- STREL'NIKOVA N.I. & LASTIVKA T.V. 1999. The problem of the origin of marine and freshwater diatoms. In: *Proceedings of 14th International Diatom Symposium* (Ed. by S. Mayama, M. Idei & I. Koizumi), pp. 113–123. Koeltz Scientific Books, Koenigstein.
- STREL'NIKOVA N.I. & MARTIROSJAN G.N. 1981. Lower Cretaceous diatom algae from Stauropol. Viestnik LGU, Ser. Biologuja, 3: 52– 57 [In Russian].
- SYVERTSEN E. E. & HASLE, G. R. 1982. The marine planktonic diatom *Lauderia annulata* Cleve, with particular reference to the processes. *Bacillaria* 5:243–256.
- TAKAHASHI O., KIMURA M., ISHII A. & MAYAMA S. 1999. Upper Cretaceous diatoms from central Japan. In: *Proceedings of 14th International Diatom Symposium* (Ed. by S. Mayama, M. Idei & I. Koizumi), pp. 145–155. Koeltz Scientific Books, Koenigstein.
- TAKANO H. 1982. New and rare diatoms from Japanese marine waters. VIII. Neodelphineis pelagica. Bulletin of the Tokai Regional Fisheries Research Laboratory 106: 45–53.
- TAMURA M., SHIMADA S. & HORIGUCHI T. 2005. *Galeidinium rugatum* gen. et sp. nov. (Dinophyceae), a new coccoid dinoflagellate with a diatom endosymbiont. *Journal of Phycology* 41: 658–671.
- TAPIA P.M. 1996. Campanian diatom biostratigraphy and paleoecology of Arctic Canada. M.Sc. Thesis. University of Nebraska. 93 pp.
- TAPIA P.M & HARWOOD D.M. 2002. Upper Cretaceous diatom biostratigraphy of the Artic Archipelago and northern continetal margin, Canada. *Micropaleontology* 48: 303–342.
- TAPPAN H. 1962. Foraminifera from Arctic slopes of Alaska, Part 3. Cretaceous foraminifera. US Geological Survey Professional Paper 236: 91–203.
- TAPPAN H. 1980. *The paleobiology of plant protists*. W.H. Freeman and Company, San Francisco. 1028 pp.
- THERIOT E. 1992. Clusters, species concepts and morphological evolution of diatoms. *Systematic Biology* 41: 141–157.
- VAN DEN HOEK C., MANN D.G. & JAHNS H.M. 1995. Algae. An introduction to phycology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 627 pp.
- VANLANDINGHAM S.L. 1967. Paleoecology and microfloristics of Miocene diatomites from the Otis Basin – Juntura Region of Harney and Malheur Counties, Oregon. Nova Hedwigia, Beiheft 26: 1–77.
- VANLANDINGHAM S.L. 1985. Potential Neogene diagnostic diatoms

from the western Snake River basin, Idaho and Oregon. *Micropaleontology* 31:167–174.

- VIAL P.R. & HARDENBOL J. 1979. Sea level changes during the Tertiary. *Oceanus* 22: 71–79.
- VOLCANI B.E. 1981. Cell wall formation in diatoms: morphogenesis and biochemistry. In: *Silicon and silceous structures in biological* systems (Ed. by T.L. Simpson & B.E. Volcani), pp. 157–200. Springer, New York.
- WALL J.H. 1975. Diatoms and radiolarians from the Cretaceous system of Alberta, a preliminary report. In: *The Cretaceous system in the Western Interior of North America* (Ed. by W.G.E. Caldwell), pp. 391–409. Geological Association of Canada Special Paper 13.
- WIEDLING S. 1948. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der vegetativen Vermehrung der Diatomeen. Botaniska Notiser 1948: 322–354.
- WIESNER H. 1936. Sur la découverte des diatomées et autres microfossiles peu connus dans le Crétacé supérieur de la Bohême. Annales de Protistologie 5: 151–155.
- WILLIAMS D.M. 1985. Morphology, taxonomy and inter-relationships of the ribbed araphid diatoms from the genera *Diatoma* and *Meridion* (Diatomaceae: Bacillariophyta). *Bibliotheca Diatomologica* 8: 1–228.
- WILLIAMS D.M. 1986. Comparative morphology of some species of *Synedra* with a new definition of the genus. *Diatom Research* 1: 131–152.
- WILLIAMS D.M. 1996. Fossil species of the diatom genus *Tetracyclus* (Bacillariophyta, 'ellipticus' species group): morphology, interrelationships and the relevance of ontogeny. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London B 351: 1759–1782.
- WILLIAMS D.M. 2003. The type material of *Tetracyclus japonicus* (Petit) Temp. & H. Perag. and *Tetracyclus eckhardii* Ehrenb. (Bacillariophyceae). *Cryptogamie Algologie* 24: 333–340.
- WILLIAMS D.M. & ROUND F.E. 1986. Revision of the genus Synedra. Diatom Research 1: 319–339.
- WILLIAMS D.M. & ROUND F.E. 1987. Revision of the genus Fragilaria. Diatom Research 2: 267–288.
- WILLIAMS D.M., REID G., FLOWER R. & VOTYAKOVA N.E. 2002. A new fossil species of *Tetracyclus* (Bacillariophyceae) from the Miocene deposit of Tunka Ridge, Lake Baikal, Siberia, Russia. *Diatom Research* 17: 437–443.
- WITT O.N. 1886. Ueber den Polierschiefer von Archangelsk-Kurojedowo im Gouv. Simbirsk. Verhandlungen der Russisch-Kaiserlichen Mineralogischen Gesellschaft zu St Petersburg, series 2, 22: 137–177.
- WOLFE A.P. & EDLUND M.B. 2005. Taxonomy, phylogeny and paleoecology of *Eoseira wilsonii* gen. et sp. nov, a Middle Eocene diatom (Bacillariophydceae: Aulcoseiraceae) from lake sediments at Horse Fly, British Columbia, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences* 42: 243–257.
- YAMAGUCHI M. & IMAI I. 1994. A microfluorometric analysis of nuclear DNA at different stages in the life history of *Chattonella antiqua* and *Chattonella marina* (Raphidophyceae). *Phycologia* 33: 163–170.

Received 10 April 2005; accepted 16 January 2006 Associate editor: T. Horiguchi